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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

FY2021 FY2020 Change
—h—eR —E-TF
HHFE BAEF 28

HKS'milionEE#E 7t  HKSmilionB&H 7T

Revenue EE ) 28,799.8 17,301.2 +66%
EBITDA* RMBRFIE > Bi1E 9,200.3 4,307.3 +114%
P8 R 8 A A
Profit before tax* RRBE A 2 Fl > 8,386.9 3,635.8 +131%
Net profit attributable to VANNGIE= PN 2]
owners of the Company
— Underlying net profit* — E ARG R 6,781.7 2,776.0 +144%
— Reported net profit —BREARF 6,781.7 2,802.9 +142%
Earnings per share BREF
— Based on underlying net profit* — DAL AR AT+ E* HK217.4 cents& 1l HK89.8 centsy# (Il +142%
- Based on reported net profit —ABRE4TFIETE HK217.4 cents3&l HK90.6 centsy& Al +140%
Full-year dividend per share EREERE HK150.0 centsj#1l HK250.0 centsj{Il -40%
— Interim dividend per share — FRRP AR A HK30.0 centsi# 1l HK10.0 cents/& +200%
— Special interim dividend per share  — & &4 51+ ERRZ & = HK190.0 centsi& il N/ATEFA
— Proposed final dividend per share  — &SR R ENR 2 HK120.0 cents& 1l HK35.0 cents;& 1l +243%
- Proposed special final dividend —BE O RIRERE - HK15.0 centsifll  N/ATE A
per share
Net asset value per share BREERE HK$6.107% 7T HK$4.597%8 7T +33%
Net cash FRE 150.0 3,756.1
*Excluding: AEIE
FY2020: Loss on fair value changes of investment properties of HK$0.7 million and gain on —ToTF REYEAFEEHZEEBLTESTRE

disposal of a subsidiary with amount of HK$27.6 million

Non-GAAP financial measures adopted for illustrating the changes and effect resulting from

operation of business activities only
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FINANCIAL
MBRE

Revenue
R

EHEERERBRLAA

HIGHLIGHTS
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHE

Turnover breakdown by products fE [ & £ Z8 5 #f

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

FY2021
—E--EHBEE

FY2020
“ETFMHFE

[ Glass Epoxy Laminates
REPIBHERRAER

Paper Laminates

FRAER ekt

Upstream Materials

[ Investments [ Others

[ Properties
wE A

Pt

BUSINESS REVIEW

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | am delighted to report to
our shareholders that substantial revenue and earnings growth was recorded
in the financial year ended 31 December 2021 for Kingboard Laminates
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Group”).

2021 witnessed strong retail market demands as global economies continued
to be recovered. The surge in demand for consumer electronics drove strong
growth in the laminates market. The explosive growth of new energy vehicles,
coupled with intelligent upgrades of automobile systems, has stimulated
vehicle sales growth. Sales of home appliances grew significantly, benefitting
from increased time spent at home, while also being driven by the introduction
of newer and high-end models. Sales of computers and servers continued to
boom, driven by remote work, online education and web conferencing needs.
The market for downstream electronic products has set off a consumption
boom, and the Group has seized this opportunity to achieve substantial
increase in laminates sales. Supply of laminates and their upstream materials
tightened as a result of demand growth, driving price increases. The Group is
equipped with a comprehensive upstream value chain that boasts high quality
and advanced technology. This value chain enables the Group to integrate
copper foil, glass yarn, glass fabric and epoxy resins into its capability, which
provides strong support for laminates production. With its vertical integration
advantage fully utilised, the profit margin for laminates recorded a significant
increase.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®mE

BUS' N ESS REVIEW (continued)

Monthly revenue and earnings reached consecutive record high levels during
the period under review. The Group’s revenue surged 66% over that of 2020
to HK$28,799.8 million. Net profit attributable to owners of the Company
was also up 142% to HK$6,781.7 million. On the back of a healthy financial
position, the Board has proposed a final dividend of HK120 cents, subject to
shareholders’ approval.

PERFORMANCE

The period under review saw strong market growth and changes. Taking
advantage of this, the Laminates Division expanded its penetration into its
existing clientele, while at the same time making forays into new markets.
It was thus able to increase its market share of high-end and high-value-
added products, including thin laminates, high-frequency, high-speed and
halogen-free laminates. Shipment volume recorded a satisfactory growth.
In the meantime under a demand pull, the Group’s upstream materials,
including copper foil, epoxy resins, glass yarn and glass fabric, experienced
shortages to varying degrees, driving multiple price increases for materials
and subsequently for laminates. Equipped with a vertically integrated value
chain, enabling the Group to be fully self-sufficient in upstream materials, the
Group was able to enjoy the benefits of price increases in both upstream
and downstream products. Coupled with stringent cost control, this enabled
the Group to significantly raise its profit margin. Revenue of the Laminates
Division was up by 71% to HK$27,993.8 million, with earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”) also increasing 128% to
HK$8,833 million.

The Property Division recorded partial recognition of sales of the Huagiao
Kingboard Yu Garden Phases 4 and 5 in eastern China. Segment revenue
amounted to HK$722.9 million, representing a decline of 9%. EBITDA went
down by 9% to HK$336.7 million.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®mE

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group’s financial and liquidity position remained robust. As at 31
December 2021, Group net current assets and current ratio were HK$9,525.2
million (31 December 2020: HK$6,278.5 million) and 1.97 (31 December
2020: 1.54) respectively.

The net working capital cycle decreased to 102 days as at 31 December
2021 from 107 days as at 31 December 2020 on the following key metrics:

- Inventories, in terms of stock turnover days, were 51 days (31
December 2020: 50 days).

- Trade receivables, including amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, in
terms of debtor turnover days, were 83 days (31 December 2020: 97
days).

- Trade and bills payable (excluding bills payable for properties, plant
and equipment), including amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, in
terms of creditor turnover days, were 32 days (31 December 2020:
40 days).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group held net cash (bank balances and
cash net of bank borrowings) of HK$150.0 million (31 December 2020:
HK$3,756.1 million). In 2021, the Group invested approximately HK$1,200
million on new capacity and approximately HK$200 million on its property
business. The Group believes that with an experienced management team,
solid business foundations and a strong financial position, these investments
will deliver stable and satisfactory returns for shareholders in the long
term. The proportion of short-term to long-term bank borrowings stood at
67%:33% (31 December 2020: 80%:20%). The Group has adequate financial
resources to fulfil its requirements for future market developments. The
group’s syndication loan will be expired in 2022 and expect the refinancing
plan will have the positive response from the bankers.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®mE

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

(continued)

The Group continued to adopt a prudent financial management policy. The
Group did not enter into any material derivative financial instruments, nor did
the Group have any material foreign exchange exposure during the Period.
The Group’s revenue, mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars, RMB and
US dollars, was fairly matched with the currency requirements of its operating
expenses.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed a workforce of approximately
9,900 (81 December 2020: 9,500). In addition to offering competitive salary
packages, the Group grants share options and discretionary bonuses to
eligible employees based on the Group’s overall financial achievements
and employees’ individual performance. Kingboard Management Academy
established by the Group has actively nurtured mid-rank and senior
management personnel over the years. Furthermore, the Group recruits and
nurtures promising university graduates from mainland China, Hong Kong
and Taiwan every year. The Group will continue to implement training to retain
talents in a bid to gain fresh energy for long-term development and to drive
the Group’s continued growth.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES CONTRACTS/
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a) The Group provided guarantees with maximum exposure amounting
to approximately HK$215,100,000 (2020: HK$153,374,000) as at
31 December 2021 in respect of bank mortgage loans granted to
purchasers of the Group’s properties. In the opinion of the Directors,
the fair values of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group are
insignificant at initial recognition and the Directors consider that the
possibility of default of the parties involved is remote, accordingly, no
value has been recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts
and at the end of the reporting period as at 31 December 2021 and
2020.

Guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured by
the purchasers of the Group’s properties. Such guarantees will be
released by banks upon delivery of the properties to the purchasers
and completion of the registration of the relevant mortgaged
properties.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®mE

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES CONTRACTS/
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continueq)

(b)

On 3 August 2011, Annuity & Re Life Ltd (the “Petitioner”), the non-
controlling shareholder of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited
(“KBCF”), presented a petition in the Supreme Court of Bermuda
(the “Petition”) in respect of KBCF against its controlling shareholders
based on a complaint that the affairs of KBCF had been and/or
were being conducted in a manner which was oppressive or unfairly
prejudicial to the Petitioner.

The controlling shareholders of KBCF were eventually successful in
defending the case following a favourable judgement by the Bermuda
Court of Appeal dated 24 March 2017. Subsequently, the Petitioner
filed an appeal with the Privy Council. Such appeal was withdrawn
by the Petitioner following a settlement agreement reached by the
Petitioner and the respondents in the Petition.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the controlling
shareholders of KBCF had purchased all of the remaining issued and
outstanding ordinary shares in the capital of KBCF and KBCF has
become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

On 22 October 2018, the Petitioner commenced an action in the
Supreme Court of Bermuda under Civil Jurisdiction 2018: N0.359
against the respondents in the Petition based on purported breach of
the settlement agreement (the “Settlement Action”).

On 22 October 2020, the Group filed in an application for striking out
part of the Petitioner’s claim under the Settlement Action (the “Strike-
Out Application”). The Strike Out Application was unsuccessful and
the substantive proceedings in the Settlement Action are continuing.

The trial of the Settlement Action is estimated to take place over 5
days sometime in quarter three or quarter four 2022 at the earliest.

Based on the advice of the Company’s Bermuda Counsel to date,
the board is of the opinion that the Settlement Action appears to be
intrinsically defective and that the Company should have a more than
reasonable chance to succeed. Accordingly, no provision for liability
has been made in connection with this claim.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®mE

PROSPECTS

The increasing popularity of technologies supporting smart medical care,
production automation and augmented reality has spurred 5G application,
while enterprise software upgrades and the proliferation of cloud applications
will lead to upgrade requirements for related equipment. In the automobile
sector, new energy and smart vehicles will continue to be the trend forward.
A new wave of replacement demand for home appliances is also foreseen.
As a result, the laminates industry will enter a new growth cycle. To cope
with market demand growth, the Group has made advanced plans to expand
its capacity in Shaoguan, Guangdong Province, adding a monthly capacity
of 1.2 million sheets of laminates, which will be fully commissioned by the
end of this year. The Group will also add upstream capacity in Qingyuan,
including monthly capacities of 1,500 tonnes of copper foil and 4,200
tonnes of glass yarn. To add a monthly capacity of 13 million metres of
glass fabric in Shaoguan, in order to further strengthen the Group’s vertical
value chain. In addition, the Group is proactively looking into the feasibility of
adding capacities for laminates and upstream materials in Thailand in order
to better serve its overseas clients. In terms of product quality, the Group
will strengthen the collaboration of marketing, production and research and
development departments in order to speed up the upgrades of thin laminate
and high-frequency, high-speed and halogen-free laminate products. It will
continue to collaborate with clients to expand the accreditation for high-end
products. We have full confidence in the Group’s development in 2022, and
anticipate even stronger advantage to be derived from our vertical set-up.
The Group will continue to win customers’ trust based on its reliable product
quality and delivery. The Group’s management will remain dedicated to
generating strong returns to our shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
sincere gratitude to our shareholders, clients, banks, the management and
employees for their unreserved support to the Group during the past year.

Cheung Kwok Wa
Chairman
Hong Kong, 18 March 2022
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

EERGREEBAEBZERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Wa, aged 58, is an executive Director and the Chairman
of the Company. He is a brother of Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping, both being executive Directors and an uncle of Mr. Cheung Ka
Ho, an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined Kingboard Holdings Limited
(“KHL”") in 1988 and has over 33 years experience in the marketing of a
wide range of industrial products. He is responsible for the overall strategic
planning of the Group and sets the general direction and goals for the Group.
Mr. Cheung was appointed as an executive Director in July 20086.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Keung, aged 69, is an executive Director and the
Managing Director of the Company. He is a brother of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa
and Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, both being executive Directors, and an uncle of
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho, an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined KHL in 1991
and has over 30 years experience in the laminate industry. He is responsible
for the overall implementation of the strategic plans and goals of the Group.
Mr. Cheung was appointed as an executive Director in July 20086.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ping, aged 61, is an executive Director. He is a brother
of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa and Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, and an uncle of Mr.
Cheung Ka Ho, each being an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined KHL in
1988 and has over 33 years experience in marketing. He is mainly responsible
for the Group’s marketing operations and is also the general manager of the
paper laminate factories in Fogang and Shaoguan, the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”). Mr. Cheung is also an executive director of Kingboard
Copper Foil Holdings Limited (“KBCF”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, whose shares were listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (“SGX”) and had been delisted from SGX on 10 June 2019.
Mr. Cheung was appointed as an executive Director in May 20086.

Mr. LAM Ka Po, aged 65, is an executive Director. Mr. Lam is a co-founder
of KHL and has over 33 years experience in the sales and distribution of
laminates. Mr. Lam is also the chairman and executive director of KBCF. He
was appointed as an executive Director in November 2006.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
EEREREBABZER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. CHEUNG Ka Ho, aged 38, is an executive Director. Mr. Cheung is the
nephew of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping, all being executive Directors. Mr. Cheung joined KHL in 2004
and is involved in the laminate marketing operations for the southern region
of China and also the general manager of glass epoxy laminate factory in
Thailand. He was appointed as an executive Director in July 20086.

Mr. ZHOU Pei Feng, aged 53, is an executive Director. He joined KHL in
1999 and is the general manager of four glass epoxy laminate facilities in
Shenzhen, Fogang, Jiangmen and Jiangyin, the PRC. Mr. Zhou holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Mechanical Engineering from the Chongging University
and a Master’s Degree in Material Processing Engineering from Jilin Industrial
University (now known as Jilin University). He was appointed as an executive
Director in November 2006.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LO Ka Leong, aged 48, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Lo is also a
member of the audit committee of the Company. He holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Professional Accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Lo joined KHL in May 1999 and is in charge of KHL's
company secretarial work. Prior to joining KHL, he was an accountant at
an international accounting firm. Mr. Lo was appointed as a non-executive
Director in July 2006.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP, aged 70, joined as an independent
non-executive Director in May 2011. Mr. Ip is also the chairman of the
remuneration committee of the Company, and a member of the audit
committee and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Ip is responsible
for providing independent opinion and judgment to our Board.
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EEREREBABZER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DlRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Ip is currently serving as independent non-executive director of six other
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, namely China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited (stock code: 1313) since August 2008,
Lai Sun Development Company Limited (stock code: 488) since December
2009, Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited (stock code: 590) since
October 2011, Nameson Holdings Limited (stock code: 1982) since April
2018, Million Cities Holdings Limited (stock code: 2892) since June 2018
and C-MER Eye Care Holdings Limited (stock code: 3309) since November
2020. Mr. Ip also served as independent non-executive director of Synergis
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2340) from September 2008 to December
2017. From November 1973 to July 2007, Mr. Ip held various positions in
The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, such
as Commissioner of Insurance, Commissioner for Labour, Secretary for
Economic Services and Secretary for Financial Services and Secretary for
Economic Development and Labour.

Mr. Ip graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree
in social sciences in September 1973, and he subsequently completed
the program for management development at Harvard University Graduate
School of Business Administration in November 1986.

Mr. Ip received the Gold Bauhinia Star award from The Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2001 and he was appointed as
an unofficial Justice of the Peace in July 2007.

Mr. ZHANG Lu Fu, aged 65, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company in January 2015. Mr. Zhang is also a member of the
nomination committee, audit committee and remuneration committee of the
Company. He has had the experience of working for the Chinese government
since 1987 including the Xin Hua News Agency branch network in Hong
Kong (Liaison Office of the Central People’s Government). Since 2000,
Mr. Zhang has worked for a number of Hong Kong listed companies and
charitable organisations on either full-time or part-time basis in the capacity
such as chief representative of Chinese affairs, Chinese affairs consultant,
chief secretary for Chinese affairs and chief executive.
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EEREREBABZER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DlRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Zhang has been the director-general of the Friends of Hong Kong
Association and a member of the 4th Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference since 2008; he has been serving as
the council member of the China Overseas Friendship Association since 2013
and the council member of the Shenzhen Overseas Friendship Association as
well as Guangdong Overseas Friendship Association since 2015. Mr. Zhang
holds a Master degree in Philosophy from the Beijing Normal University and
is a research associate thereat. In 2011, Mr. Zhang was employed by the
Hong Kong Academy of Management and the Hong Kong Financial Services
Institute as a professor on a part-time basis. He has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Sino Biopharmaceutical Limited since
April 2015, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He
also served as an independent non-executive director of CT Environmental
Group Limited up to August 2020, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. KUNG, Peter, aged 59, was appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company on 7 June 2021. Mr. Kung is also the
chairman of the audit committee of the Company, and a member of the
nomination committee and remuneration committee of the Company.
Mr. Kung is a National Committee Member of the 13th Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference (CPPCC). He is currently Vice President
of Guangdong’s Association For Promotion of Cooperation between
Guangdong, Hong Kong & Macao and Guangdong-HK-Macao Bay Area
Entrepreneurs Union. Mr. Kung graduated from the University of Liverpool
in 1984. He is Associate Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales and Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He is also Fellow of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong
and served as its President from 2007 to 2009. Mr. Kung became partner
of KPMG in 1997, Head of China Tax in Hong Kong and Southern China in
2001, Senior Partner of KPMG'’s Shenzhen office in 2006 and Senior Partner
of KPMG’s Southermn China region in 2010. He was Vice Chairman of KPMG
China from 20183 to 2017 and Senior Advisor to KPMG China from 2018 to
2019. Mr. Kung has been serving as an independent non-executive director
of Chongaing Brewery Co. Ltd, an independent non-executive director of
ORIX Asia Limited, and a member of the board and of the audit committee
of eBRAM since 2019, 2020 and 2021, respectively. Mr Kung is appointed
as an independent non-executive director and chairman of A SPAC (HK)
Acquisition Corp. and an independent non-executive director of SmarTone
Telecommunications Holdings Limited in March 2022.
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EEREREBABZER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DlRECTORS (continued)

Mr. HO Kwok Ming, aged 57, was appointed as independent non-executive
director of the Company on 1 January 2022. Mr. Ho is also the chairman
of the nomination committee of the Company, and a member of the audit
committee and remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Ho has more
than 34 years of experience in corporate and commercial banking. Having
worked at Standard Chartered Bank for over 24 years, from 1991 to 1994
and from 2000 to 2021, he last served as Managing Director, Co-Head
of Client Coverage of Corporate, Commercial and Institutional Banking in
Hong Kong from 2020 to 2021. At Standard Chartered Bank, he also held
a number of other senior positions. From 2015 to 2020, he was Managing
Director, Regional Head of Commercial Banking, covering Greater China and
North Asia. He also served on the Regional Executive Committee and was a
member of the management team of Greater China and North Asia. Prior to
that, he was Managing Director, Head of Local Corporates and International
Corporates from 2012 to 2014. Mr. Ho was awarded an Executive MBA from
the Kellogg School of Management at Northwestern University and The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology in 2004. He graduated from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1987 with a bachelor’s degree in
Business Administration.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHANG Guo Qiang, aged 54, joined KHL in 2002 and is the general
manager of the glass fabric factories in Qingyuan and Lianzhou, the PRC. Mr.
Chang graduated from Hunan Chang Sha University with a Bachelor’s Degree
in Textiles. Prior to joining KHL, he had over 15 years’ experience in the glass
fabric industry.

Mr. LAM Ting Hin, aged 34, the Company Secretary, joined the Group in
October 2015. Mr. Lam is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He holds a Bachelor of Business Administration in
Accountancy from City University of Hong Kong. He is responsible for the
company secretarial work and financial management of the Group. He has
over 11 years of work experience primarily on accounting, auditing, finance
and financial reporting, including working at professional advisory firms.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

B FHITESE )

IR AE 57 R-E-—_F—A— B
ZRBRRRENIENITES - AEENABE
NAEZZEQER BERZESRFMES
KB  (EERBBBMFNTEREER
TEH - A=W NL—FE2E—NLNANFR-TT
TEE-T-—F - FRBITRTERER24
F IR _TFET - —FELE -
CREBLRAERTHIESELEBREARE
E o AREITIRITR - BMBETEMAZESR
B BT hFEE-T-TF HAESE
BB HEBTHEE  ABEARPEZLD
- BTN EREEFEESWARNPER
R EEERN—8 c FU 2R FRZF
—ZFE-TNFAE LI K AR]
REBRAREBREE - (IEER T MFE
AL KB REE B REBR R KRER T17T
BMAETHEEREL - FR-NANEFEER
EERNAE  ETIEERETE -

SNREEAE

BERSE  bam ST _FNBEEE
B TR EE R R N 3 3 A A R TR AR A
B BhEENPmEDREBEE  EEAHEE
B2 o MBEEEEER - HR KB AN
TEBFBMISFLER -

MRS - 345%  RAIME - —T—RHF+
ANBAEE - MAELRBEESTHASTE
B WHAERBHEMASEETEAST2L
B  HEBEREASEZ ABIWELER
MBI - HRgRH - Tt - 2R LMBRE

STHELRBENSF  SRNEZHXEEXBAR
IR



o

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are pleased to present their report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 can
be found in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report,
which forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group is exposed to various risks and uncertainties which are specific to
the Group and/or the industries in which the Group operates. These risks may
materially affect the Group’s business operations, financial condition, results
of operations and business prospects. The Group has identified the key risks
and uncertainties as follows:

Operating at close to full capacity

The Group is operating at close to full capacity in its existing glass epoxy
laminates production plants. Accordingly, the Group’s ability to grow its
business is dependent upon it acquiring additional production capacity
through either the expansion of its existing plants or the building or acquisition
of additional plants. There can be no assurance that the Group will be able
to achieve its planned increases in production capacity in the near future or
at all. Failure to achieve this expansion in production capacity would limit the
Group’s ability to remain competitive and to maximise business opportunities
which may in turn have a material adverse effect on the financial condition,
results of operations and business prospects of the Group.
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BUSI N ESS REVI EW (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Future expansion plans require additional funding and management
resources

The Group’s ability to obtain financing for its expansion plan will depend on
its financial condition, as well as on other factors that may be outside the
control of the Group, such as general market conditions and the political and
economic conditions. No assurance can be given that adequate funds will
be obtainable on acceptable terms, or at all. If capital cannot be obtained,
the Group may be forced to curtail its expansion plans, which could result in
an inability to successfully implement its business strategy and may have a
material adverse effect on the financial condition, results of operations and
business prospects of the Group.

Furthermore, the management may face challenges resulting from the
expansion plan of the Group, including but not limited to, upgrading or
expanding existing facilities and training personnel to manage and operate
those facilities. Such challenges could hinder the Group’s expansion plans
which may in turn have a material adverse effect on the financial condition,
results of operations and business prospects of the Group.

Intense competition in the industry

The business segments in which the Group operates are highly competitive.
No assurance can be given that the Group will be able to compete
successfully against its current competitors or emerging companies in
the future. If the Group fails to compete effectively, the Group’s results of
operations, financial condition and business prospects may be materially and
adversely affected.

Recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions

The recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions have
adversely affected economies and businesses around the world. A slowdown
in the global economy, in particular, the PRC economy, and the impact of
COVID-19 could lead to a reduction in demand for the Group’s products and
may materially and adversely affect its business operations, financial condition
and results of operations.

The risks and uncertainties stated above are not meant to be exhaustive.

There may be other risks or uncertainties that are not known to the Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.
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BUSI N ESS REVI EW (continued)

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to achieving environmental sustainability. The Group
endeavours to comply with the relevant laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use
of resources, waste reduction and energy saving. For instance, the in-house
manufacturing facilities of the Group operate in compliance with the relevant
environmental rules and regulations. The Group reviews its environmental
policies on a regular basis.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the ESG Reporting Guide contained in
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, the Company’s Environmental, Social and
Governance Report will be available on our website in due course.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group and its business operations are subject to various laws, rules and
regulations. The Company seeks to ensure adherence to such laws, rules
and regulations through various measures such as internal controls, approval
procedures, staff trainings and oversight of business operations at different
levels of the Group. The Board of Directors (“Board”) also monitors the
Group’s policies and practices on compliance with relevant laws, rules and
regulations on a regular basis.

So far as the Directors and senior management are aware, for the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Group has obtained the approvals, permits,
consents, licences and registrations required for its business and operations,
and there was no material breach of the relevant laws and regulations by our
Group that has a significant impact on the Group.

Key Relationships with Stakeholders

The Company understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with its employees, customers and suppliers in order to operate in a
sustainable manner and to meet its immediate and long-term goals.

The Company strongly believes that employees are its most important
and valuable assets. In order to recognise the performance of and provide
incentives for its employees, the Group reviews its policies on remuneration
and benefits for its employees regularly to ensure that they are in line with
the market standard. To maintain a close relationship with its employees, the
Group organises various activities for its staff to participate.

The Company maintains sound relationships with its customers and suppliers
which enable the Group to foster long-term business benefits. The Directors
and senior management of the Company endeavours to exchange business
ideas and updates of the Group with its customers and suppliers from time to
time. To maintain its competitiveness, the Group aims to deliver high quality
products and services to its customers.

During the year, there was no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its employees, customers or suppliers.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 64.

An interim dividend of HK30.0 cents per share was declared to the
shareholders during the year. The Directors now recommend the payment
of a final dividend of HK120.0 cents per share to the shareholders on the
register of members of the Company on 21 June 2022 and the retention of
the remaining profit in the Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has a dividend policy, the objective of which is to allow
the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst retaining
adequate reserves to sustain the Group’s future growth. The declaration,
form, frequency and amount of dividend paid by the Company must be in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations and subject to the articles of
association of the Company. In deciding whether to declare any dividend,
the Board will take into account a number of factors, including the financial
results, the distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements,
and the current and future development plans of the Company. The Board
will review the dividend policy of the Company as appropriate from time to
time.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the year in the issued share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

During the year, there was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries of their listed securities on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements during the year in the reserves of the Group are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 68 to 70.

In addition to the retained profits of the Company, the share premium
and special reserve of the Company are also available for distribution to
Shareholders provided that the Company will be able to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business immediately following the date on
which any such distribution is proposed to be paid.

As at 31 December 2021, the sum of the retained profits, the share premium
and the special reserve of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$8,102,685,000 (2020: HK$8,253,334,000).

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of Company’s shares.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties were revalued as at 31 December
2021, resulting in no change in fair value (2020: decrease in fair value of
HK$742,000) which has no effect (2020: debited) to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had in aggregate approximately
HK$1,734.6 million (2020: HK$1,625.5 million) investments in securities
instruments, representing approximately 6% (2020: approximately 6%) of
the total asset of the Group as at 31 December 2021, which consist of
mostly shares listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and bonds issued by companies also
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Group acquired such
securities investments through on market purchase. The Group will from time
to time monitor the price movement of prices in securities and may adjust its
investment portfolio as and when appropriate.
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| NVESTM ENTS (continued)

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

The following table sets out the investments held by the Group in respect of
the same issuer which the Group considers to be relatively significant as at 31
December 2021. None of the value of the following (or any other) securities
investments of the Group, on standalone or aggregate basis, reached 5% or

K& @)

TR AEBR —_FE=_—F+=_A=+—H
RE—ZFTABENAEERREHEZENKR
B o HEREHR  AEELAT (ERMEAM)
BHERENEESEBAETAREERRLE

more of the total assets of the Company as of the end of the reporting period. ERS5%E A L
Fair value
asat  %tothe Bond Unrealised
Number of %of Investment 31December  Group’s interestfor  Gain/{loss) gain/
Name of investments bonds held  bonds held cost 2021  total assets the year  on disposal (loss)
HoB=-%
TR fARE
w2 B2 =+-AK BEE  1EBE FERYE/
REtR B8R EAESL  REHA AVE Ajle M8 hEYE (BB
'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Th T#n TR Thn TEn TEn
Bonds lsted on Singapore Exchange Securiies MR ESRAHERAR
Trading Limited (*SGX" by (Eigilsrd:::E
Guangzhou R&F Propertis Co, Lid. BNENERNERAT
(HK stock code: 2777); (RERF L - RIRS: - 2777)
() fixed coupon inerest 5.875% per annum and (| EAEES8ECERRE
maturity date in February 2023 HHeA-E-=5FCf 31,000 5.2% 27,422 94,263 0.3% 14,45 182 (143,159
() fixedt coupon rate of 8.125% per annum and (| EBES810E ETZE
maturiy ate in February 2023 bl o=t 3,000 0.7% 14,824 9,53 0.03% 511 1,329 (5,289)
i fixed coupon rate of 9.125% per annum and (i) AEE50.15E 2 EFEE
maturtty date in July 2022 HHEA-E- "%t A 1,000 0.3% 6,773 3,993 0.01% 846 1,930 (2,780)
(i) fied coupon rate of 12.375% per annum and W) ABEE12375E 2 EEES -
maturtty date in November 2022 b oy e St 2,000 0.6% 10,686 7,263 0.02% 590 - (3423
269,705 115,054 0.36% 16,362 3441 (154651)

In terms of bond investments, the Group retained a certain number of listed
bonds in order to generate stable and fixed interest income. Overall the
Group downsized its bond investments from 2020 as part of the investment
strategy. The Group’s bond portfolio totaled a fair value of approximately
HK$115,054,000 as at 31 December 2021 (and the corresponding total
investment cost was HK$269,705,000). During the year, interest income

from bond investments amounted to approximately HK$37,918,000,

representing a decrease of approximately 70% compared to approximately

HK$125,888,000 in 2020.

Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2777) (“GRFP”) is
principally engaged in the property sector.
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| NVESTM E NTS (continued)

Based on the announcements of GRFP dated 13 November 2017, 4 January
2018, 21 February 2019, 18 January 2019 and 12 November 2020: (i) the
senior notes (“GRFP February 2023 Senior Notes — 5.875%") were issued
by GRFP in November 2017 and January 2018, and due in February 2023.
The GRFP February 2023 Senior Notes — 5.875% are listed on the SGX
and carry an interest of 5.875% per annum and interests are payable semi-
annually. The net proceeds from the GRFP February 2023 Senior Notes —
5.875% were intended to be used to refinance debt and for general corporate
purposes of GRFP; (i) the senior notes (“GRFP February 2023 Senior Notes —
8.125%") were issued by GRFP in February 2019, and due in February 2023.
The GRFP February 2023 Senior Notes — 8.125% are listed on SGX and carry
an interest of 8.125% per annum and interests are payable semi-annually.
The net proceeds from the GRFP February 2023 Senior Notes — 8.125%
were mainly for offshore refinancing; (iii) the senior notes due July 2022 (“GRFP
July 2022 Senior Notes”) were issued by GRFP in January 2019, and due in
July 2022. The GRFP July 2022 Senior Notes are listed on the SGX and carry
an interest of 9.125% per annum and interests are payable semi-annually.
The net proceeds from the GRFP July 2022 Senior Notes were mainly for
offshore refinancing; and (iv) the senior notes due November 2022 (“GRFP
November 2022 Senior Notes”) were issued by GRFP in November 2020,
and due in November 2022. The GRFP November 2022 Senior Notes are
listed on the SGX and carry on interest of 12.375% per annum and interests
are payable semi-annually. The net proceeds from the GRFP November 2022
Senior Notes were mainly for refinancing medium to long-term debt that will
be due within one year.

According to the announcement of unaudited annual result for the year
ended 31 December 2021 of GRFP, the net debt to total equity ratio of GRFP
decreased to 123% at 31 December 2021 from 130% at 31 December 2020.

For further information of the business and financial performance of the
above companies, please refer to the report and announcements referred
in the above paragraphs. Please also refer to the respective publications of
the above companies from time to time for updates on their prospects and
performances. The report and announcements referred above do not form
part of this annual report and do not constitute any publication issued by, or
any opinion, advice or view of, the Company or any of the Directors.

The Group’s Investment Strategy for These Investments

Our investment portfolio is comprised mainly of listed securities of a variety
of blue-chip listed companies and debt securities issued by creditable
listed companies in Hong Kong. Our investment objective is to generate
stable interest and dividend income and create value for the Group and its
shareholders.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Expenditure of HK$1,201,347,000 was incurred during the year primarily to
expand the production capacity of the Group. Details of all the changes in
property, plant and equipment during the year are set out in Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021 are
set out in Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping

Mr. Lam Ka Po

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho

Mr. Zhou Pei Feng

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Lo Ka Leong

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen

Mr. Zhang Lu Fu

Mr. Kung, Peter (appointed on 7 June 2021)

Mr. Ho Kwok Ming (appointed on 1 January 2022)

Mr. Leung Tai Chiu (resigned on 7 June 2021)

Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer (resigned on 1 January 2022)

In accordance with Article 130 of the Company’s articles of association, Mr.
Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, Mr. Lam Ka Po and Mr. Cheung
Ka Ho, being executive Directors, and Mr. Kung, Peter and Mr. Ho Kwok
Ming, being independent non-executive Directors, will retire from directorship
by rotation and will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies”.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company has a service contract which is not terminable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests of the Directors (including the
Managing Director of the Company) and their associates in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and their associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)), as recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

Long position
(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company (“Shares”)

Name of Director Capacity

EEHR EEMtE

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa' Beneficial owner/interest of spouse

SR B EE S A ERBmBEAN Tk

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner

RRFEE EmEAA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner

SR8 S A EmBEAA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner

SREIF SR A EmBEAA

Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner

MRE L4 EmBEAA

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen Beneficial owner

97 EmBEAA

Mr. Kung, Peter Interests held jointly with his spouse
BEKBAEL BB AR R

Note:

1 75,000 shares were held by his spouse.
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350,000 0.0112%
60,000 0.0019%
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continueq)

Long position (continued)
(b) Non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each of Kingboard
Laminates Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

Capacity
FERME

Name of Director

EEHR

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner

SRR L EmEB A
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner
SR8 S A BmlEA A
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner
SREIF e A4 BEmERA
Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner
MRELE EmlEB A

Note:  None of the non-voting deferred shares of Kingboard Laminates Limited is
held by the Group. Such deferred shares carry no rights to receive notice
of or to attend or vote at any general meeting of Kingboard Laminates
Limited and have practically no rights to dividends or to participate in any
distribution on winding up.

(c) Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of Kingboard Holdings
Limited (“KHL”), the ultimate holding company of the Company

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

ESZRMER®

REW@)

(b) FRAREZERFZMEARRTBEBER
ERAFRBREE1IBIZEBRERE
HERAD

Number of non-voting
deferred shares held

i EREREERAEE
(Note)

(HteE)

1,058,000

529,000

952,200

581,900
fiaE - AEERESAERERERARARZ
BREEELERD - ZFRERMN I HE
M AT BRI E T B IR A R A RERIAR
RRGBESHHFERAGENE L&
RN - TRRA W B SN B R

ERERDIRZ ERET -

(© ARABKERANEEEMERA T
(2 |) S RE 108 T2 HE

Name of Director
EEnE

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa'
RENE SR A

Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping?

R B o A2
Mr. Lam Ka Po
MREFLE

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

SREN8 S

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho
RRFEE

Mr. Lo Ka Leong
BR=FRE

Notes:

Capacity
EEME

Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse
EnEE A TRiEEE

Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse
BEnEa A B

Beneficial owner

E=BEAA

Beneficial owner

EmEB A

Beneficial owner

EmfEBA

Interest of spouse

[

74,400 KHL's shares were held by his spouse.

36,000 KHL’s shares were held by his spouse.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continueq)

Long position (continued)

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors (including the Managing
Director of the Company) nor their respective associate, had any interests or
short position in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as at 31 December 2021.

TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions” in this
report and in Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements, (a) there is no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisting during or at
the end of 31 December 2021 in which a Director or an entity connected with
a Director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly; (b) there
is no contract of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
and the controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries;
(c) there is no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2021, the register of substantial shareholders maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, other than
the interests disclosed above in respect of certain Directors (including the
Managing Director of the Company), the following Shareholders had notified
the Company of their relevant interests in the issued share capital of the
Company.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Long position

Name of shareholder

REREM

Hallgain Management Limited
(“Hallgain”)

KHL
BEEHE

Jamplan (BVI) Limited (“Jamplan”) (d)

Capital Research and Management
Company

Notes Nature of interest

M  EmME
Interest of controlled

corporations
RIEHEEE R

(c) Beneficial owner
EmEB A
Interest of controlled

corporations
RIEHEEE R

Beneficial owner
EmEBA
Interest of controlled
corporation
RIEHEEE R

Investment manager
REKE

The letter “L” denotes a long position.

At 31 December 2021, (i) no shareholder of Hallgain was entitled to exercise, or
control the exercise of, directly or indirectly, one-third or more of the voting power
at general meetings of Hallgain, and Hallgain and its directors are not accustomed
to acting in accordance with any shareholder’s direction; and (i) Messrs. Cheung
Kwok Wa, Cheung Kwok Ping and Lam Ka Po, all of whom are Directors, are also
Directors of Hallgain.

The interests are held by KHL directly and indirectly. KHL is owned as to
approximately 40.24% by Hallgain as at 31 December 2021.

The interests are held by Jamplan directly and indirectly. Jamplan is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of KHL. Mr. Lam Ka Po, being a Director, is also a director of Jamplan.

The interests are indirectly held by Jamplan through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Kingboard Investments Limited (“KIL”). Messrs. Cheung Kwok Wa and Cheung
Kwok Ping, being Directors, are also directors of KIL.
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Approximate
percentage of the
issued share

Number of capital of

share capital held the Company
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177,205,851 (L) 5.68%
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has adopted the principals of
good corporate governance and complied with the code provisions in the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
(the “Code”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2021, save for the
deviation that the non-executive Director and independent non-executive
Directors are not appointed for specific terms pursuant to paragraph A.4.1
of the Code. For further information on the Group’s corporate governance
practices during the year, please refer to the Corporate Governance Report in
this annual report.

On 1 January 2022, the amendments to the Corporate Governance Code
(the “New CG Code”) came into effect and the requirements under the
New CG Code will apply to corporate governance reports for financial year
commencing on or after 1 January 2022. The Board will continue to review
and enhance its corporate governance practice of the Company to ensure
compliance with the New CG Code, align with the latest developments, and
meet the rising expectations of shareholders and investors.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the Group’s largest customer was KHL Group, being
subsidiaries of KHL other than the Company or its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “KHL Group”), and the percentage of sales attributable
to the KHL Group was approximately 17%. The Group’s second largest
customer was Hallgain and its subsidiaries (the “Hallgain Group”), and
the percentage of sales attributable to the Hallgain Group was 2%. The
percentage of sales attributable to the Group’s five largest customers
combined was less than 30% of the Group’s total revenue. During the year,
the percentage of purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier and
the five largest suppliers combined were 12% and 28%, respectively. The
percentage of purchases attributable to KHL, one of the Group’s five largest
supplier was 6%.

As at 31 December 2021, KHL, a Shareholder holding more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital and Hallgain, a controlling Shareholder of KHL, had
beneficial interests in one of the Group’s five largest customers and one of the
Group’s five largest suppliers. Save as disclosed in this annual report, none
of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge
of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an
interest in the major customers or suppliers noted above.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In 2021, the Group had the following non-exempt continuing connected
transactions (which are also related party transactions) within the meaning of
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

(@

KLHL/Hallgain SFA

On 25 October 2019, the Company and Hallgain entered into a
supply framework agreement pursuant to which the Group agreed to
supply copper and laminates to the Hallgain Group from 1 January
2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 19 July 2021, taking into account the increasing trend in the
transaction volume, the Company and Hallgain entered into a
new supply framework agreement (the “New KLHL/Hallgain SFA”)
pursuant to which the Group agreed to supply copper and laminates
to the Hallgain Group from 19 July 2021 to 31 December 2023.
Under the New KLHL/Hallgain SFA, the amount of copper and
laminates to be supplied is not fixed but is to be determined and
agreed between the parties from time to time. The actual quantity,
specification and price (with reference to the prevailing market price)
of the products under the New KLHL/Hallgain SFA will be subject to
the individual orders placed by the Hallgain Group with the Group.
The proposed annual cap for the three years ending 31 December
2023 are HK$625,000,000, HK$687,000,000 and HK$755,000,000,
respectively. Please refer to the Company’s joint announcement
dated 19 July 2021 for further information.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain SFA
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that
Hallgain, through its interests in KHL, is a substantial shareholder of
the Company, and hence a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

KLHL/Hallgain PFA

On 25 October 2019, the Company and Hallgain entered into a
purchase framework agreement pursuant to which the Group agreed
to purchase materials for production of laminates such as drill bits and
machineries from the Hallgain Group for a term of three years from 1
January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 19 July 2021, taking into account the increasing trend in the
transaction volume, the Company and Hallgain entered into a new
purchase framework agreement pursuant to which the Group
agreed to purchase machineries for production of laminates from
the Hallgain Group from 19 July 2021 to 31 December 2023 (the
“New KLHL/Hallgain PFA”). Under the New KLHL/Hallgain PFA, the
amount to be purchased is not fixed but is to be determined and
agreed between the parties from time to time. The actual quantity,
specification and price (with reference to the prevailing market price)
of the machineries under the New KLHL/Hallgain PFA will be subject
to the individual orders placed by the Group with the Hallgain Group.
The proposed annual cap for the three years ending 31 December
2023 are HK$570,000,000, HK$610,000,000 and HK$653,000,000,
respectively. Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 19
July 2021 for further information.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain PFA
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that
Hallgain, through its interests in KHL, is a substantial Shareholder,
and hence a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

KLHL/KHL MPA

On 25 October 2019, the Company and KHL entered into a materials
purchase framework agreement pursuant to which the Group agreed
to purchase Chemicals from the KHL Group for a term of three years
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 19 July 2021 and 21 November 2019, taking into account the
increasing trend in the transaction volume, the Company and KHL
entered into a new materials purchase framework agreement (the
“New KLHL/KHL MPA”) pursuant to which the Group agreed to
purchase Chemicals from the KHL Group from 19 July 2021 to 31
December 2023. Under the New KLHL/KHL MPA, the amount of
Chemicals to be purchased by the Group are not fixed but are to
be determined and agreed between the parties from time to time.
The actual quantity, specification and the price (with reference to
prevailing market price) of the Chemicals under the New KLHL/KHL
MPA will be subject to the individual orders placed by Group with
the KHL Group. The proposed annual cap for the three years ending
31 December 2023 are HK$1,200,000,000, HK$1,284,000,000 and
HK$1,374,000,000, respectively. Please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 19 July 2021 for further information.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/KHL MPA constituted
continuing connected transactions for the Company pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that KHL is the ultimate
holding company of the Company and that KHL and members of
the KHL Group are accordingly connected persons of the Company
under the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d)

KLHL/KHL SFA

On 25 October 2019, the Company and KHL entered into a supply
and service framework agreement pursuant to which the Group
agreed to supply laminates and related upstream component
materials and to provide drilling services to the KHL Group for a term
of three years from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022.

On 19 July 2021, taking into account the increasing trend in the
transaction volume, the Company and KHL entered into a new
supply framework agreement (the “New KLHL/KHL SFA”) pursuant
to which the Group agreed to supply laminates and related upstream
component materials to the KHL Group from 19 July 2021 to 31
December 2023. Under the New KLHL/KHL SFA, the amount of
laminates and related upstream component materials to be sold by
the Group are not fixed but are to be determined and agreed between
the parties from time to time. The actual quantity, specification and
price (with reference to the prevailing market price) of laminates and
related upstream component materials under the New KLHL/KHL
SFA will be subject to the individual orders placed by the KHL Group
with the Group. The proposed annual cap for the three years ending
31 December 2023 are HK$4,900,000,000 HK$5,243,000,000 and
HK$5,610,000,000, respectively. Please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 19 July 2021 and the circular of the Company
dated 19 July 2021 for further information.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/KHL SFA constituted
continuing connected transactions for the Company pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that KHL is the ultimate
holding company of the Company and that KHL and members of
the KHL Group are accordingly connected persons of the Company
under the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions were entered
into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, on normal
commercial terms and in accordance with the terms of the agreements
governing such transactions that were fair and reasonable and in the interest
of the Company and the shareholders as a whole.

The Company considers that Hallgain and KHL, owner of approximately 40%
of issued shares of KHL, and KHL, as of the date of the above mentioned
2021 agreements and controlling shareholder of the Company, respectively,
are reliable business co-operation partners and such co-operations are
beneficial to the business of the Company and the Group as a whole. The
Company considers that the above continuing connected transactions
facilitate its business plan and will improve the competitiveness and the
quality of the laminates manufactured by the Company.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified
letter containing the auditor’s findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31 December 2021
disclosed by the Group on pages 30 to 33 of the annual report in accordance
with Listing Rule 14A.38. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided
by the Company to the Stock Exchange. The auditor has confirmed that
nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe that the continuing
connected transactions entered into by the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021:

(@) have not been approved by the Board;

(b) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group;

() were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

(d) have exceeded the cap.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The annual caps and actual transaction amounts of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed above for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set
out in the table below.

Sales of goods to the KHL Group under the
New KLHL/KHL SFA ERBEHEEEm

Purchase of goods from the KHL Group
under the New KLHL/KHL MPA
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Sales of laminates and copper foil to Hallgain Group #R#E#EE1E Bk, Hallgainfi FEEZR

under the New KLHL/Hallgain SFA
FiEpE]

Purchase of machineries from the Hallgain Group
under the New KLHL/Hallgain PFA

The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect
of transactions during the year ended 31 December 2021.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group does not have any plans for material investments and capital assets
as at the date of this report.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other material
acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries, associated companies or joint
ventures for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merits, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the Remuneration
Committee after consultation with the Chairman having regard to the relevant
Director’s experience, responsibility and the time devoted to the business of
the Group.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees. Details of the share option scheme are set
out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

The remunerations paid to the senior management (excluding the Directors)
during the year ended 31 December 2021 were within the following bands:
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Bands management
&= SREERAZ
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 21,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001/ 7C%2,000,000/%8 7T -
HK$2,000,001 or above 2,000,001 T3k A £ 1
Total: P 2

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The new share option scheme of the Company (the “2017 KLHL Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders of the Company and the shareholders of
KHL on 29 May 2017 and the 2017 KLHL Scheme took effect upon obtaining
approval from the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange on 2 November
2017. The 2007 Share Option Scheme expired at its end of the term of the
scheme on 5 July 2017 prior to the 2017 KLHL Scheme becoming effective.
The purpose of the 2017 KLHL Scheme was to provide incentive or reward
to the eligible participants of the 2017 KLHL Scheme for their contribution to,
and continuing efforts to promote the interests of the Group.

All share options had been exercised under the Company’s share option
schemes during the year ended 31 December 2020.

There are no outstanding share options as at 1 January 2021, during the year
and as at 31 December 2021. There was no share option granted, cancelled
or had lapsed under the Company’s share option schemes during the year
under review. For further details of Share Options, please refer to Note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements of this report.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company,
its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association although there are no restrictions against such rights under
company laws in the Cayman Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company had maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year
ended 31 December 2021.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to the articles of association of the Company, every Director,
auditor or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him as a Director, auditor or other officer of the Company in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is
given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

Appropriate insurance covering for the Directors’ and senior management’s

liabilities arising out of activities of the Group has been arranged by the
Company.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Group, or existed during
the year ended 31 December 2021.
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AUDITOR

A resolution to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the
Company will be proposed for approval by Shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Kwok Wa
CHAIRMAN

18 March 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

The board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company recognises the
importance of corporate governance practice of a listed company. It is in
the interest of the stakeholders and shareholders for a listed company to
operate in a transparent manner with the adoptions of various self-regulatory
policies, procedures and monitoring mechanisms and a clear definition of
accountability of directors and management.

The Company has adopted and complied with the code provisions as set out
in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) under Appendix 14 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31 December
2021, save for the deviation from paragraph A.4.1 of the CG Code since the
non-executive directors and the independent non-executive directors are
not appointed for a specific term. Notwithstanding the aforesaid deviation,
all the directors (including the non-executive director and independent non-
executive directors) are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the Company’s annual general meeting in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association. As such, the Company considers that steps have been
taken with a view to ensuring that the Company’s corporate governance
practices are in line with the principles of the CG Code.

On 1 January 2022, the amendments to the Corporate Governance Code
(the “New CG Code”) came into effect and the requirements under the
New CG code will apply to corporate governance reports for financial year
commencing on or after 1 January 2022. The Board will continue to review
and enhance its corporate governance practice of the Company to ensure
compliance with the New CG Code and align with the latest developments.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).
Having made specific enquiry of all directors, each director has confirmed
that he has complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and the code of conduct regarding director’s securities transactions adopted
by the Company throughout the year ended 31 December 2021.

A. DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group
and is entrusted with the responsibility to supervise the management
of the business and the affairs of the Group. The Group has adopted
internal guidelines which set forth matters that require the Board’s
approval. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board approves
the Group’s strategic plan, annual budget, key operational initiatives,
major investments and funding decisions. It also reviews the Group’s
financial performance, identifies principal risks of the Group’s business
and ensures implementation of appropriate systems to manage these
risks. Daily business operations and administrative functions of the
Group are delegated to the management.
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

The Board (continued)

The Board meets regularly and as warranted by particular
circumstances. Notices and agendas are prepared by the Company
Secretary as delegated by the Chairman of the Board and distributed
to the Board members within reasonable time before the meetings.
Relevant meeting papers are also sent to Directors well before the
meetings, informing them of the background and giving explanations
on matters to be brought before the Board. All Directors are given the
opportunity to include matters in the agendas for Board meetings. To
ensure the Directors make decisions objectively and in the interests of
the Company, the Company’s articles of association provide that any
Director shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in which he/she
or his/her associates is/are materially interested nor be counted in
the quorum of the meeting. Drafts and final versions of the minutes
of Board meetings are sent to all Directors for their comment and
records respectively within a reasonable time after the board meeting
and are kept by the Company Secretary.

During the year under review, the Board had held 6 meetings and
the Company held two general meetings. The Directors’ attendance
at the Board meetings, Board committees’ meetings and general
meetings was as follows:

Board
Meeting
E2g
]
Number of Meeting g1 6
Executive Directors HiTEE
Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman) REE(ZE) 6
Cheung Kwok Keung KB
(Managing Director) (EZ41%) 6
Cheung Kwok Ping KB 6
Lam Ka Po HRE 6
Cheung Ka Ho RRR 6
Zhou Pei Feng [ 6
Non-executive Director HHTEE
Lo Ka Leong EZXn 6
Independent non-executive Directors 53817 7EE
Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen 2ip 6
Zhang Lu Fu REX 6
Kung, Peter BkiE
(appointed on 7 June 2021) (R=B-—-F AtREZHA) 3
Ho Kwok Ming EELS
(appointed on 1 January 2022) (RZZTZZF—-A—BEZf) -
Leung Tai Chiu Riet
(resigned on 7 June 2021) (RZEZ—FRAtBEE) 2
Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer ApE
(resigned on 1 January 2022) (R=ZE-—F—-F—HET) 5

Note:

1 “General Meeting” refers to the Company’s annual general meeting held
on 24 May 2021 and extraordinary general meeting held on 7 September
2021
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

The Board (continued)

The Directors have observed the importance of directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs at a more regular interval. After
consulting all Directors, Board meetings have been preliminarily
scheduled to be held at quarterly interval and not less than 4 times in
the coming year.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in D.3.1
of the Code.

During the year under review, the Board met once to review the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model
Code and the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure
in this Corporate Governance Report.

Division and responsibilities

The Board is headed by the Chairman whose role differs from that of
the Managing Director of the Company. The roles of the Chairman
and Managing Director are segregated and are not exercised by the
same individual.

The duties of the Chairman include (but not limited to) the following:

o scheduling meetings that enable the Board to perform
its duties and responsibilities and to ensure all key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner without interfering the Company’s operations;

o preparing meeting agendas after consultations with the
Managing Director;

o exercising control over quality, quantity and timeliness of the
flow of information between management and the Board and
to ensure decisions are made on a fully informed basis by the
Directors; and

o assisting in ensuring compliance with the Listing Rules and
the Company’s guidelines on corporate governance.

The Managing Director is mainly responsible for the overall strategic
planning and day-to-day management of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

A. DIRECTORS (continued) A %% (%&)

Division and responsibilities (continued)

The Board currently comprises 11 members, four of whom are
independent non-executive Directors who are expressly identified in
all corporate communications that disclose the names of Directors.
At least one of the independent non-executive Directors possesses
appropriate professional qualifications (or accounting or related
financial management expertise) as required by the Listing Rules. The
composition of the Board as of the report date is as follows:

Executive Directors

Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Cheung Kwok Ping

Lam Ka Po

Cheung Ka Ho

Zhou Pei Feng

Non-executive Director
Lo Ka Leong

Independent non-executive Directors

Leung Tai Chiu (resigned on 7 June 2021)

Kung, Peter (appointed on 7 June 2021)

Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen

Zhang Lu Fu

Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer (resigned on 1 January 2022)
Ho Kwok Ming (appointed on 1 January 2022)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping are brothers and are uncles of Mr. Cheung Ka Ho.

Currently, the non-executive Director and the independent non-
executive Directors were not appointed for specific terms but are
subject to retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election. The
Board considers that although such arrangement deviates from
paragraph A.4.1 of the Code, sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no
less exacting than those in the Code.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board also
considers that the independent non-executive Directors remain
independent.
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DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Division and responsibilities (continued)

The Board comprises Directors who collectively provide core
competencies, sales and marketing experience and technical
knowledge in laminates and its upstream materials, administration
and management experience in the PRC factories, financial
and accounting skill, as well as in-house advice to comply with
international laws and regulations. The current Board size of eleven
Directors with a balance of skills and experience is appropriate for
effective decision making, taking into account the nature and scope
of the operations of the Company.

Appointment, re-election and removal

The Company’s articles of association set out a formal, considered
and transparent procedure for the appointment of new Directors to
the Board. Any Director appointed by the Board either to fill a casual
vacancy or as addition to the Board shall retire and be eligible for re-
appointment at the next following general meeting after appointment.
At every annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors, including
the Chairman, shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election by Shareholders. The Directors appointed by the Board who
are subject to retirement and re-election as mentioned above shall
be taken into account in calculating the total number of Directors for
the time being but shall not be taken into account in calculating the
number of Directors who are to retire by rotation. All Directors eligible
for re-election shall have their biographical details made available
to the Shareholders to enable them to make an informed decision
on their re-election. Any appointment, resignation, removal or re-
designation of Director shall be timely disclosed to the Shareholders
by announcement and the reasons given by the Director for this
resignation shall be included in the announcement.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Responsibilities of Directors

The Company and the Board require each Director to keep abreast of
his responsibilities as a Director of the Company and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company. Every Director
is required to devote sufficient time and involvement in the affairs of
the Board and the material matters of the Company and to serve
the Board with care and due diligence in accordance with his own
expertise, qualification and professionalism.

Every newly appointed Director shall receive a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment. All
Directors shall be updated and briefed on continuing professional
development as is necessary to ensure that they have a proper
understanding of the operations and the business of the Company
and that they are fully aware of their responsibilities under the
applicable laws and regulations. The Board has a procedure for
Directors, either individually or as a group, in the furtherance of their
duties, to take independent professional advice, if necessary, at
the Company’s expenses to enable and facilitate the Directors to
make well-considered decisions. Appropriate insurance coverage
for Directors’ and officers’ liability has been arranged against for any
possibility of legal action to be taken against the Directors and the
management.

Pursuant to A.6.5 of the Code, Directors should participate in
appropriate continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant.

A briefing session was organised for the Directors for the year
under review to update the Directors on the latest Listing Rules and
statutory disclosure obligation for listed companies to disclose inside
information under Part XIVA of the SFO.
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A. DIRECTORS (continued) A %%(ﬁ:

Responsibilities of Directors (continued) BEEE5E®H)

During the year under review, the Directors also participated in the

following trainings:

CIEAFEN - EFH2EUTHEI

Attending or
participating

in the briefing
session/seminars/
programmes
relevant to

the business/
Directors’ duties

HERSH
BRAXY EBRHK

wENE,
Name of Directors BEEHR BEHE wrE
Executive Directors: BITES
Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman) REIE(ERE) v
Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director) KBNS (BB LIE) v
Cheung Kwok Ping KB V
Lam Ka Po MNxRE v
Cheung Ka Ho RER Vv
Zhou Pei Feng JEI S I vV
Non-executive Director: FEHITEE !
Lo Ka Leong BR Vv
Independent non-executive Directors: BIYHTES :
Leung Tai Chiu (resigned on 7 June 2021) ZEB(WN_ZE-_—FXAtHHMT) -
Kung, Peter (appointed on 7 June 2021) BXER-ZE-—F XA tHERT) v
Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen ST 5p2z] vV
Zhang Lu Fu REX vV
Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer (resigned on BIRE(RN=_BE-—F— A —HEHE) v

1 January 2022)

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with A.6.5 of the

Code on Directors’ training.

Supply of and access to information

The management of the Company has an obligation to furnish the
Board with complete, adequate and appropriate information in
such form and such quality in a timely manner so as to enable them
to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities as Directors. All the Directors are given separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management.
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A.

DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Supply of and access to information (continued)

All the Directors are given separate and independent access to
the Company Secretary, whose role includes ensuring that Board
procedures are observed and followed, and that applicable rules and
regulations are complied with. The Company Secretary attends all the
meetings of the Board and Board committees and is responsible for
drafting minutes and keeping minutes records which can be accessed
by any Director for inspection.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

The Board has set up a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) which comprises four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen (Chairman), Mr. Leung
Tai Chiu (resigned on 7 June 2021), Mr. Kung, Peter (appointed on
7 June 2021), Mr. Zhang Lu Fu and Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer, to
formulate policies and procedures for determining the remuneration
of Directors and senior management and other remuneration related
matters. The Remuneration Committee is set up with written terms of
reference which set out clearly its duties and authorities delegated by
the Board, including the following duties:

° formulate the framework or Board policy for determining
the remuneration of the Company’s Board and senior
management. The objective of such policy should ensure
that members of the senior management of the Company are
provided with appropriate incentives to encourage enhanced
performance and are, in a fair and reasonable manner,
rewarded for their individual contributions to the success of
the Company;

o recommend to the Board specific remuneration packages
including, where appropriate, allowances, bonuses, benefits
in kind, incentive payments, and share options, if any, for
each executive Director and the Managing Director and such
other members of senior management as it is designated to
consider;

o recommend targets for any performance-linked pay schemes
operated by the Company, taking into account remuneration
and employment conditions within the industry and in
comparable companies; and

° recommend to the Board the remuneration of non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
taking into account factors such as effort, time spent and
responsibilities.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continueq)

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

(continued)

When recommending the remuneration package for each individual
Director, the Remuneration Committee will consider his qualification
and experience, specific duties and responsibilities assigned to him
by the Board and the prevailing market packages available for similar
position. The emoluments of the Directors on a named basis for the
year under review are set out on pages 144 to 147 in Note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements. Review and comparison in terms
of Directors’ emoluments package and net profits of the Group are
made from time to time with comparable listed industrial companies
with similar capitalisation to the Group. Considering all such factors,
the Remuneration Committee would make recommendation on the
remuneration package for each Director after consultation with the
Chairman.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee had
convened two meetings to consider the performance, and the
remuneration policy and packages for all Directors and senior
management.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
Company’s account which gives a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Company. The Company deploys appropriate and
sufficient resources to prepare unaudited half-yearly account and
audited yearly account. Senior management is required to present
and explain the financial reporting and matters that materially affect or
may have material impact on the financial performance and operations
of the Company to the Audit Committee and the Board and respond
to the queries and concerns raised by the Audit Committee and
the Board to their satisfaction. The statement of the auditor of the
Company about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 57 to 63 of this annual report.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility

of the Board

The Board acknowledges its accountability to the risk management
and internal control systems and its responsibility to review the
effectiveness of the systems. The Board also clarifies that the system
are purported to manage, but not eliminate, the risk of failure to
fulfil business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Management is responsible for setting an appropriate tone from
the top, performing risk assessments, and owning the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control. Essential to such
risk management and internal control systems are well defined policies
and procedures that are properly documented and communicated to
employees.

The Group has in place a system of internal controls, the key elements
of which are as follows:

° formal policies and procedures are in place, including the
documentation of key processes, procedures and rules
relating to the delegation of authorities. These allow the
monitoring of controls and restrict the unauthorised use of the
Group’s assets;

o experienced and suitably qualified staff take responsibility for
important business functions. Annual appraisal procedures
have been established to maintain standards of performance;

° monthly business and financial reports are prepared, providing
relevant, timely, reliable and up-to-date financial and other
information; budget variances are investigated as appropriate;
and

o an internal audit function, which reports directly to the Audit
Committee, is in place to determine whether the above
procedures are properly carried out.

The Group has established an internal audit department to review
the financial condition, operational condition, risk management,
compliance control and internal control of the Group. For 2021, the
Board has conducted a review on the effectiveness of the above
internal control system of the Group including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management and will conduct
such review at least once a year, so as to ensure the Shareholders’
investment and the Company’s assets are properly safeguarded.
The Board is satisfied that, based on the information supplied,
coupled with its own observations and with the assistance of the
Audit Committee, the present internal controls and risk management
processes are satisfactory, effective and adequate for the nature and
size of the Group’s operations and business.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility

of the Board (continued)

In addition to the internal control system, the Board has established
an internal audit team that reports directly to the Audit Committee.
The internal audit team will independently audit various functions,
operations and systems that exist in the Company according to
their weight of significance to the Company as well as the priority
list recommended by the Audit Committee. The internal audit team
will prepare an internal audit report highlighting the deficiencies and
weaknesses in existing audit functions, operations and systems for
discussion by the Audit Committee and the Board, and based on
these findings the Board will instruct senior management to take
appropriate corrective and improvement actions.

Audit Committee

The Board has established the Audit Committee with specific written
terms of reference setting out duties, responsibilities and authorities
delegated to them by the Board. The major duties and responsibilities
of the Audit Committee include the followings:

° review with the external auditor, the audit plan;

° review with the external auditor, their evaluation of the system
of internal accounting controls;

° review the scope and results of the internal audit procedures;

° review the statement of financial position and statement of
profit or loss of the Company and the consolidated statement
of financial position and statement of profit or loss of the
Group and submit them to the Board;

° nominate persons as auditor;

° review with the internal and external auditors their findings on
their evaluation of the Company’s system of internal controls
for the purpose of assisting the Board in developing policies
that would enhance the controls and operating systems of the
Company; and

° review connected transactions and examine the adequacy
of internal controls of the Group as part of the standard
procedures.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee assists the Board to fulfil its oversight role
over the Group’s risk management and internal control functions
by reviewing and evaluating the effectiveness of our overall risk
management and internal control systems at least annually.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
embedded within our business processes so that its functions as
an integral part of the overall operation of the Group. The systems
comprises a comprehensive organisation structure with assignment
of definite accountabilities and delegation of corresponding authorities
to each post. Based on our organisation structure, a reporting system
has been developed including reporting channels from division heads
of business units to the Board.

The risk management and internal control systems and accounting
system of the Group are aimed at identifying and evaluating
the Group’s risk and formulate risk mitigation strategies, and to
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against
unauthorised use or disposition, transactions are executed in
accordance with management’s authorisation, and the accounting
records are reliable for preparing financial information used within the
business for publication, maintaining accountability for assets and
liabilities and ensuring the business operations are in accordance with
relevant legislation, regulations and internal guidelines.

The Group has a defined organisational structure with clear clearly
lines of responsibility and authority. Each department is accountable
for its daily operations and is required to report to executive Directors
on a regular basis. Policies and procedures are set for each
department, which include establishing and maintaining effective
policies to enhance risks identifications to which the Group is exposed
and taking appropriate actions to manage such risks, establishing a
structure with defined authorities and proper segregation of duties;
monitoring the strategic plan and performance; designing an effective
accounting and information system; controlling price sensitive
information; and ensuring swift actions and timely communication
with our stakeholders.

Procedures and Controls over Handling and Dissemination of
Inside Information

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Group has internal policy
and procedures which strictly prohibit unauthorised use of inside
information and has communicated to all staff; the Board is aware
of its obligations to announce any inside information in accordance
with the Listing Rules and conducts the affairs with reference to
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012. In addition, only
Directors and delegated officers can act as the Group’s spokesperson
and respond to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the scope and
results of the audit and its cost effectiveness and the independence
and objectivity of the Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
The Audit Committee will review the independence of the Company’s
auditor, the resources and adequacy of the internal audit function, at
least once a year. Where the auditor also supplies non-audit services
to the Company, the Audit Committee will keep the nature and extent
of such services under review, seeking to balance between the
maintenance of objectivity and value for money. During the year under
review, the fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor to
the Group were as follows:

Nature of services R MHE

Audit services ZH AR

Non-audit services LB

0} Tax services 0] ISR

(i) Other services comprising compliance (i) HitRGBREERES -

review, internal control review and ESG
report

The Audit Committee has undertaken a review of all the non-
audit services provided by the Company’s auditor and concluded
that in its opinion such services did not affect the independence
of the auditor. The Board has appointed an accountant to be
responsible for the accounting and financial matters of the Group
and the Audit Committee has free access to the accountant and
senior management of the Group and to any financial and relevant
information which enables them to discharge their audit committee
function effectively and efficiently. Besides internal assistance being
available, the Audit Committee may request for assistance and
advice from external auditors as and when it considers necessary
at the expenses of the Company. The Audit Committee shall meet
with external auditor without the presence of executive Directors to
discuss the Group’s financial reporting and any major and financial
matters arising during the year under review at least once a year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)
In addition, the Audit Committee is authorised:

. to investigate any matter within its written terms of reference;
. to have full access to and co-operation by the management;
° to have full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer

to attend its meetings; and

. to have reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its
functions properly.

The Board will ensure that the members of the Audit Committee
are appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities and at
least one member has accounting and related financial management
expertise or experience. The Audit Committee comprises four
independent non-executive Directors and one non-executive Director,
namely Mr. Leung Tai Chiu (Chairman) (until his resignation on 7 June
2021), Mr. Kung, Peter (since his appointment as an independent
non-executive Director on 7 June 2021), Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen,
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu, Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer and Mr. Lo Ka Leong.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had performed the
following works:

o review of the scope of audit work;

° review and discussion of the annual financial results and
report in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020 and
interim financial results and report for the six months ended
30 June 2021 and discussion with the management of the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group;

° discussion and recommendation of the re-appointment of the
external auditors; and

. review of the internal control, financial reporting and risk
management systems of the Group.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had convened
three meetings.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Management function

The Company’s articles of association set out matters which are
specifically reserved to the Board for its decision. Executive Directors
normally meet on an informal basis every two weeks and participate
in senior management meetings on a regular basis to keep abreast of
the latest operations and performance of the Group and to monitor
and ensure the management carry out the directions and strategies
set by the Board correctly and appropriately. Clear instructions are
given to the management as to the matters which should bring to the
attention and be determined by the Board on behalf of the Company.

Board committees

The Board has set up three Board committees, namely Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee,
each chaired by a different independent non-executive Director, to
assist the Board in discharging functions specific to each committee.
Each Board committee has its own written terms of reference
setting out the principles, procedures and arrangements which are
substantially the same as those for the Board.

The Nomination Committee comprises four members who are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Ping Cheung,
Kaizer (Chairman), Mr. Leung Tai Chiu (until his resignation on 7 June
2021), Mr. Kung, Peter (since his appointment as an Independent
non-executive Director on 7 June 2021), Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen
and Mr. Zhang Lu Fu. According to the written terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee, the major responsibilities of the
Nomination Committee include:

° regularly review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and make recommendations to the Board with regard
to any adjustments that are deemed necessary;

° review whether or not an independent non-executive Director
is independent for the purpose of the Listing Rules on an
annual basis;

° identify and nominate for the approval of the Board,

candidates to fill board vacancies as and when they arise; and

° re-nominate a Director as an independent non-executive
Director, if applicable, having regard to his contribution and
performance.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (continued)

Board committees (continued)

During the year under review and up to the date of the report, the
Nomination Committee had convened three meetings during which,
among other things, considered which Directors should retire by
rotation pursuant to the Company’s articles of association and the
Code. The Nomination Committee had resolved that Mr. Cheung
Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, Mr. Lam Ka Po and Mr. Cheung
Ka Ho, being executive Directors, Mr. Kung, Peter and Mr. Ho Kwok
Ming, being independent non-executive Directors, shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company. All the above-named Directors were nominated by
the Nomination Committee to stand for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company. During the meeting of
the Nomination Committee, it had considered the policy for the
nomination of Directors, and the process and criteria adopted by
the Nomination Committee to select and recommend candidates for
directorship. It had also reviewed the structure, size and composition
of the Board to ensure that the Board has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience appropriate to the requirements of the business
of the Company.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy in accordance with
the Code. The policy aims to achieve diversity on the members of the
Board. In designing the Board’s composition, a number of aspects
would be considered, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders. All Directors are encouraged to attend the general
meetings to have personal communication with Shareholders. In
annual general meeting, Chairman of the Board and the chairman of
each committee are required to attend and answer questions from
Shareholders in respect of the matters that they are responsible
and accountable for. The external auditor is also required to be
present to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries
by Shareholders. The Company has also set up a public relations
website which enables the Shareholders and public to post their
questions, comments and opinions in relation to the Group to the
Board.

The Company’s annual general meeting (“AGM”) and extraordinary
general meeting (“‘EGM”) provide good opportunities for Shareholders
to air their views and ask Directors and management questions
regarding the Company. All Shareholders receive the annual
report, circulars and notices of AGM and EGM and other corporate
communications in a form chosen by each Shareholder. The notices
are also published on the Company’s website at www.kblaminates.com.
Separate resolutions are required at general meetings on each distinct
issue. A Shareholder is permitted to appoint any number of proxies to
attend and vote in his stead.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual Directors, for Shareholders’
consideration and voting. Besides, pursuant to the Company’s
articles of association, Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth
of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings may request the Company to convene an EGM by
sending a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary.
The objects of the meeting must be stated in the written requisition.

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for putting
forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. Contact details are as
follows:

Address: 23/F, Delta House
3 On Yiu Street
Shek Mun, Shatin, N.T.

Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 26910445/26915245
Email: enquiry@Kingboard.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its articles of association.

An up-to-date version of the articles of association is available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website. Shareholders
may refer to the Company’s articles of association for further details
of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll voting results will be
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and
the Company (www.kblaminates.com) immediately after the relevant
general meetings.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A BE RS

Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 64 to 213, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBEMRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Key audit matter
BRETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

M E N AHRRET ERETRE

Assessment of net realisable value of properties held for development (“PHD”)

FETFREYE([FREYE]) B 2 HFE

We identified the assessment of net realisable value of PHD
as a key audit matter due to the significance of the amount
and estimation uncertainty involved in determining their net
realisable value.

The carrying value of the Group’s PHD amounted to HK$1.46
billion as at 31 December 2021. The Group’s PHD are all
situated in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

As disclosed in Notes 4 and 23 to the consolidated financial
statements, the net realisable value of the PHD are determined
by reference to the estimated future selling prices less estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
The future selling prices are estimated by reference to the
recent selling prices of similar properties in the same project
or relevant locations. In addition, the management estimated
the future costs to complete the PHD and costs necessary to
make the sale by reference to the actual development costs
and selling expenses incurred and the completion status.
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Our procedures in relation to the assessment of net realisable
value of PHD included:

° Evaluating the reasonableness of the costs recognised
in PHD, on a sample basis, by obtaining the direct
confirmations from independent qualified surveyors in
respect of the cost incurred and the completion status;

° Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated future
selling prices of the PHD, on a sample basis, by
comparing them to recent transaction prices of similar
properties in the same project or relevant locations,
based on our knowledge of the property markets of
the relevant locations; and

° Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated future
costs to completion of the PHD and costs necessary to
make the sale, on a sample basis, based on the actual
development costs and selling expenses incurred and
the completion status of the properties of the Group
with the adjustments, taking into account the current
market data and the past history of the similar projects.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB ER R &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continueq)

Key audit matter

BRESE

Valuation of investment properties

REYFI1GE

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key
audit matter due to the inherent level of subjective judgements
and complex estimates required in determining the fair values.

The Group’s investment property portfolio comprises
commercial, residential and industrial properties located in
Hong Kong, the PRC and the United Kingdom, which was
stated at fair value of HK$1.44 billion as at 31 December
2021 with no gain or loss on fair value change recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then
ended.

The Group’s investment properties are stated at fair value
based on valuations performed by a professional independent
valuer (the “Valuer”). Details of the valuation techniques and
key inputs used in the valuations are disclosed in Notes 4 and
14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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EAREFEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

A ES N AH ARSI ERETRE

Our procedures in relation to the management’s valuation of
investment properties included:

° Evaluating the competence, capability, and objectivity
of the Valuer;

° Understanding the key assumptions applied to
the valuation based on available market data and
evaluating their reasonableness; and

° Assessing the reasonableness of the price per square
metre of comparable properties and information used
by the Valuer and the management in the valuation
model, including adjustment factors for location
and other individual factors such as road frontage,
size of property and facilities, on a sample basis, in
order to assess the appropriateness, completeness
and accuracy of these inputs and comparing the
comparable properties adopted with fair market unit
price.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBEMRE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BAZBEMRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

i%ﬁ%

L R S
EENE T

. REFMEDRNEZERE  BERSFE
HEBXBEREGEOEARNTEEN - #
AR EKEMRELLE
EEEREE - IREMAAFEEKX
T%Eﬁ AIA BEEZEEN R E TR
ﬁ%%&uﬁéﬁﬁﬁ%¢mﬁ@ﬁ

cBEFHEHNEKETE  AIRMEE
%ﬁ#ﬁ%a%ﬁ BAEREER
TR E B LS NERERE - A
il RERFELBERATEEH HEEE
TREFHERSE -

. AHERR S M B IRERMNERYIHT N
%ﬂme'@%ﬁ% M&ﬁé%%ﬁ
BRERMRZZMER

. B BEEANERNERTINTHE
AMERTE HENEIZERE - UEER
EUBREERER - BMBE &5
EEZTE - EEMST - BMASE
ZERAERIES -

BREMEFIRS - HADBREEER T AEF
ZHEE - BRETH  EAERERT BRI
PIFE X R3B! R B O (L R E KR

HERRIEERRER
B AREEXEBRER  TEMFER
BRI EMEA RS ERMELIENRE
BEMEMER  UREBERNBERT - HE
E7 FBHEE

HAKRMENEE



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB ER R &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continueq)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s
report is Tsang Chi Wai.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

18 March 2022
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

meEER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T = —F+-A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —ECTF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
b FET FAT
Revenue - 5 28,799,810 17,301,186
Cost of sales SHE RN (19,004,119) (12,594,178)
Gross profit EF 9,795,691 4,707,008
Other income, gains and losses Hblg A~ Wezs K g 7 84,917 119,488
Distribution costs PaNiz DN (514,764) (414,692)
Administrative costs TR AN (938,999) (691,349)
Gain (loss) on fair value changes of BRAFEFABR = LAY
equity instruments at fair value N EZ W (EE)
through profit or loss 15,713 (95,723)
Gain on disposal of debt instruments  HEZAFEF AR M E2EREZ
at fair value through other B TAEZ W
comprehensive income 25,022 87,667
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FBAR Z W= 31 - 27,642
Loss on fair value changes of WEWMENTEES 2 A
investment properties - (742)
Finance costs FhE KA 8 (80,665) (76,634)
Profit before taxation MR R Vi A 8,386,915 3,662,665
Income tax expense FRSTRIX 9 (1,603,436) (854,685)
Profit for the year REEHH| 10 6,783,479 2,807,980
Profit for the year attributable to: NS M B 1558
Owners of the Company EN/NCIESZEUN 6,781,656 2,802,885
Non-controlling interests JEPE R 2 1,823 5,095
6,783,479 2,807,980
Earnings per share B BT 13
- Basic — EA HK$2.1748 5T HK$0.906/% 7T
- Diluted — B8 N/ATER  HK$0.9067E T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meafaRAEtMEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T = —F+-A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Profit for the year AEZHF 6,783,479 2,807,980
Other comprehensive income (expense) AREEEME2EMIA(ZH)
for the year
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: T & EH S IEE 18752 1HE -
Translation reserve: P W RE 4
Exchange differences arising from translation RAITEEZ2REBMELEZ
to presentation currency B 3 =%8 561,621 1,057,834
Investment revaluation reserve: BEBMEHE
Fair value loss on equity instruments at fair value ~ RAF @ A K2 EZ 2
through other comprehensive income =T A AT EEE = (6,918)
561,621 1,050,916
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to ERAEWE IS
profit or loss: B2 HA
Investment revaluation reserve: WEEMEEE
Fair value loss on debt instruments EAVEFAEMEEEE 2
at fair value through other BEEIE AT EERE
comprehensive income (121,610) (61,625)
Reclassify to profit or loss upon disposal of HERAFEFAEMEER
debt instruments at fair value through W BB ITAmMBEH A
other comprehensive income B b (25,022) (87,667)
(146,632) (149,292)
Other comprehensive income for the year AEEHMEER 414,989 901,624
Total comprehensive income for the year AFEEEEW =BT 7,198,468 3,709,604
Total comprehensive income AFEEEERATERENDEE
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company RATEBA 7,195,891 3,701,133
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR RE S 2,577 8,471
7,198,468 3,709,604
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e IR R

At 31 December 2021 A —Z-—4+-A=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M5 FET FHT
Non-current assets IERBEE
Investment properties LB 14 1,441,259 1,438,063
Property, plant and equipment W - BERERE 15 6,247,809 5,613,910
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 667,056 567,754
Equity instruments at fair value BAFEF ARG Em T A 17
through profit or loss 1,177,398 88,583
Debt instruments at fair value through 1 AFEFFAEMETEKER 2 18
other comprehensive income EETA 103,798 611,231
Deposits paid for acquisition of BEYE  BELEHEZ
property, plant and equipment [EENEIEA 878,135 97,201
Deferred tax assets RIENIEE E 19 2,810 3,190
Goodwill RS 20 238 238
10,518,503 8,420,170
Current assets RENEE
Inventories 8 21 2,653,835 1,739,106
Trade and other receivables and B 5 Rk E A FEW AR R R FE N IR 22
prepayments 6,639,167 4,743,914
Bills receivables Rl =% 22 4,243,905 3,507,802
Properties held for development FHFEREME 23 1,460,556 1,427,224
Equity instruments at fair value through 2 AFEFT ABH 2 #EH T A 17
profit or loss 442,125 776,904
Debt instruments at fair value through  1ZAFEFTAHMEERE 2 18
other comprehensive income EETA 11,256 148,740
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries  FEUL R R B A 7] IE 24 978,831 693,081
Taxation recoverable AU E R IR 8,718 9,009
Bank balances and cash RITEBERS 25 2,864,889 4,909,965
19,303,282 17,955,745
Current liabilities mEAaE
Trade and other payables B 5 N H AR BRI 26 2,732,637 2,777,696
Bills payables ERERE 26 602,496 347,631
Contract liabilities aRaE 26 2,773,455 617,304
Dividends payable JFETAR A 936,000 6,240,000
Lease liabilities HEAaE 27 570 553
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries R IE B NG ¢ 24 47,581 47,582
Taxation payable FESFLIR 870,454 723,426
Bank borrowings RITEE 28
— amount due within one year ——FRB|E A 1,814,902 923,077
9,778,095 11,677,269
Net current assets mEEEFEE 9,525,187 6,278,476
Total assets less current liabilities BEMABEBLBAE 20,043,690 14,698,646
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBMRRR
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Notes HK$’°000 HK$’000
ihEs FET FHT
Non-current liabilities ERHEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 27 1,623 1,771
Deferred tax liabilities RIEMIERE 19 76,943 78,095
Bank borrowings HRITEHE 28
— amount due after one year —— BB E 7 RIE 900,000 230,769
978,566 310,635
19,065,124 14,388,011
Capital and reserves RS 2 G
Share capital &N 29 312,000 312,000
Reserves & 18,726,483 14,021,065
Equity attributable to RARFHFE AEIGER
owners of the Company 19,038,483 14,333,065
Non-controlling interests eI AE = 26,641 54,946
Total equity BARIBEE 19,065,124 14,388,011

The consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 213 were approved EEER_ZT-__F= A+ N \HEHEREE
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18 March 2022 and are T E6AE 213 2 i3 6 W K RE - W T3

signed on its behalf by: EERREE
Cheung Kwok Wa Cheung Kwok Keung
REE REIR
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
BEFE BFE
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZE T - —F+_-A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

NN (i
Share-
Property  Investment hased Non-
Share Share  Translation  revaluation  revaluaton  payments  Specil  Statutoy  Goodwil  Refained controling Total

capital  premium TeSeve  feseve  feSeve  feSeve  reseve reSene  Tesene profts ~ Sub-fotal  interests equity
WEEM  REEf  RAWA
RE RiEE  EXEE it BE  NYEE RARE ATEE  BEER  REE G FERER  ERLE
HKG000  HKS000  HKS0O0  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKSOO0  HKSO000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HK$000
TRr TR AT TEr  TEn TR TR TR TEr AL TEn TR A
Note30) ~ (Noted) ~ (Notea)  (Noteb)
(W) (ed) () (Wib)

Balanceat 1 January 2020  H-E-FE

—A-B7i8 308100 1,711,849 (100,959) 7208 137,180 96,600 757689 708053 251384 14824243 18,701,422 47,657 18,749,079
Protfo the year KEERT - - - - - - - - - 2802885 2802885 5005 2,807,980
Bxchange differences RTEZEHE
aising fiom rangaton to Wézmiﬁﬁ
presentation currency - - 1054458 - - - - - - - 1054458 33716 1,057,834

Falr vaus loss on equity BATEHALD
Instruments  fa value 2ENR7ER
through other comprehensie  TE7 ATESE

income - - - - (6918) - - - - - (6,918) - (6,918)
Fair value loss on debt RATEA
instruments at fai value A2 ENEL
through other comprehensie BT A7 AFE
income BiE - - - - (61,625) - - - - - (61,625 - (61,625)
Reclassify to profit orloss upon I ERATFEHA
dlisposal of bt instruments B2 EEZ
atfarvalethoughother - EETAMEH
comprehensive incore HEDER - - - - (ense) - - - - - (BT - [BTse)
Total comprehensive income~ AEEE B2 ERA
ossorreer  (54)8E - - 1054458 - (56210 - - - - 28085 NLIR 84T 37096
Issugof newshares o~ RfT(ERRE
exercise of share options mETHRG 3900 419919 - - - (96,609 - - - -0 -0
Dividends paid to BREARER RS
non-controling interests - - - - - - - - - - - (1,182 (1182
Final dhidend paid for the year 2EE-E-A1%
ended 31 December 2019 +=fA=1-A
(Note 12) FERZRERE
(W&12) - - - - - - - - - (9243000 (924,300) - [9430)
Specialfaldvidend paid ~~ BREZ-F-1E
forthe year ended t2A=1-4
31 December 2019 JﬁEZ%FJ‘JW
Note 12 Mﬁm) - - - - - - - - - (2400 (1232400 - (1222400
Interim vidend payable ﬁétx_ St
forthe year ended tA=t- E
31 December 2020 EEZHERE
Note 12 (12) - - - - - - - - - BRIy 31200 - B0
Specidlinterim didend ~ EREE-F-3%
payablefortheyearended  +Z A=+
31 December 2020 HEEZRIRE
Note 12) RE(H12) - - - - - - - - - (6,928000) (5928,000) - (6,928,000
Transfer to reserve BRTEE - - - - - - - 3615%9 - [%1539) - - -
3900 419919 - - - e - 3159 - RTRZY G090 (118 BOT0ET)
Balance at 31 December 2020 #-F-F5+-3
“+-HrER 312000 2,131,768 953,505 7268 19,030 - 757689 1069592 251384 8,868,889 14,333,065 54946 14,388,011
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REERBER

Attributable to owners of the Company

EEEERERERQT

RARREARERS
Property  Investment Non-
Share Share Translation revaluation revaluation ~ Special  Statutory  Goodwill  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium feSerVe  reserve  reserve  reserve  resewe  reserve profits  Sub-total interests equity
NEERE  REER
ke  ROEE EXEE e e WhRE iERE HERE  AEEA Nt kEREE  EREE
HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$000  HKJ000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000
TER TEn TER TEn TEn TEn Thn Thn Thn Thn Tin T
(Noted) ~ (Notea)  (Notebh)
(Wikd) (W) (D)
Balance at 1 January 2021 i
—-A-BEH 312000 2,131,768 953,505 7,268 (19030) 757,689  1,069592 251,384 868,889 14,333,065 54946 14,388,011
Proft for the year 1@@ }i#lﬂ - = = = = = - = 61781 )656 61781 )656 1)823 61783)479
Bchangediferences arsng B EZ2HEH
from translation to fEEzERER
presentation curency - - 560867 - - - - - - 560867 754 561,621
Fair vale loss on debt instuments AT A&t
at far value through other ENECERIR
comprehensive income JLTEER - - - - (t21610) - - - - (121610) - (121610)
Redlassifyto profit orloss upon ~ RHERATEFA
clisposal of et instruments — E2EUEZER
at far value through other TAMENAE
comprehensive income ZR% - - - - (25,022) - - - - (25,022) - (25,022)
Total comprehensive income~ AEEEMZERA
(expense) for the year (%it)es - - 56067 - (1466%) - - - 678165 7,195,891 2511 7,198,468
Dividends paid to BHFEARER RS
non-controing interests - - - - - - - = = - (138 (13%)
Final dhidend paid for heyer ~ RRTEZE-Z-F%
ended 31 December 2020 t-B=+-8
(Note 12) IFER KBRS
(F12) - - - - - - - - (1,092,000 (1092000 - [1092000)
Specil final dhidend paid BREE-E%E
for the year ended tZA=t-H
31 Decemoer 2020 Note 1) | 24401
TR& (3k12) - = = = = = = - (468,000)  (468,000) - (468,000)
Interim cividend payable ENEE-5--F
for the year ended tZA=1-A
31 December 2021 (Note 12) ~ [FEE 7 HRE
(t12) - - - - - - - - (936,000  (936,000) - (936,000)
Acquisttion of additonal YE-EHBLRZ
inerests in a subsidiary EONER (i)
Note = = = = = = - 5 - BT (E) (4000
Translerto reserve BEZGE - - - - - - 519258 - (619,259 = = -
- - - - - - 923 5ET (0525 (40479 (3088 (25215
Balance at 31 December 2021 WZF--%12F
—T-BuiR 312000 2,131,768 1,514,372 7268 (165062 757,080 1,568845 256911 12,635202 19,038,483 26,641 19,065,124
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

Notes:

Statutory reserve comprises statutory fund, which is non-distributable, and
represents capitalisation of retained profits of certain subsidiaries established in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) for capital re-investment in these subsidiaries
and funds shall be used to (i) make up prior year losses or (i) expand production
operations.

Goodwill reserve represents the effect of changes in ownership in certain subsidiaries
when there is no change in control.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group acquired additional interests
in a non-wholly owned subsidiary from a non-controlling shareholder. As a result
of the acquisition, the difference of HK$5,527,000 between the consideration
paid HK$24,000,000 and the amount of non-controlling interests acquired of
HK$29,527,000 was directly recognised as equity in the goodwill reserve.

Special reserve of the Group represents (i) the difference between the net asset
value of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued for the acquisition at the time of the group reorganisation in 2006; and (i) the
reduction in the registered capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary established in the
PRC.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T = —F+-A=+—HILFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
NOTE HK$’000 HK$’000
ihEs FHET FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETE
Profit before taxation MRELAD = A 8,386,915 3,662,665
Adjustments for: FEE -
Depreciation of property, M - BERERETE
plant and equipment 717,912 580,950
(Gain) loss on fair value changes of EATERAERZS
equity instruments at fair value through TR A FE
profit or loss g (=) EE (15,713) 95,723
Interest expenses FMBEFHX 80,665 76,634
Write-down (reversal of write-down) TFERUR (HUR B [E])
of inventories 321,767 (75,221)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 14,800 13,888
Gain on disposal of debt instruments HERAFET AHA
at fair value through other rEKEZEBEIAEZ
comprehensive income Uz (25,022) (87,667)
Net impairment loss recognised (reversed) LB 5 eI BR FRERR (4 (E)
on trade receivables 2R EEEERE 63,809 (58,831)
Interest income on bank balances and RITEBRRIEE 2
deposits FEUA (22,388) (34,420)
Loss (gain) on disposal and written off HERMEDE  BER
of property, plant and equipment B2 R (Es) 20,749 (2,439)
Loss on fair value changes of REYENTFEEZEZ
investment properties 518 - 742
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE B AR 2 W 31 - (27,642)
Operating cash flows before movements BIEESEEAIZ
in working capital KERERE 9,543,494 4,144,382
(Increase) decrease in inventories FEOEM)ED (1,179,876) 253,270
Increase in trade and other receivables 2 5 R EMEWRR R
and prepayments TR FRIBIE AN (1,847,875) (230,882)
Increase in bills receivables FEUTZ HE 15 (628,292) (5609,612)
Decrease in properties held for development 1535 E ¥ 2R 8,387 139,027
Decrease (increase) in equity instruments RN EF B ERT A
at fair value through profit or loss A (3E ) 32,697 (784,576)
Decrease in debt instruments at fair value A EGF AR 2R
through other comprehensive income BT AR 9,563 59,775
Increase in amounts due from fellow subsidiaries & Y [7] Z2 B B A 1 ZIEE AN (261,322) (291,389)
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 REMERERTRD (135,617) (209,951)
Increase in bills payables FERTZEIE3E N 237,986 43,497
Increase in contract liabilities BHaEEm 2,105,374 527,442
Decrease in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries &1 [ B 8 A 7 ZIER (1,379) (2,177)
Cash generated from operations KEEFEIR® 7,883,140 3,138,806
Other income tax refunded ERHEAMATEN 1,681 1,119
Other income tax paid ESEHAMATSH (1,814) -
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) paid BB g AT
([ EHb3EERL ) (130,416) (233,168)
PRC Enterprise Tax (“EIT”) paid BB EMEH
([{eEEmEH ) (1,359,866) (620,683)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid BEHE B (8,457) (7,907)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES & EEFiBRE R 6,384,268 2,278,167
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GLERETRER
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ECEF
NOTE HK$’000 HK$’000
{hEs FET FHET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETH
Proceeds from disposal of equity instruments &R AT (EE AEBZE
at fair value through profit or loss e T AR5 FIE 1,338,133 1,530,767
Proceeds from disposal or on maturity of 8 (3 8 e A BT A
debt instruments at fair value through HEthzmkm s ERTA
other comprehensive income FriS 308 584,763 3,885,673
Interest received B UFLE 22,388 34,420
Proceeds from disposal of property, k= %% R K =& s P s
plant and equipment g 11,347 37,685
Purchase of equity instruments at fair value BEZATEFABRZ
through profit or loss BT A (2,109,153) (1,325,867)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE  WENEE (1,126,613) (597,496)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, BEWE  BEIREZ
plant and equipment [EANEHEA (863,417) (97,201)
Payments for right-of-use assets CRAEEENR (101,526) (36,359)
Purchase of debt instruments at fair value BERAFESAEMER
through other comprehensive income Wz B TA (71,019) (416,218)
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary & —fE B A B TS E 31 - 223,870
Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use assets &5 FAREE E TS A - 59,607
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTING  R&EE(Fr ) BRESE
ACTIVITIES (2,315,097) 3,298,881
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
New bank borrowings raised LR ITEE 6,823,390 509,088
Dividends paid on ordinary shares BT @HQHQ 2 (7,800,000) (2,156,700)
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITIEE (5,262,334) (2,300,506)
Interest paid BEAFE (94,714) (87,512)
Consideration paid for acquisition of U B — RSB B A R BB IME RS
additional interests in a subsidiary szt 2 1B (8,000) -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests AT IR R 2 AR (1,355) (1,182)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEEE (556) (651)
Proceeds from exercise of share options ITEREA TSR - 327,210
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING METEBTARESFE
ACTIVITIES (6,343,569) (8,710,153)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE INCASH ~ B&RESZEW(HD)
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 140 R 58 (2,274,398) 1,866,895
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRZESRRESEEY
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 4,909,965 2,908,117
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EREEHTE
RATE CHANGES 229,322 134,953
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATTHE S£XzHERBEEZEY -
END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTING BRITHEBRREAES
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 2,864,889 4,909,965
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mE M BRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T = —F+-A=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL

Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated and registered as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman lIslands and its shares are listed on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its immediate parent company is Jamplan (BVI) Limited.,
a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and
in the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”), its
ultimate holding company is Kingboard Holdings Limited (“KHL”), an
exempted limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with its shares also listed on the Mainboard of the Stock Exchange.
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 41.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which is different from the Company’s functional
currency of Renminbi (‘RMB”), the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Company operates. However, because the
Company’s shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, where most
of its investors are located in Hong Kong, therefore the Directors
considered it is more relevant convenient for the users of the
consolidated financial statements.
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR mRMEE
APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 2. ERAKREIZEBBK
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING FAERER ([ FBBEH
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AR |

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

RAFECBFERZEBIT 2
BB RER

RAEE  AREREWEBAR (58
[(AEEDCEREREEEHOAE
([BEEFMAgE EMEER-F
——F— A ARG 2 FEHE
SR FIAEMH RIA T 2 RIERT BB H
WER - DARBUR S MR -

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions EAI R BBRER| MR EE
F169 (BETK) HeRHe

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform BBI I EBRER|FEE - FRE N E

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, - Phase 2 EBGITERZE395 - -E&

HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the IFRS
Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”) of the International
Accounting Standards Board issued in June 2021 which clarified the
costs an entity should include as “estimated costs necessary to make
the sale” when determining the net realisable value of inventories.

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR M

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 “Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform - Phase 2”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments relate to changes in the basis for
determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets, financial
liabilities and lease liabilities as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform, specific hedge accounting requirements and the related
disclosure requirements applying HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments:
Disclosures” (“HKFRS 77).

As at 1 January 2021, the Group has several financial liabilities, the
interests of which are indexed to benchmark rates that will or may be
subject to interest rate benchmark reform. The following table shows
the total amounts of these outstanding contracts. The amounts of
financial liabilities are shown at their carrying amounts are shown at
their notional amounts.

Bank borrowings RITIE

2.

EEEERERERQT

A
)h.

T2
Al([ &
MJ(%)

RAFECBFERZEBT 2
BN RRER (@)
BRMBRBEEFR FBEHE
RIZE39%% » BRMBRREAETSR
BERMBRBEENFIFREBUESR
BEAF16H (TR FRIREENR
E-F_RRIzwE
REBRKTFEERERZSERTAR
ZEFT S EANEEERE MR EETE
TREE RABNHESNZRS
MERYE - RFELHPEERE RARE
REBMBRBERE7HR SR TA
WE|([EEMERRERNETHR ) AR
FBEE -
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W
~—~anp

B

- S
i st 3
i
o
o I
T i
B

\

RZZEZ—F—A—H X5E#HEH
TEormaE  HF S HEk a7
R ELAEDN S EEF K /ML o RS
THEREBEENZERE - ZELHE
ESRIRRMENE

Hong Kong Dollars
Hong Kong
Interbank
Offered Rate
(“HIBOR”)*
BILEBRIT
B %
(IBEBRT
R/
HK$'000
FET

1,153,846

The amendments have had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements as none of the relevant contracts has been transitioned
to the relevant replacement rates during the year. The Group will
apply the practical expedient in relation to the changes in contractual
cash flows resulting from the interest rate benchmark reform for bank
borrowings measured at amortised cost. Additional disclosures as
required by HKFRS 7 are set out in note 33.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year (continued)

Impacts on application of the agenda decision of the
Committee - Costs necessary to sell inventories (HKAS 2
“Inventories” (“HKAS 2”))

In June 2021, the Committee, through its agenda decision, clarified
the costs an entity should include as “estimated costs necessary
to make the sale” when determining the net realisable value of
inventories. In particular, whether such costs should be limited to
those that are incremental to the sale. The Committee concluded that
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale should not be limited
to those that are incremental but should also include costs that an
entity must incur to sell its inventories including those that are not
incremental to a particular sale.

The Group’s accounting policy prior to the Committee’s agenda
decision was to determine the net realisable value of inventories
taking into consideration incremental costs only. Upon application of
the Committee’s agenda decision, the Group changed its accounting
policy to determine the net realisable value of inventories taking into
consideration both incremental costs and other costs necessary
to sell inventories. The new accounting policy has been applied
retrospectively.

The application of the Committee’s agenda decision has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments?

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture*

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 20211

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)3

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies?
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates?®

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction?

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling

a Contract?

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-20202
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 2.
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)
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New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet CHEMGENRER T REE

effective (continued) IEBMERKRELNE)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021. 1 RZZE-—FMNA—HkZERABRZF
S ERR AR o

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. 2 MN-E-—_F—A—Ha\zERBZF
S ERR AR o

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. 3 R-TE-_=F— B ZERAZE
S EARE AR o

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined. 4 REFET BBz BRBR FEBRRE
W o

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the BTN X AT &EIEE] S8 B 15 B iR EE)

Directors anticipate that the application of all other new and SN - EEBFEHFERPTA M ET L& B

amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the BB ERRERNA] B g R T a s

consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future. IFEMBEREREBREATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

PR M

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current” and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the
assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-
current, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the
end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months; and

(ii) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met at
the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does
not test compliance until a later date.

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the
entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only if the entity
recognises the option separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a consequence
of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the corresponding wordings
with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2021,
the application of the amendments will not result in reclassification of
the Group’s liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (continued)
Amendments to HKAS 12 “Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction”

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition exemption
of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in paragraphs 15
and 24 of HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” (“HKAS 12”) so that it no longer
applies to transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.

As disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, for
leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to
the relevant assets and liabilities separately. Temporary differences
on initial recognition of the relevant assets and liabilities are not
recognised due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will recognise a
deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary difference
can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all deductible and
taxable temporary differences associated with the right-of-use assets
and the lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023, with early application permitted. As at
31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities which are subject to the amendments amounted
to HK$2,085,000 and HK$2,193,000 respectively. The Group is
still in the process of assessing the full impact of the application
of the amendments. The cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments will be recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits at the beginning of the earliest comparative
period presented.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

2.

C M8 0B 1] R 4 2 ¥ 8T R AE 1S
R EBM R RER ()
BAGTREAE125 (BT A ) [ BRBE—
REEENEEREERBNIELH
=l
REERABEBRB G ERFE 125
[FrEf (BB G ERIE125E )15
R2ABIRIER R BR MR E R IR B E /)

REeHE - EETBERNENS
HER S E A AR F ) BRI A RN E B
HEEBNRS e

FINER A B FS R M FESPTINEE - BN
BEHRFENHERRZHEERSM
5 AEREAGHERE12R AT
DRIERNEREEERAE - HRER
ipkER#H % MTEERBREER
BERVIETERR 2 TR E5 -

REMZFERIAE  AKEKERT
BiIAE B (e FE sR T s 1R A] BE 1R AR 1F
BB MBERER AW AE) &
MEEREEERHERBERBNMAE
AT HIR N 8 AR B B 22 B R R R ST IR
BfE-

ZEBFARZE=ZF—A—RA%Z
%EB s FERSHEER - WasH
BRER RNZE-—F+=-fA=+—
A IRSEITATENTERAEEER
HMEABZEEE 5 A2,085000/%
JL 122,193,000/ 7T © AE @S
ERZESETAZ2EFE - BXER
FACHENGEY 23 Ry ey
&P E AR AR TR Vs E A
o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for investment properties
and certain financial instruments, that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS 16”), and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36

“Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset

in its highest and best use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (continued)

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair values in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so
that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equal the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the

Company:
° has power over the investee;
° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the

Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between the members
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s equity and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries.

Any difference between the amounts by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

EEHEEBERERBRLF

GEUMBRRERERE
REESFHEER

3.2

FEEHBER®E)
FERBEEE(E)

WEFRE  BEAMBATZE
BMAMEHFE - NRERE SR
BREAEESTREER—
B o

BRAKEKRERRER S
BRBEARREZEENEE
WA FXEREREE
RiFAREB R 2 -

T A B IR R s B S AR
SEPERY - ERRBRES
s BEARBULBENER
B R RIBERRIRLHIDIEEE
HE -

AEEREERE L 5] s
28

(PRSI SEPNGIE0E: Sl
W EEHAEBREN B AR
ZHE - BISIRARAR S - &
SEEANRRESAR N &
SHEREmmRE ERCRHE
AR BRELHO T X RIH A BbE 2

IR R E S RED
HE WK BN R FEREFERE
BEERNRENERLEBNAA
AIFAA -

B —FFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

(continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The
fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a

joint venture.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment

losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”")
(or groups of CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest level
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management

purpose and not larger than an operating segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to other assets of
the unit on a pro rata basis on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within
the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss
on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation within
the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of
goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative
values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed of and the
portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUS) retained.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset

with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Rental income from property investment will be accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16, whereas dividend income
and interest income from investments will be accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of
the value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the
time value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group
with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract
contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the
promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or
implied by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the
contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer
of the associated goods, properties or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the transaction price for any significant finance
component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Existence of significant financing component (continued)

For advance payments received from customers before
the transfer of the associated goods, properties or services
in which the Group adjusts for the promised amount of
consideration for a significant financing component, the Group
applies a discount rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the Group and the customer at
contract inception. The relevant interest expenses during the
period between the advance payments were received and the
transfer of the associated goods and services are accounted
for on the same basis as other borrowing costs.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value,
adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Investment properties (continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Properties held for development

Properties held for development which are intended to
be sold upon completion of development are classified
as current assets. Except for the leasehold land element
which is measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties held for
development are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a specific identification basis
including allocation of the related development expenditure
incurred and where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
the properties less estimated cost to completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the
sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale
and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to
make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost of inventories are determined on a weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs
of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur
to make the sale.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purpose (other than property, plant and
equipment under construction as described below). Property,
plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses,
if any.

Property, plant and equipment in the course of construction
for production, supply or administrative purposes are carried
at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include
any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial position except for
those that are classified and accounted for as investment
properties under the fair value model.

Artwork are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. No
depreciation is provided as the artwork are held primarily for
office aesthetics with no intention to sell and are high value
paintings, with indefinite useful lives and estimated residual
values of not less than their costs.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
(other than artwork and property, plant and equipment under
construction) less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which
the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The recoverable amount is determined for the CGU or
group of CGUs to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant CGU or
group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets other than goodwill (continued)
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group
of CGUs. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU or
a group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition
of ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless
such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of office properties that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group

in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties
and measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets (continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position. Right-
of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property
or inventory are presented within “investment properties” and

“properties held for development” respectively.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily

determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed

payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the

commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under

residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is

reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to

terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by

interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)

whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

3.

PR M

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is
classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease agreement. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except
for investment properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which is derived from the Group’s ordinary

course of business are presented as revenue.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided

through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating
to the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new

lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the
Group’s net assets in RMB, to the Group’s presentation
currency (i.e. HK$) are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in translation
reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the
translation reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss
subsequently.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sales, are added to the cost
of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the
related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included
in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation
rate on general borrowings. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income, gains and losses”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries and annual leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments

Share options granted to the Directors and employees of the
Group

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair value
of the equity instruments at the grant date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)
Equity-settled share-based payments (continued)

Share options granted to the Directors and employees of the

Group (continued)

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share-based payments

reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss,
such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to share-based payments
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the date of
grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed

immediately to profit or loss.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in the share-based payments reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share

options reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group'’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. Temporary differences on initial recognition
of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
not recognised due to application of the initial recognition
exemption. Temporary differences arising from subsequent
revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to
initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
the group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers”
(“HKFRS 15”). Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income from debt instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) and dividend income
from equity instruments at FVTOCI which are derived from
the Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as
revenue. Interest income from bank balances and deposits
are included in other income, gains and losses.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and

collecting contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business

Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of

selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of

short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as

a hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt instruments
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-

impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)
(ii) Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt
instruments classified as at FVTOCI as a result of
interest income calculated using the effective interest
method, and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss. All other changes
in the carrying amount of these debt instruments
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated under the heading of investment
revaluation reserve. Impairment allowances are
recognised in profit or loss with corresponding
adjustment to other comprehensive income without
reducing the carrying amounts of these debt
instruments. The amounts that are recognised in
profit or loss are the same as the amounts that would
have been recognised in profit or loss if these debt
instruments had been measured at amortised cost.
When these debt instruments are derecognised, the
cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit

or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTI NG POLlCI ES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

(iii) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI, are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss
will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal
of the equity investments, and will be transferred to

retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the
Group’s right to receive the dividends is established,
unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of

part of the cost of the investment.

(iv) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated

as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in “Gain (loss) on fair value changes of equity

instrument at FVTPL”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade
and other receivables, debt instruments at FVTOCI, amounts
due from fellow subsidiaries, bills receivables and bank
balances) and financial guarantee contracts which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”)
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on those assets are assessed
individually and/or collectively with appropriate groupings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a

default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without

undue cost or effort.
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

GEUMBRRERERE
REESFHEER

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 FESHHBEW®B)
Financial instruments (continued) S@MIAE)
Financial assets (continued) THEEE)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (continued) SREELREMEBE ZREGE)
() Significant increase in credit risk (continued) 0} EERBEELINE)
In particular, the following information is taken into BEEmsS  AilHEE

account when assessing whether credit risk has [BL b B 7 R I N

increased significantly: BLATEE

. an actual or expected significant deterioration & ®h T A HhEB
in the financial instrument’s external (if (B )skNEE
available) or internal credit rating; B RMERK
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significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information

that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default,
(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and (i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating
of ‘investment grade’ as per globally understood

definitions.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of initial
recognition for the purposes of assessing impairment.
In assessing whether there has been a significant
increase in the credit risk since initial recognition for
financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers
the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will

default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the

amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (continued)

(i)

(i)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (continued)

(V)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (continued)

W)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the
ECL is the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amounts that the Group expects to receive from
the holder, the debtor or any other party.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward-looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by the management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items (continued)
V) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost

of the financial asset.

Except for investments in debt instruments that
are measured at FVTOCI, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount,
with the exception of trade receivables, where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account. For investments in debt
instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, the loss
allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve without reducing the carrying amount of
these debt instruments. Such amount represents
the changes in the investment revaluation reserve in

relation to accumulated loss allowance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument
classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the investment revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit
or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLlCIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, bills
payables, amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and bank
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at
their fair values and are subsequently measured at the higher
of:

(i) the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

(ii) the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised over
the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POL'CIES (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows of a financial asset or financial liability to which the
amortised cost measurement applies as a result of interest
rate benchmark reform, the Group applies the practical
expedient to account for these changes by updating the
effective interest rate, such change in effective interest rate
normally has no significant effect on the carrying amount of
the relevant financial asset or financial liability.

A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows is required by interest rate benchmark reform if and only
if, both these conditions are met:

o the change is necessary as a direct consequence of
interest rate benchmark reform; and

° the new basis for determining the contractual cash
flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis
(i.e. the basis immediately preceding the change).

For other changes made to a financial asset or financial
liability in addition to changes to the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows required by interest rate benchmark
reform, the Group first applies the practical expedient to
the changes required by interest rate benchmark reform by
updating the effective interest rate. The Group then applies
the applicable requirements in HKFRS 9 on modification of
a financial asset or a financial liability (see accounting policy
above) to the additional changes to which the practical
expedient does not apply.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

B RS AR M

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Notes 14 and 19)
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets arising from investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios as at 31 December 2021, and concluded that
the Group’s investment properties located in the PRC with carrying
amounts of HK$324,635,000 (2020: HK$317,819,000) are held under
a business model which objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time,
rather than through sale. Therefore, the Directors have determined the
presumption that the carrying amounts of such investment properties
are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted. As a result, the Group
has not recognised deferred taxes on LAT in respect of changes in
fair value of such investment properties but has recognised deferred
tax on EIT on the assumption that these investment properties will be
recovered through use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MEE
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Notes 14 and 19)
(continued)

As at 31 December 2021, the investment properties located in
Hong Kong and the United Kingdom with carrying amounts of
HK$418,790,000 (2020: HK$418,790,000) and HK$697,834,000
(2020: HK$701,454,000) respectively are not held under a business
model with the objective of which is to recover the economic benefits
of the investment properties entirely through use. No deferred tax
is recognised in respect of the fair value change in such investment
properties as the Group is not subject to any income taxes on
disposal of investment properties in Hong Kong. The Group is subject
to Capital Gains Tax on disposal of investment properties in the
United Kingdom. No deferred tax is recognised in respect of the fair
value change in such investment properties located in the United
Kingdom as the amount is insignificant.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

Allowance for inventories (Note 21)

In determining the net realisable value of the Group’s inventories, the
management considers the fluctuations in price, the balance on hand
relative to sales prospect and the condition of the inventories and
estimate the net realisable value of inventories based on estimated
selling prices and market condition to the extent that such condition
exists at the end of reporting period, less the estimated cost of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Where the net
realisable value is less than the carrying amount, impairment loss will
arise. Write-down of HK$321,767,000 (2020: reversal of allowance of
HK$75,221,000) on inventories has been recognised in the profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2021. As at 31 December
2021, the carrying amount of inventories was HK$2,653,835,000
(2020: HK$1,739,106,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MEE
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
ECL for trade receivables (Notes 22 and 33)

Trade receivables that are credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually, the remaining trade receivables are assessed collectively
based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to the
Group’s internal credit ratings. The estimated loss rates are estimated
based on historical observed default rates over the expected life of
the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. At every reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered.

The ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about
the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in notes 33
and 22 respectively.

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of trade receivables
was HK$5,582,073,000 (2020: HK$3,911,704,000), net of allowance
for credit losses of HK$661,595,000 (2020: HK$579,750,000).

Estimated net realisable value on properties held for
development (Note 23)

In determining whether write down should be made to the Group’s
properties held for development, the Group determined the net
realisable value of the properties held for development by reference to
the estimated selling price less estimated costs to completion of the
properties and costs necessary to make the sale. The future selling
prices are estimated by reference to the recent selling prices of similar
properties in the same project or relevant locations. In addition, the
management estimated the future costs to complete the properties
held for development and costs necessary to make the sale by
reference to the actual development costs and selling expenses
incurred and the completion status. If the actual net realisable value
on properties held for development is less than expected as a result
of change in market conditions and/or significant variations in the
budgeted development cost, material write down may result. As
at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of properties held for
development was HK$1,460,556,000 (2020: HK$1,427,224,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MEE
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for financial
reporting purposes. The Directors have a designated team to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair
value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment properties,
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party
qualified valuer to perform the valuation of the Group’s investment
properties. At the end of each reporting period, the Directors work
closely with the qualified external valuer to establish and determine the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for Level 2 and Level 3
fair value measurements. The Group will first consider and adopt Level
2 inputs where inputs can be observable, other than quoted prices in
the active market. When Level 2 inputs are not available, the Group
will adopt valuation techniques that include Level 3 inputs. Where
there is a material change in the fair value of the assets, the causes of
the fluctuations will be reported to the Directors. Any changes in the
price per square meter in reference with recent transactions will affect
the fair value of the investment properties of the Group. Information
about the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the
fair value of the Group’s investment properties are disclosed in Note
14. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of investment
properties was HK$1,441,259,000 (2020: HK$1,438,063,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mER

R R

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes (continued)

In relying on the valuation report, the Directors have exercised their
judgement and are satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective
of the current market conditions. Whilst the Group considers
valuations of the Group’s investment properties are the best estimates,
the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in greater market
volatility depending on how the Covid-19 pandemic may progress and
evolve, which have led to higher degree of uncertainties in respect
of the valuations in the current year. Changes to these assumptions,
including the potential risk of any market violation, policy, geopoalitical
and social changes or other unexpected incidents as a result
of change in macroeconomic environment, travel restrictions
implemented by many countries, increased complexity in international
trade tensions geopolitics, changes in policy direction and/or
mortgage requirements, or other unexpected incidents would result
in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment properties and
the corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s equity instruments at FVTPL
and debt instruments at FVTOCI, the Group uses market-observable
data to the extent it is available. For listed equity securities classified as
equity instruments at FVTPL, the fair values of the listed securities are
determined by reference to the quoted market bid prices available.
For bond securities classified as debt instruments at FVTOCI, where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Directors assess the fair value
of the Group’s bond securities listed on the Stock Exchange and
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX”) based
on quoted prices over-the-counter markets at the end of each
reporting period. Where there is a material change in the fair value
of the equity instruments at FVTPL and debt instruments at FVTOCI,
the causes of the fluctuations will be reported to the Directors. The
fair value of the equity instruments at FVTOCI is insignificant as at
31 December 2021 (2020: insignificant). Notes 17, 18 and 33(c)
provides detailed information about the valuation techniques, inputs
and key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value
of the Group’s equity instruments at FVTPL and debt instruments
of FVTOCI. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of
equity instruments at FVTPL and debt instruments at FVTOCI were
HK$1,619,523,000 (2020: HK$865,487,000) and HK$115,054,000
(2020: HK$759,971,000) respectively.
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

5.

B RS AR M

REVENUE 5. X
Analysis of revenue for the year is as follows: FRESEFENDOWITAT
2021 2020
—E-—F TECTE
HK$’°000 HK$’'000
FH&T FET
Revenue recognised at a point in time R — B TER A & R
Sales of glass epoxy laminates HERAEBHEBINER 20,795,401 11,166,932
Sales of paper laminates HEABINAER 2,240,799 1,855,539
Sales of upstream materials (note a) e e (MisEa) 3,857,153 2,453,947
Sales of properties HEYH 592,273 683,986
Others (note b) H(KizEb) 1,100,421 889,537
Revenue recognised over time (note ¢) BERFE R & 2R (M 5Ece) 59,813 48,289
Revenue from contracts with customers BEA NS 28,645,860 17,098,230
Rental income (Note 35) AW A (H7E35) 70,838 65,789
Interest income from debt instruments BT AR SWA 37,918 125,888
Dividend income A& BUA 45,194 11,279
28,799,810 17,301,186
Notes: bz
@) Sales of upstream materials include sales of copper foil, epoxy resin, glass (@) LIRS RIEHEIE  REM
fabric and bleached kraft paper. The payment terms are ranged from O day B~ WIS AN AZEAREMR - M
to 120 days. PRABOZE120K °
(b) Others mainly includes sales of specialty resin of HK$775,778,000 (2020: (b) EMmETrZaEHEESEHERE
HK$517,300,000). 775,778,000 F ;T ( = T Z Z &F
517,300,000/ 7T) °
(© Revenue recognised over time represents income from hotel () BERF R ERR A S S B IR LIRS U A

accommodation of HK$59,813,000 (2020: income from drilling services of
HK$1,830,000 and income from hotel accommodation of HK$46,459,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B RS AR M

REVENUE (continued)

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of glass epoxy laminates,
paper laminates, upstream materials and specialty resin is recognised
at a point in time. Under the transfer-of-control approach in
HKFRS 15, revenue from these sales is recognised when customer
acceptance has been obtained, which is the point of time when
the customer has the ability to direct the use of these products and
obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of these products.

The revenue of the Group arising from sales of properties in the
ordinary course of business is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the respective properties.

Revenue from hotel accommodation is recognised over time, as
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs.

For revenue from service income from drilling services is recognised
over time, as the entity’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced.
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mER

R R

REVEN U E (continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with customers
Apart for sales of properties, all contracts have an original expected
duration of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations for sales of properties (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 and the expected timing of
recognising revenue are as follows:

CF 1

RETBERTEFENBRE
ENRZE®E

BRIHEMEIN - AR NRERFHY
B—EFHAT - BB B R RER
FISHFAAET - DEERFRTHELN
MR ZERTTRE

R-FB-_—FR-_FT_FTF+_A
=t—B HEMEIRERTEOE
EORER IO REZK) R HERE K
R EXEERENT

2021 2020

s T T

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE T FAxT

Within one year —FR 2,170,263 895,847
More than one year but not more than two years ~ —% A HB BB F 602,657 440,048
2,772,920 1,335,895

SEGMENT INFORMATION

HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” (“HKFRS 8”) requires operating
segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about
components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by Chief
Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) in order to allocate resources to
segments and to assess their performance. Specifically, the Group’s
reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are organised into three main
operating divisions — (i) manufacturing and sale of laminates; (ii)
properties; and (ji)) investments.

The accounting policies the Group used for segment reporting under
HKFRS 8 are the same as those used in its HKFRS consolidated
financial statements. Segment profit represents the profit earned by
each segment with certain items not included (unallocated corporate
income and expenses and finance costs). This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purpose of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EEHEEBERERBRLF

mEMBRRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (ontinueq) 6. DEBERw
(a) Segment revenue and results () PHEXBERES
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results BIELL KRRy EEln 2 KE
by operating and reportable segments: EEEEREEOTOT
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-ZE-—-f+=-A=+—H
IHEE
Laminates Properties  Investments Consolidated
BHER ES BE &E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000
TET TET THT FHEx
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
(GED)) (Bt aEb) (FzEe)
Segment revenue DEEEE 27,993,774 722,924 83,112 28,799,810
Segment results DEELE 8,116,680 320,693 118,022 8,555,395
Unallocated corporate income PN /NI ON 36,217
Unallocated corporate expenses & HEEZ AFIEH (124,032)
Finance costs B A (80,665)
Profit before taxation BEBR T 8,386,915
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued 6. DEER
(@) Segment revenue and results (continued) (a) oHEEBREESE
For the year ended 31 December 2020 Bz—E—-_FF+=-A=+—H
LHFE

Laminates Properties Investments  Consolidated
BIER S K& fRa
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET TR FET

(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢)

(Fifita) (BitiEb) (Bitixe)

Segment revenue DEERE 16,367,785 796,234 137,167 17,301,186
Segment results DEELE 3,310,550 356,339 126,438 3,793,327
Unallocated corporate income PN /NI ON 37,581

Unallocated corporate expenses KA ECZARXHE (91,609)
Finance costs BB (76,634)
Profit before taxation (EaEnhay il 3,662,665

Notes: PSE -

(@) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the (a) EEEHHERARBEHE
sales of glass epoxy laminates, paper laminates and upstream BiIER AEBWER - £
materials, income from drilling services, the sales of specialty resin R - RIS AR ES
and others into “Laminates” segment. HERFEAE R EMmE A

[BIMERIHEB -

(b) The management aggregated the revenue derived from the sales (b) EEEEDEHEE  DHRK
of properties, rental income and hotel income into “Properties” ARBERAEELHEER
segment because the financial performance of these businesses BRI EIDEF  BAR
are affected by changes in the property market. REEBHPBRRAEIUL

RYERBHEL

(© The management aggregated the revenue derived from the (0) EREEHEHFIAFSKA
interest income from debt instruments and dividend income from Rz T ARSI AEETE
equity instruments into “Investments” segment. AOFATRE |9 EB -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq)

(b)

Segment assets and liabilities
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by operating and reportable segments:

At 31 December 2021

Assets
Segment assets
Unallocated assets
- Deferred tax assets
- Taxation recoverable
- Bank balances and cash

Consolidated total assets

Liabilities
Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities
- Bank borrowings
- Deferred tax liabilities
— Taxation payable
- Dividends payable

Consolidated total liabilities

gE

NHEE

AN EE
—ERERAEE
— AR E IR
—RITEBRAS

HREERE

R

NEaE

Aoz afE
—RITHEE
—EERARE
— AR
— AR A

FRABRE

Laminates

BHER
HK$’000
THET

21,518,587

(3,518,203)

EEEERERERQT

DEER )

(b) DHEERER
INT ARG E N EBRDEE D2
REFEERBBZON

R-B-—-%+=-A=+—H

Properties  Investments Consolidated
LS RE =E
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TR THT TR

3,692,204 1,734,577 26,945,368
2,810
8,718

2,864,889

29,821,785

(2,640,159) - (6,158,362)
(2,714,902)
(76,943)
(870,454)
(936,000)

(10,756,661)

—FF R
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RENBHRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued 6. DEER
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (continued) b) SHBEERAEEBE®

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities AT Bl K BB R oy 8D 2

by operating and reportable segments: (continued) rEEEERBE 2D - (B)

At 31 December 2020 REBZEBHF+=ZHA=+—H

Laminates Properties Investments  Consolidated
BHER mE ®E Fae)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET FET FET
Assets &E
Segment assets DEEE 16,212,797 3,615,496 1,625,458 21,453,751
Unallocated assets AOBMZEE
- Deferred tax assets —EERBEE 3,190
— Taxation recoverable — A E IR 9,009
— Bank balances and cash —FITERERS 4,909,965
Consolidated total assets RAREERE 26,375,915
Liabilities af
Segment liabilities HEa’E (3,189,891) (602,646) - (3,792,537)
Unallocated liabilities ApEzafE
— Bank borrowings —fIIEE (1,153,846)
- Deferred tax liabilities —EEHEEE (78,095)
- Taxation payable —FEHTIE (723,426)
- Dividends payable — FERTRR A (6,240,000
Consolidated total liabilities TeafemE (11,987,904)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and DEFRIR N 7 EBE AR

allocating resources between segments: é/ﬁ :

. all assets are allocated to operating segments other o RIEERIBEEE AT
than deferred tax assets, taxation recoverable and B F B A RERTT &5 88 I
bank balances and cash; and ReIN MEEEHS

=g nE &

. all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other o RIRITIEE - BERIE
than bank borrowings, deferred tax liabilities, taxation BFE - EHBIIERERN
payable and dividends payable. EHIN - FrEEEHS

REEEH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (ontinued) 6. DEER
(c)  Other information (c) HtEHR
For the year ended 31 December 2021 gz —H+=-A=+—8
LHEE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or SFAD MBS D BB ETER
segment assets. BHEE o
Laminates Properties Investments Consolidated
BHER /S RE )
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000
TER TEx TER TEx
Capital additions BARIER 1,302,471 772 - 1,303,243
Depreciation of property, 0¥ BELREBZE
plant and equipment (705,048) (12,864) - (717,912)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  {f EEEITE (14,645) (155) - (14,800)
Gain on fair value changes of BRATEFABENER
equity instruments at FVTPL TEQFEEHRE - = 15,713 15,713
Gain on disposal of debt HERAFEFAZLEZEA
instruments at FVTOCI W mER T AKE - - 25,022 25,022
Loss on disposal and written off of & Rili#4% - BE Rk
property, plant and equipment RiEER (20,749) - - (20,749)
Write-down of inventories WREE (321,767) - - (321,767)
Net impairment loss recognised on  #t & 5 EUBR FHER 2
trade receivables REEEFE (63,809) = = (63,809)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq)

(c)

Other information (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2020

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or

segment assets.

Capital additions

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Loss on fair value changes of
equity instruments at FVTPL

Loss on fair value changes of
investment properties

Gain on disposal of debt
instruments at FVTOCI

Gain on disposal and written off of
property, plant and equipment

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

Reversal of write-down of
inventories

Net impairment loss reversed on
trade receivables

AR
n% - BERRHZTE

EREEERE
BAHER ARG
TARVEEDYES
REMELNTEED

ER
HERAFEFALLEZE
W BB T AR
HERMBME  BER

&t e
HE-RMBARZ ks
FERHED

RESRYCRFEE 2
REERFE

Laminates
EiRER
HK$'000

FAT

1,163,589

(567,245)
(10,760)

2,439

75,221

58,831

D EBE B )
(0 HttEs e

BE-_F-2F+-A=+—H

LHEE
FFADEERESS
BHEE o
Properties Investments
S ®E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
410 -
(13,454) (251)
(3,128) -
- (95,723)
(742) -
- 87,667
27,642 -

HEE

R

p=[113

Consolidated
i)
HK$'000
FET
1,163,999

(580,950)
(13,888)

(95,723)

(742)

87,667

2,439
27,642

75,221

58,831

The Group operates principally in the PRC (country of

domicile).

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from
external customers by geographical location of the customers
or tenants or in the case of dividend income and interest
income, the principal place of business of the investee or

debtor.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

(c)

EEEERERERQT

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (ontinued) 6. DEER
Other information (continued) (c) HibER(#)

2021 2020

—B-—F —TEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FAT

The PRC (country of domicile) A (FTEEISR) 26,666,134 16,034,691
Other foreign countries: HMBEK

Other Asian countries HAb MR 1,871,965 1,141,895

Europe M 144,357 88,899

America EM 117,354 35,701

28,799,810 17,301,186

Revenue from one of the Group’s customers in laminates
segment amounted to HK$4,856,648,000 (2020:
HK$2,703,185,000), which individually accounted for over

10% of the Group’s revenue for the year.

The geographical analysis of the Group’s non-current assets,
other than deferred tax assets, equity instruments at FVTPL
and debt instruments at FVTOCI by location of assets is

presented as follows:

KEAEEERBIR DB
EHF—ZXEFPMNEEREAR
4,856,648,0008 L (— T - F
4 : 2,708,185,000/8 7T ) * 1A
EEAFERNEEBEBERI10% o

BREEHIEBEEE  IAFEA
Bmiiga TARRAFEA
HitxEESEOEF LA - K
KESERBEEREEBI DN
Z5T

2021 2020

—E-—F TECTE

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FAT

The PRC (country of domicile) R (FTERIS) 7,874,357 6,332,370
Hong Kong BB 425,440 427,757
United Kingdom s 697,834 701,454
Thailand =H 236,866 255,585
9,234,497 7,717,166




KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HA - WEREBE

2021 2020
—E-—F TECTE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET

Other income, gains and losses includes: HAaA ~ Was REERIE
Government grants (Note) T ARG (PR EE) 56,491 55,531
Interest income on bank balances and deposits $R7T#&8A RIE S 2 A B U A 22,388 34,420

(Loss) gain on disposal and written off of HE M - BB &
property, plant and equipment B2 U518 s (20,749) 2,439
Others Hib 26,787 27,098
Total HEET 84,917 119,488
Note:  During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised Mz REE-—E-f&+-A=+—A1

government grants of HK$1,117,000 (2021: Nil) in respect of Covid-
19-related subsidies, of which HK$1,045,000 (2021: Nil) related to
Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong government.
The remaining government grants are related to unemployment insurance
premium refunds, import of high technology products, development
support and support for stabilising employment received by the Group
from relevant government departments. There are no unfulfiled conditions
attached to these grants.

FE AKEEREFTEHAE BN
BRAFEE1,117,0008 L (Z T =—fF :
) HPEEBBTRMETEEE
9 BT 4 BE 1,045,000 T ( —F = —
F ) RTHBUTHANAREEY
TRRABR AT S PIES A R R B IRE
EIFRITEREOLE  BEIIERE
TEELIR - R AT AZE/EH NG
IRERERRE ©

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. mERAK

2021 2020
—E-—fF —ECEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Interest on bank borrowings RITIEEF B 94,619 80,860
Imputed interest on contract liabilities ERAEZEENE 1,810 3,951
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEMNE 95 55

Less: Amounts capitalised in the construction i : 2 TI2HIE ML L %E
in progress (14,049) (4,281)

Amounts capitalised in the properties FTARERYEDN

held for development B2 (1,810) (3,951)
80,665 76,634

Bank and other borrowing costs capitalised during the year include FRNEBEMMEZRITREMEERK A
imputed interest on contract liabilities of HK$1,810,000 (2020: BEANBEZHERNE A1,810,000
HK$3,951,000) as well as, bank borrowing costs arising from the HIT (T T4 ¢ 3,951,000 7T) &
general borrowing pool which were calculated by applying a weighted —WEEMEE ZSRITEERAN - LA
average capitalisation rate of 1.87% (2020: 1.90%) per annum to BIRE E R S INAE 158 AN F R R
expenditure on qualifying assets. 1.87%(—E—F4F : 1,90%):1E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

EEEERERERQT

9. FIEHiRX

2021 2020
—E-—F TECTE
HK$’°000 HK$’'000
FET FET
The amount comprises: HIBEIE
PRC EIT PR EATER 1,295,764 680,114
PRC LAT A B+ S IR (E S 97,850 89,946
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEREH 14,463 5,040
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions Efth RLARER 2 118 17,489 4,541
Withholding tax in the PRC FRETE LR 178,642 78,152
1,604,208 857,793
Deferred taxation TEIEF IR
Credit for the year (Note 19) REERE(MEE19) (772) (3,108)
1,603,436 854,685

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on EIT (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax of 5% to 10% is
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by
subsidiaries in Mainland China from 1 January 2008 onwards.

Pursuant to the EIT Law of the PRC, a High-New Technology
Enterprise shall be entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15% for three
years since it was officially endorsed. Certain subsidiaries in the PRC
obtained official endorsement as a High-New Technology Enterprise
(“Tax Concession”) and with the expiry dates on or before 2023 (2020:
2022).

RBIPEARKMBEEMETE]
(TRERFAEPUE] RERIED - MmEF
ERHEMBARZERMERMEELS
25% °

RIBEEMBIE B-ETN\EF—A
— R - FAE B A E A B AR
B M) 7 P B IR B9 BB R 5 % = 10% Y
B ©

RIBEPEPEAERE BTt
EHEEEFRURZEAH =FW
15%HEER - ETHEMBAREE
FREABTEMEZE(BFER])
AT _ZFRIZA(ZE S
F 2T ZF)-

B —FFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

B RS AR M

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The provision of LAT is estimated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has
been levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, represented by the excess of sales
proceeds of properties over prescribed direct costs. Prescribed
direct costs are defined to include costs of land, development and
construction costs, as well as certain costs relating to the property
development. According to the State Administration of Taxation’s
official circulars, LAT shall be payable provisionally upon sales of
the properties, followed by final ascertainment of the gain at the
completion of the properties development.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The Directors considered the amount involved upon implementation
of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as insignificant to the
consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated
at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

the year ended 31 December 2020 were exempted from profits tax.

FEMBHwRRMEE
0. |NCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 9 Fﬁ ﬁFaﬁS‘Z ®)
Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before REEZFEHALEGEERREH
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: ANE A2 EERIT -
2021 2020
—E-—F TECTE
HK$’°000 HK$’'000
FH&T FET
Profit before taxation B AT ) 8,386,915 3,662,665
Tax charge at the domestic income tax rate of A B A2 TS H K 25%
25% (2020: 25%) (Note a) (ZZ=ZF : 25%)5T8 2
Bk (fifsta) 2,096,729 915,666
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax ~— NAEJFNF B B 2 BTS2
purpose 23,735 18,914
Tax effect of income not taxable for DARBW S 2 BB &
tax purpose (44,887) (95,784)
PRC LAT AR + IR E 97,850 89,946
Tax effect of PRC LAT B+ ER RS2 (24,462) (22,487)
Tax effect of Tax Concession MEEBEZHETE (699,036) (50,057)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised R ERHIEEE 2 HBETE 4,432 18,771
Utilisation of tax losses previously AT RERZBHIEEE
not recognised (5,774) (54,900)
Effect of withholding tax on dividend income ~ F1 BB A FREE AR S U A
from PRC subsidiaries EANERBZHETE 178,642 78,152
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries 13 I NI EE BRI -
operating in other jurisdictions/areas other RE A R AR R A
than the domestic income tax rate WBARZ TRME 2 & (23,673) (3,731)
Effect of tax exempted profit (Note b) Fiase 2 22 (Misko) - (39,805)
Effect of tax reduction B B (120) -
Income tax expense for the year AEE 2 BBHAS 1,603,436 854,685
Notes: B eE
(@) The domestic income tax rate of 25% (2020: 25%) represents the PRC EIT (@) NEEMESRBEBR(ZE=F
rate of which the Group’s operations are substantially based. F 1 25%) AANEEKE D EBEFIER
FREGEMERE -
(b) Profits arising from certain subsidiaries of the Company in Macau during (o) REEZZ-ZF+-A=+—HILF

E R ‘7&#‘@?‘12%?%% AR
B4 ZDRFERREANTIEH

——FFR



KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Nt E1 L
10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10. ERREF
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —ECEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Profit for the year has been arrived at after AN R B AR (BT A)
charging (crediting): LATIERE -
Auditor's remuneration ZEENEN & 3,750 3,750
Cost of inventories sold BEFEZHKE 18,418,873 12,372,691
Cost of properties sold EEME KA 241,022 271,134
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - EMREZITE 717,912 580,950
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 14,800 13,888
Less: capitalised in inventories W BRNMEEFEE (638,698) (516,873)
94,014 77,965
Direct operating expenses in relation to B EYERENEE L ERY
investment properties (included in cost of (BT ASHERA)
sales) 22,457 25,574
Net exchange loss [E 7 518558 40,286 95
Net impairment loss recognised (reversed) TE F AR (B ) #ER
on trade receivables BRI 55 63,809 (68,831)
Total staff costs, including directors’ ETKAERE  BIEEEHNE
emoluments (Note 11) (MI3E11) 1,098,671 853,155
Write-down (reversal of write-down) of FEMUR (MR =) -
inventories, included in cost of sales FEASHER A 321,767 (75,221)
11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 1. EE - THREIKREE
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS =%
(@) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments @ ESRTRAZMS
The emoluments paid or payable were as follows: Btk RER T B S T
2021 2020
—BE--fF —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Fees 1w 1,216 1,188
Other emoluments: Hibi< -
Salaries and other benefits e REAER 15,948 15,940
Contributions to retirement benefits RIREFIFEIH R
scheme 802 829
Performance related incentive payment TVERIRIGIEE A
(Note i) (Pt &) 142,699 73,400
160,665 91,357
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

11.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Chief Executive’s emoluments

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung is also the Chief Executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the Chief Executive.

Neither the Chief Executive nor any of the Directors has
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

Employees’ emoluments
For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, all of the
five highest paid employees are Directors.

During both years, no emoluments were received or receivable
by the Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

As disclosed in Note 40, the Group entered into purchase and
sale transactions with its ultimate holding company and its
fellow subsidiaries. The price is to be determined and agreed
between the parties from time to time with reference to the
prevailing market price. Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung
Kwok Keung, Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, Mr. Lam Ka Po and
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho, the executive Directors, are interested
in these transactions to the extent that they have indirect
beneficial interests in the fellow subsidiaries. In addition, Mr.
Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping and Mr. Lam Ka Po have interests in the ultimate
holding company.

Save for the aforementioned transactions, no other significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts to which the
Company or the Group was a party and in which a director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

i
[

(b)

(©)

(d)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

12. DIVIDENDS

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

12. K2

2021 2020
—E-—F —ECTF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FA&T
Dividends declared and/or paid BEEREHEIRERE
2021 Interim dividend of HK30.0 cents T FEZHRERE
(2020: HK10.0 cents) per ordinary share %I A% 30.0751(L
ZEFF 1 10.0588(l) 936,000 312,000
2020 Special interim dividend of —E-EFEERPHRE
HK190.0 cents per ordinary share TR%E A 190.078 1L = 5,928,000
2020 Final dividend of HK35.0 cents ZECTEE 2 REARE
(2019: HK30.0 cents) per ordinary share TR E @A 35.078 11l
(== — F4F : 30.0541) 1,092,000 924,300
2020 Special final dividend of HK15.0 cents —E-ETFEERIREARE
(2019: HK40.0 cents) per ordinary share %I A% 15.078(L
(=Z— A4 : 40.0511) 468,000 1,232,400
2,496,000 8,396,700
Dividends proposed EERE
Proposed 2021 Final dividend of HK120.0 BE_T - FRERE
cents (2020: HK35.0 cents) per ordinary BRI AAR120.081(L
share (ZZF=ZF : 35.080l) 3,744,000 1,092,000
Proposed 2020 Special final dividend of B T - TFEERIRER S
HK15.0 cents per ordinary share TR A% 15.078(L = 468,000
3,744,000 1,560,000
The final dividend of HK120.0 cents per ordinary share amounted to EEEFRHE_T-_—F+=8

HK$3,744,000,000 in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: final dividend of HK35.0 cents per ordinary share amounted
to HK$1,092,000,000 and special final dividend of HK15.0 cents per
ordinary share amounted to HK$468,000,000 in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2020) have been proposed by the Directors and
are subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company in the

forthcoming annual general meeting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

13.

The calculation of the basic and diluted eamings per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

EEHEEBERERBRLF

BRER

ARABEAANBIEERER R EERT

BT BIETE

2021 2020
—E-—F TECTE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Earnings for the purpose of calculating FrEESREARET 2 K
basic earnings per share (2020: basic (ZZ2=ZF : FRELRR
and diluted earnings per share) BERT]) 6,781,656 2,802,885
Number of shares
BRHOEE
2021 2020
—E-—F TECTE
’000 000
TR Fix
Weighted average number of ordinary shares A% £ 78 22 51| 7 3@ A% hn e
for the purpose of basic earnings per share SEHE 3,120,000 3,092,792
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares AisleiEs s ABTEEs
arising from share options B2 LBz B N/ATIE A 38
Weighted average number of ordinary shares SR ENE R T 2 L @R
for the purpose of diluted earnings per share  JN{EF 152k N/ATRE A 3,092,830
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

14, BEYE

HK$’000
FET

FAIR VALUE NEE
At 1 January 2020 RZZE-ZTF—HF—H 1,402,295
Exchange adjustments PE B 36,510
Loss on fair value changes N EZEEE (742)
At 31 December 2020 R-E-_ZEF+_-_A=+—H 1,438,063
Exchange adjustments P& 5, % 3,196
At 31 December 2021 R-EBE-_—F+=-_HA=+—H 1,441,259

The Group leases out various offices under operating leases with
rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for a fixed period of
1to 17 years (2020: 1 to 17 years).

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangement, as all leases are denominated in the respective
functional currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not
contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase
the property at the end of lease term.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 December
2021 and 2020 had been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried
out by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, an independent
qualified valuer not connected to the Group. Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.
The valuation was determined based on direct comparison method by
reference to the market observable transactions of similar properties
and adjusted to reflect conditions and locations of subject properties.
There has been no change from the valuation technique used in prior
years.

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties, the
management determines the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for fair value measurements.

The Group engages an independent valuer to perform its valuations.
The management works closely with the independent valuer
to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to
the model. The persons in charge of financial matters report the
management findings to the Directors every quarter to explain the
cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and liabilities.
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ma

14.

B RS AR M

EEHEEBERERBRLF

ﬁﬁﬁ%’ﬁ#ﬁ%%
TR - BIEHER
FRREREMEEE
= RHER  WE
E R

NE)EFTHRBIE N
FHFH KA 2448 E
43,0128 (— BT
41,2738 71 243,025/

JL) °

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. BREWE »
The Group’s investment properties were classified as Level 3 of the NEFKEMEN S - —FH _—_FT—
fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. EFE+_A=+—HYEAFE=HANF
BRERR -
The following table gives information about how the fair values TREINZEXEWHEANTLENETES
of these investment properties are determined (in particular, the SECE R AT G ERIT M AEUE)
valuation technique and inputs used), as well as the fair value bA&iﬁ@ﬂZ{EEJr%ﬁg-ﬁ)\;ﬂFm—jggﬁg
hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised FH‘V’“IHEJ%?% NE(GLRER R
(Level 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value (B—ZE=4) °
measurements is observable.
Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement Fair value Valuation techniques Significant
of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity
FEERAGEHMBMRRE  ATE
REZREME BERA REXMRIEOAEE EXTTEERAZE HEE
Hong Kong
6
Industrial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, A significant increase in
Hong Kong method based on using market direct the price per square metre
market observable comparable properties and  used would result in a
transactions of similar  taking into account location  significant increase in the
properties adjusted and other individual factors  fair value measurement of
timing of reference such as road frontage, size the investment properties,
transactions and of property etc., which is and vice versa.
property-specific ranged from HK$41,244
adjustments including  to HK$43,012 (2020:
adjusting factors for HK$41,273 to HK$43,025)
location and other per square metre.
individual factors such
as road frontage,
size of property and
facilities.
REBH LRYE B=A E%m%ﬁ% RET HATSEEATLEYER GFHRERKRE EAEE
EH%%MT%mx‘%EHEM&EMH%E BIREMENATEAEXN
CMBERGHNHE RE(NGEER  WEX BLA KRR

B —FFR
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
REERFEEHBMRRE
REZREME

Commercial properties
in Hong Kong

REBNEEDE

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Fair value
hierarchy
AFE
BERA

Level 3

F=H

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

EERTREEGARE

Direct comparison
method based on
market observable
transactions of similar
properties adjusted
timing of reference
transactions and
property-specific
adjustments including
adjusting factors for
location and other
individual factors such
as road frontage,

size of property and
facilities.

BERLLETTE  RIED
BRERMENAERER
% SBERXHHKHE]
EITHRE - AR
FERRE - IR
TR R R H A B A A
= MEEEER - ME
RREANE -

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

14. REWZR »

Significant
unobservable inputs

EXFUBRHAHE

Price per square metre,
using market direct
comparable properties and
taking into account location
and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size
of property etc., which is
ranged from HK$193,680
to HK$219,937 (2020:
HK$204,886 to
HK$207,906) per square
metre.

RATSEZRALENER

BN E AR EAERE
=& (MERHEBE - MEX
NE)VWFFEFKER N
F&F5£193,680/8 TLE
219,937 (=T 4F :
204,886/ 70 £ 207,906/
JT) e

Sensitivity

BRE

A significant increase in
the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the
fair value measurement of
the investment properties,
and vice versa.

¥ IRERKRE L 5E
HIREMEOH DN FEFEXR
fEE  RZIFA -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
REERFEHBMRRE
REZRENME

PRC

B

Commercial properties
in Shanghai

REBNEAYmE

Fair value
hierarchy
AFE
BERA

Level 3

F=H

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

EERTREEGARE

Direct comparison
method based on
market observable
transactions of similar
properties adjusted
timing of reference
transactions and
property-specific
adjustments including
adjusting factors for
location and other
individual factors such
as road frontage,

size of property and
facilities.

BERLLETTE  RIED
BRERMENAERER
% BERXHHKHE]
EITHRE - AR
FERRE - BIEHmER
R = N HoAh B A
= MEEEER - ME
RRIEANE

EEEERERERQT

14. REWZE @)

Significant
unobservable inputs

EXFUBRBAHE

Price per square metre,
using market direct
comparable properties and
taking into account location
and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size
of property etc., which is
ranged from RMB30,000
to RMB30,930 (2020:
RMB29,989 to RMB30,024)
per square metre.

RATMSEEATLEDER
EEMNE AR EAERIEE
% (INER TR - MR/
LINFFEFRERE - N T
I 5K AR®30,0007T
= ARKS30,930T(ZE =
T ARME29,08070F
AFR#30,0247T) °

Sensitivity

BRE

A significant increase in
the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the
fair value measurement of
the investment properties,
and vice versa.

¥ IRERKRE LTS
HIREMENH LN FEFEXR
fEE  RZIFA -
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A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
AEERGRRTBMRR R
REZRENE

Commercial properties
in Shenzhen

Q7SO RENERES

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Fair value
hierarchy
NFE
BE&A

Level 3

FE=R

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

HEXMREEGAYE

Direct comparison
method based on
market observable
transactions of similar
properties adjusted
timing of reference
transactions and
property-specific
adjustments including
adjusting factors for
location and other
individual factors such
as road frontage,

size of property and
facilities.

BRI - R
BERYENTHRR
5 - HBERSHEH
TR - iR
BB - BIEE
ALEE R BEESE
% - MEREEY - Wi
BARiEA/ NS -

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

14. REWZR »

Significant
unobservable inputs

EXATTRERARE

Price per square metre,
using market direct
comparable properties and
taking into account location
and other individual factors
such as road frontage, size
of property etc., which is
ranged from RMB14,982
to RMB15,800 (2020:
RMB14,846) per square
metre.

RATSERALEMER
ERAE AR EMEREZ=

% (UES A ER - MEXN
ZVNTFEFAKER NTF
HFHARAR14,9827T
= AR¥15,8000(ZZE =
=F : AR¥14,8467T) °

Sensitivity
RE

A significant increase in
the price per square metre
used would result in a
significant increase in the
fair value measurement of
the investment properties,
and vice versa.

ST IOKEGAE LTS
YRAMEONTEHBA
BT RZIMA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq) 14. BREWHE @)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement  Fair value Valuation techniques Significant
of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity
rEERGEHBMRRK  ATE
REZRENME BEAR HEAMRIERABE EXATTREGARE BRE
Commercial Shops in Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price
Qingyuan method based on market  market direct comparable per square metre used would
observable transactions of  properties and taking into result in a significant increase in
similar properties adjusted  account location and other the fair value measurement of
timing of reference individual factors such as the investment properties, and
transactions and property-  road frontage, size of property  vice versa.
specific adjustments etc., which is ranged from
including adjusting factors  RMB10,000 to RMB10,270
for location and other (2020: RMB9,584) per square
individual factors such metre.
as road frontage, size of
property and facilities.
BRI R E= BELETE  RET RATSEEALBDER SFHRERAREAKE

SERMENTRER
5 BBE R HHER
TR G
HERRE - BiEnE
ARRERE M EER
= - ERETEN - W2
BEHEANE -

ZEMNE AR EAMERIEZ
% (tER AR - MR/
ZLINFFEFKERE - N T
¥ KAR10,0007T
ZARE10,270T(ZFE =
TF : AR¥9,5847T) °

HIREMEH LN FEFEKR
fEEF  RZIFA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. Tﬁﬁq:@% &)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement  Fair value Valuation techniques Significant
of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity
rEERGEHMBMRK  ATE
REZREME HEAR HEAMRIERABE EATTREGARE BRE
Commercial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price
Jiangyin method based on market  market direct comparable per square metre used would
observable transactions of  properties and taking into result in a significant increase in
similar properties adjusted  account location and other the fair value measurement of
timing of reference individual factors such asroad  the investment properties, and
transactions and property-  frontage, size of property etc.,  vice versa.
specific adjustments which is ranged from RMB6,000
including adjusting factors  to RMB6,138 (2020: RMB5,941
for location and other to RMB6,000) per square metre.
individual factors such
as road frontage, size of
property and facilities.
AR RSN/ ES B=R BELETE  RET RATSEEALBMER SFHRERAREAKE

ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. Tﬁﬁq:@% &)

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement  Fair value Valuation techniques Significant
of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity
rEERGEHBMRRK  ATE
REZRENME BEAR HEAMRIERABE EXATTREGARE BRE
Commercial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison Price per square metre, using A significant increase in the price
Kunshan method based on market  market direct comparable per square metre used would
observable transactions of  properties and taking into result in a significant increase in
similar properties adjusted  account location and other the fair value measurement of
timing of reference individual factors such asroad  the investment properties, and
transactions and property-  frontage, size of property etc.,  vice versa.
specific adjustments which is ranged from RMB6,957
including adjusting factors  to RMB7,337 (2020: RMB7,222
for location and other to RMBY7,333) per square metre.
individual factors such
as road frontage, size of
property and facilities.
REILEEAmE B=M BELETE  RET RATSEEALBDER SFHRERAREAKE

SERMENTRER
5 BBE R HHER
TR G
HERRE - BiEnE
ARRERE M EER
= - ERETEN - W2
BEHEANE -

ZEMNE AR EAMERIEZ
1% (AESHEEE - RN
SIYNTFTRER  NF
BEHRKARKE,957TE
ARB73370(ZZE =%
£ A\RB7222TE AR
#7,3337T) °

HIREMEH LN FEFEKR
fEEF  RZIFA -
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A I IRARMIEE

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
REERFEEHBMRRE
REZREME

United Kingdom
S

Commercial properties in
London

N GEZ GOTE)EEUE S

Fair value
hierarchy
AFE
BERA

Level 3

F=H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq)

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

EERTREEGARE

Direct comparison
method based on market
observable transactions of
similar properties adjusted
timing of reference
transactions and property-
specific adjustments
including adjusting factors
for location and other
individual factors such

as road frontage, size of
property and facilities.

BERLLETTE  RIEW
BRRAMENAERER
% SBER SR
EITHRE - AR
FERRE - iR
TR R N HAh B A
= MEEHEER - ME
REBEANE -

There was no transfer into or out of Level 3 during the year.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured
using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties. In estimating the fair value of the properties,

the highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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14. REWZE @)

Significant
unobservable inputs

EXFUBRHAHE

Price per square metre, using
market direct comparable
properties and taking into
account location and other
individual factors such as road
frontage, size of property etc.,
which is ranged from Great
British Pound (“GBP”) 8,070 to
GBP9,139 (2020: GBP8,597)
per square metre.

HAMSEELEMER
ZRAEREAMEREZ=
1% (AERHEEE - RN
ST AER BT
F 5 K8,0705 4% 29,139

Hip(ZT-FF  8,597H
&) o

Sensitivity

BRE

A significant increase in the price
per square metre used would
result in a significant increase in
the fair value measurement of
the investment properties, and
vice versa.

¥ IRERAE LF5E
HIREMEOH DN FEFEKR
fEEF  RZIFA -

FA - UERE=FHEALEL -

REERREVE S 3 E AR ELRBL
BHAOREZMBENEER
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¥ - WEAMEZATER  MEZR

HF A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  15. ¥¥% « BER 2%

Property,
plant and
Furniture, equipment
Leasehold Plant and fixtures and Motor under
Buildings  improvements machinery equipment vehicles Artwork  construction Total
G 28 R
7  HEMERE  HEREE e AE Bl RERRE &t

HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
ThR TR TR TR Tin TERL Tin TExn

00ST 7S

At 1 January 2020 R=2-%5-7-8 1,989,495 40,406 10,074,019 585,269 70,153 19,432 459,023 13,237,847
Exchange adustments ERHB 59,066 (55) 738,651 57,545 2937 (046) 16,767 872,965
Addtions AE 5,461 30 662,222 21,517 1,946 - 435,093 1,126,329
Disposals and write of HERMH - - (148335) (16,098) @613 - (1569 (168632)
Reclassfications B - 25 535,139 146,048 - - (681,412) -
At 31 December 2020 RZEZRETZAZT-H 2,054,002 40606 11,861,736 794,334 72423 18486 226,902 15,068,509
Exchange adjustments T 29,408 (7,164) 332,423 28,330 1617 624 55,990 441228
Addtions AE 25,644 10,268 221,686 26,240 1,214 - 916,29 1,201,347
Disposals and write off HER#H (94) - (177,921) (20,250) (1571) - (4513 (204,349
Redlassffications Exipi - - 52,263 59210 569 - (112082 -
At 31 December 2021 R=F=-%+-A=1-R 2,108,980 43,710 12,290,187 887,864 74,252 19,110 1,082,632 16,506,735
DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 2020 449,667 23,231 7474907 459131 51,048 - - 8,457,984
Exchange adjustments 12,992 147 499,788 33,863 2,21 - - 549,061

Provided for the year TEEER 16,26 3018 457442 68,451 5,583 - - 580950
Biminated on disposals and write off HERT BRI - - (119,588) (11,308 (2.490) - - (133,3686)
At 31 December 2020 508,885 26,626 8,312,549 550,127 56,412 - - 9,464,599
Exchenge adjustments 6,633 (1932 234,118 18,806 1,043 - - 258,668
Provided for the year 47,073 3285 563,831 97,434 6,339 - - 7,912
Eliminated on disposals and wrte off HERT B (%4) - (151,452) (19,093) (1414) - - (172,053)
At 31 December 2021 HZEZ-F+Zf=1-8 562,497 21,99 8,959,046 647,074 62,380 - - 10,268,926
CARRYING VALUE FHE

At 31 December 2021 WZE--F+Zf=1-8 1,546,483 15,781 3,331,141 240,790 11872 19,110 1,082,632 6,247,809
At 31 December 2020 s 1,646,137 13,980 3,549,187 244,007 16,011 18,486 226,902 5613910
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment (other than artwork
and those under construction) are depreciated on a straight-line basis
after taking into account of their residual values at the following rates

per annum:

Buildings Over the remaining unexpired
terms of the leases ranging
from twenty to fifty years

Leasehold improvements 10-20%

Plant and machinery 10-20%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10-33"/5%

Motor vehicles 20%

ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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B RS AR M

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

EEEERERERQT

16. EFAEEE

Leasehold Office
land properties Total
HELTH WAEYE #et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&xT FH&xT FH&xT
At 31 December 2021 R-B-_—%+=-A=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 664,971 2,085 667,056
At 31 December 2020 R-E-_EF+-A=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 565,487 2,267 567,754
For the year ended 31 December #HZEZE—-ZE=-—H+=-A=+—H
2021 IEFEE
Depreciation for the year AEZHTE 14,198 602 14,800
For the year ended 31 December #HEZE-SE-ZH+=-H=+—H
2020 LFEE
Depreciation for the year REEHE 13,316 572 13,888
2021 2020
—BE-—fF —EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Expense relating to short-term leases 55 AT EARRAM B 2 341 332
Total cash outflow for leases HERS LB 102,518 37,297
Additions to right-of-use assets FREEERE 101,896 37,670

For both years, the Group leases various leasehold land and office
properties for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
term of 1 year to 50 years (2020: 1 year to 50 years). Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition
of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office
properties. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the portfolio of short-
term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the
short-term lease expense disclosed above.

MEFES  AEBEGREEBREHEE
ZEMO L RRREYE - HLAE
ERBNF1FEE0F (2T -FF 1
FES0F )R] - MEEFRIAEERNE
LR BRESBARER SRS -
REEERALFE N RSN RE
o AEBERAONERLETAL
Al SR BT TAVEAR]

AEBETHRMAZTWET LCHHE
E-RZE—FRZFZTF+=A
=+—R SHSEsE X mEE
RSy 2 RHRESAA RN -
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17.

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

W R R M EE
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (ontinued 16. ERAEEE®
Restrictions or covenants on leases FERFIRZE
In addition, lease liabilities of HK$2,193,000 (2020: HK$2,324,000) AN R=TB-—F+—-HF=+—H "
are recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$2,085,000 ERERHMEEAE2,193,0008 (=
(2020: HK$2,267,000) as at 31 December 2021. The lease T T F 12,324, ooo,%n) Tzéﬁiﬁﬁﬁ
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security W& E2,0850008 L (T T F :
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets 2,267,000/870) B - HEHR W EE
may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. MEMZE - EEBEASEHELEN
TR EPR I - AEBETSERFR
AR o
EQUITY INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR 17. BAFEFTABRZE
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS =T H
2021 2020
—EB-—fF ZETF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FBT
Financial assets measured at FVTPL: BATERAEEZ
CRMEE
Listed securities listed in Hong Kong NEBS LT ZFE 1,619,523 865,487
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BREREMAWA
— Current assets —mEVEE 442,125 776,904
- Non-current assets —EREBEE 1,177,398 88,583
1,619,523 865,487

For those financial assets measured at FVTPL of which the
management’s intention is to hold at short-term trading purpose are
classified as current assets. The remaining financial assets measured
at FVTPL which are held for long-term investment purpose are
classified as non-current assets.

At 31 December 2021, the fair values of the listed securities held by
the Group, determined by reference to the quoted market bid prices
available, amounted to HK$1,619,523,000 (2020: HK$865,487,000).

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

HRRAFEABRGRCEREE &
BERABHZSRANZIEREED
BRRBEE - AR A FEFARS
ZEBMEE  URHKREBNMIHAEE
AIDBERIERBEE °

RZEZ—F+ZA=+—H " &K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

18. DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 18. Tﬂi\\‘iﬁﬁ‘f Hft 2|

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE W EETE
INCOME
2021 2020
—BE--fF —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Listed bond securities, at fair value: EHEHES - RAFE -
— listed on the SGX and issued by listed issuers — BB LEMEITABITILR
in Hong Kong with fixed coupon interests MZpTLET c BEFER
ranging from 5.875% to 12.375% 5. 875Ei1 2.375
(2020: 5.50% to 10.00%) per annum and E(ZZTZZ4F : 550
maturity date from 28 July 2022 to [EZ=10.00[2) Z EE
27 February 2023 (2020: from EEWRZEZF
27 September 2021 to 3 March 2025) tA=Z+NH=
—:i—ﬂ —+J:E|£J
H(ZZ_ZF:
— _fﬁjlﬂ +‘t E' =]
—T_hF=A=AH) 115,054 759,971
115,054 759,971
Analysed for reporting purposes as: BRERBRMANA -
— Current assets —REEE 11,256 148,740
— Non-current assets —ERBEEE 103,798 611,231
115,054 759,971
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the fair values of the listed bond R_E-—FF_ZFTE-_ZFTF+_-A
securities are determined by reference to the valuation based on =+—B8  HEEBENAFEELRE
quoted prices over the-counter markets at the end of each reporting KMEHIRERIEIINTIEREB 2 HEE
period. E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

18. DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (continued)

The investment in listed bonds are held by the Group within a
business model whose objective is both to collect their contractual
cash flows which are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding and to sell these financial assets.
Hence, the investments in listed bonds are classified as at FVTOCI.
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 33.

Included in debt instruments at FVTOCI are the following amounts

denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the
group entities in which they are held:

United States Dollar (US$) ETT

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

HEMEFNREOHAKERBHS
WERAE R R A S KM R EERSHHE
NRZENREREUAREEZS SR
BENEBRAAMSE - Bt $ &
MEFNEREDBRRATEFTALML
ZE W o BEEFHITHNHESS -

BAVERAREEZERE ZEFTA
BRETIINEEERARM 2 EEEN
SNEREETHEZ R

2021 2020
—EB-—fF —ECTF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTHET FET
115,054 759,971
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
g E e
19. DEFERRED TAXATION 19. EERIE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets T&RAZR &iﬂ&#&iﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁwZE
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior BEEHREEELREEUALREh 28
reporting period: g
Fair value
change of
investment Revaluation
properties of properties Others Total
RENHEZ
NHESB S Hity Hat
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TERT TERT THERT
At 1 January 2020 N_E-_ZTF—H—H (9,577) (73,379) 4,943 (78,013
Credit to consolidated FTAGEERE
statement of profit or loss - 3,057 51 3,108
At 31 December 2020 RZE-ZTF
+=—A=+—H (9,577) (70,322) 4,994 (74,905)
Credit (charge) to consolidated st ALRAIBE &K
statement of profit or loss (S $0RR) - 2,956 (2,184) 772
At 31 December 2021 R_T——F
+=R=+—H (9,577) (67,366) 2,810 (74,139)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial

reporting purposes:

VAT 8051 25 5 75 B i 1 A S 2 R SE A IR
BRI

2021 2020
—E-—fF —ECEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Deferred tax assets BEHIEEE 2,810 3,190
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEA & (76,943) (78,095)
(74,133) (74,905)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses R|EHBERERD » AEE A H#

of HK$18,246,000 (2020: HK$23,615,000) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. All tax losses will be expired
gradually in various date in the next five years to year 2026 (2020:

year 2025).

EMAREFN 2 RBDAHEEEAR
418,246,000 8 L ( = T = T F

23,615,000 7T ) © B3 7R A Al
AJTER M EmERTAIEERIBEE
E - %ﬁB%EIEEﬁTEH—rEAEiEWE’]THEI
HERSHPEE T - F (T T
F:ZE-RF)-

B —FFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

19. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 19. ﬁﬁﬁ{.’:lﬁ‘(ﬁi
Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on WIERERMEFRSEE B -Z2ZN\FE
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries —A—AR - BRI B E TR
from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been BNE R 7R BBMTBINFT © HRAR
provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of EERE RO TR EE R M
temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC BEAEHMEESENATER 25K e &
subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal [ - Hth IR AR A B SRR B
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary B AT Z 2L 2 =
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. FARZ EER B B -
20. GOODWILL 20. BE
HK$’000
FHT
CARRYING VALUE BREE
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020 and RZZE-ZEF—HF—H-
31 December 2021 —ETF+A=+—HK
—E—F+-/=+—H 238
21. INVENTORIES 21. E&
2021 2020
—E-—F TECTE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Raw materials Bl 1,592,563 1,182,991
Work in progress paat T 623,145 353,427
Finished goods BURK Sh 438,127 202,688
2,653,835 1,739,106

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the write-down of
inventories amounting to HK$321,767,000 (2020: net reversal of
write-down HK$75,221,000) had been recognised and included in
cost of sales.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EEHEEBERERBRLF

FEMBHwRRMEE
22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. EZRHEHMERERR
AND PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS B ERE R R =
RECEIVABLES
2021 2020
—EB-—fF —ECTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Trade receivables B SRR 6,243,668 4,491,454
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEIERE (661,595) (579,750)
Trade receivables, net B o RUERFUFRE 5,582,073 3,911,704
Advance to suppliers TERHE FE R IR 517,652 350,161
Prepaid expenses and deposits TERHAX kiES 204,704 193,758
Value-added tax (“VAT”) recoverable AR EEER ([1EER ) 190,197 203,561
Other receivables HAb AR 144,541 84,730
6,639,167 4,743,914
Bills receivables FEWZEE 4,243,905 3,507,802
10,883,072 8,251,716

As at 1 January 2020, the gross amount of trade receivables from
contracts with customers amounted to HK$4,222,258,000 with

allowance for credit losses of HK$603,257,000.

The Group allows credit periods of up to 120 days (2020: 120 days),
depending on the products sold to its trade customers. The following
is an aging analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for credit
losses based on invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

R-ZT-TFE—FHF—H  RKEATFAYL
K2 5 FE U BR 5K 4218 A& 4,222,258,000
BT EE BB ##E £603,257,0007%8
7TE o

KAEEGRTESIEFPZEENGERA
1208 (=ZZ=ZF : 120R) * 2T
EERME - RFEHELERAL &
MR EEEEREBE  BHEKERZ
BRIRENEZAHHMAT

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-TF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHT

0-90 days 0F90H 4,483,570 3,298,866
91-180 days 91£180H 1,056,609 572,483
Over 180 days 180B A £ 41,894 40,355
5,582,073 3,911,704




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22.

A I IRARMIEE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS
RECEIVABLES

continued)

Bills receivables of the Group are all aged within 0-90 days (2020:
0-90 days) since invoice date at the end of the reporting period. Al
bills received by the Group are with a maturity period of less than one
year.

As at 31 December 2021, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$1,822,985,000 (2020: HK$709,736,000) which are past due as
at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances, HK$110,138,000
(2020: HK$66,677,000) which has been past due over 90 days or
more and is not considered as in default based on good repayment
records for those customers. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables and
bills receivables are set out in note 33(b).

Included in trade and other receivables and bills receivables are
the following amounts denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the group entities to which they relate:

us$

HK$ BT

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

22.

B 5 KkHEtEWERRKR
ANRER BEH&??F )

AEBPREPBMERBIENEREE

zﬁﬁ‘é’*i’-}%%*i‘,‘: BEI#EEH0ZE0R (==
T4 0-90H) A - REBUEIM AT

ﬁmFmU%%@Ttﬂ Fo

RZE-_—F+=-_A=+—H &&H
WE S REREFEHBEENRREBHE
780 HA A BR T 42 B 1,822,985,00078 7T ( —
%:%i : 709,736,000/ 7T ) & FE UK AR
o BHAE SR E H » 110,138,000/8 7T
(‘:_7¢ 66,677,000/8 7T ) & ¥ 47
QR L  ERIBEZERFPRITHE
FEOER - MEIERIT ARG REY - A%
BN EG 2SS E TR -

Z 5 B L th [ U BR TR A B JE Uk ZE 45 & 0
ErHEFIBE A M FES3(b) ©

B MEMBERE R R EREESIET

TAEBEREIABE 2N ER NG

FHEZ FEE

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-TF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FABT

400,121 406,350

81,854 363,255
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

23. PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT 23, #SEEW%
Movements of properties held for development are as follows: FEEMEEEBNOT
HK$'000
FET
At 1 January 2020 R-E-ZEF—HF—H 1,666,994
Exchange adjustments T 5, 8 B 85,452
Additions NE 132,107
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 31) & — B AR (HFE31) (186,195)
Transfer to cost of sales R HEMAR (271,134)
At 31 December 2020 R-E-_ZEF+_A=+—H 1,427,224
Exchange adjustments TE % 41,719
Additions NE 232,635
Transfer to cost of sales HEEHERA (241,022)
At 31 December 2021 N-E-_—F+-_A=+—8H 1,460,556
Analysis of leasehold lands included in properties held for £t AfFEERYIEMIAL HH DT T -
development is set out below:
At 31 December 2021 R=ZFB=—-F+=A=+-—H
Carrying amount BRTEE 539,206
At 31 December 2020 HNWoE-—E&+=-H=+—H
Carrying amount BRMEE 603,042

B —FFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

23.

B RS AR M

PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT

(continued)

Total cash outflow ReRhess
Additions INE

3. FERYEw

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

m

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET F&T

Properties held for development are situated in the PRC with medium-
term leases and are stated at cost at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

The carrying amount of leasehold lands is measured at cost less
any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
residual values are determined as the estimated disposal value of the
leasehold land component. No depreciation charge is made on the
leasehold lands taking into account the estimated residual values as
at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

Included in the properties held for developments, the construction
of properties with carrying amount of HK$1,460,556,000 (2020:
HK$1,427,224,000) are completed. During the year ended 31
December 2021, properties held for development with carrying
amount of HK$241,022,000 (2020: HK$271,134,000) were
completed and sold to third parties.

In the opinion of the Directors, the properties held for development
were classified as current assets as the properties were held for sale
upon completion of construction within the Group’s normal operating
cycle.
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FRERMEMR AT EBRELOEENFE
TH o WHR T —FR_ZT-_TF
+ = B=1+—HUKAKTE -

A 49 1 4b B0 BR B R A AR A fr] 2 5HHT
ERTRRERSEBTE - #HEEHEE
THER D 2 HE N EEEET o &
HAAZEZ—FNM_E=TF+=A
=+—AMHETSE  TeRAN L
EHRITE -

BR M (& /45 1,460,556,000/8 7L (—F =
T4 ¢ 1,427,224,00078 70 ) ) W) 2
BRERT  FIAGERYME #HEZ
T -+ -_A=Z+—HLEFE E
M {E241,022,0008 L (Z T =T F :
271,134,000/8 7T ) Z B FE &AL
EFE=F -

EER/HERMEDBR/RDEE
THRREAKENEELERY 548
ZEMENEN RN TR TRLE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

24. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) FELLOW
SUBSIDIARIES

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries

— trade nature —E5HE

FE W B 5B B 2 B RIR

EEHEEBERERBRLF

BW(EMN)ERKER

GIETLE]

2021

— B
HK$’000
FHT

978,831

2020
—E-TF
HK$’000
FET

693,081

As at 1 January 2020, the amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
amounted to HK$424,684,000.

The Group allows credit periods normally up to 120 days for sales
to its fellow subsidiaries. The amounts due are non-interest bearing,
unsecured, aged within 90 days and are not past due at the end of
the reporting period.

\_7_%$ A—R - BRERKE
N BFRIAR424,684,000/8 7T

AEBRIBELRTERREMNBARZE
EH—REREA1208 - ZSEMNFZUE
AR L NEERRE - BIRERYS AWRE M
R E HHEA90H 2 W BN ERE H4E

B 1 A E HA o

2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries i RIEEL N ENGIE S
— trade nature —B51hH 47,581 47,582
The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries have repayment terms of less FE IR R E A R FRIE 2 B ER P30

than 30 days. The amounts due are non-interest bearing, unsecured
and aged within 90 days at the end of the reporting period.

A ZEENT Eﬁ% R H
BRERY AR R RE HRM0RA 2

A o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

25. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group. At 31
December 2021, the Group’s bank balances carry interest at the
prevailing market interest rates which range from 0.01% to 0.9%
(2020: 0.01% to 0.9%) per annum.

At 31 December 2021, the Group had bank balances and cash that
were not freely convertible or were subject to exchange controls in the
PRC amounted to HK$1,926,914,000 (2020: HK$2,548,321,000).

Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
group entities to which they relate:

USs$ ET
HK$ BT
GBP HEEE

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

25. RITHBREAE

BITEBRRCBEAEERECE
& RZTEZ—F+ZA=+—H K
EEMBTHEBRIZBIIMHBFERNENT
0.01EZE09EB(=ZT_ZTF : 0.01EE
0.9F)&T 8 -

R-ZT-—F+-A=+—H  K£EE
TA] B RSB S P B IMNEE HIFTR
PR RTTA 85 IR £ A1,926,914,000
BIL(ZZEZZF : 2,548,321,00078
TT) e

RITHEBIR BB TIAEEEEA
B2 B AINEEEHEZ AR -

2021 2020
—E-—F TECTHE
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FHET
315,772 336,531
75,670 62,663
9,612 2,831
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 26. EZREMENEARAK
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT EREERSHNERE
LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables and bills payables ESREMEMRIARENSERE
2021 2020
—E-—F TECTE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Trade payables B ZREMNERR 1,050,633 1,005,225
Accrued expenses JEIREA 523,032 508,512
Payables for acquisition of property, plant and BEWE  BEMREZ
equipment FETER K 124,495 159,175
Other tax payables H AR 726,214 649,342
VAT payables FEfTIBER 222,553 155,328
LAT payables FERT IR (ETS 10,672 43,238
Other payables Eofth JE T RRIE 75,038 256,876
2,732,637 2,777,696
Bills payables (Note) FERT SR (P 5E) 602,496 347,631
3,335,133 3,125,327
Note:  Included in bills payables as at 31 December 2021 was payables for Mz : R-T—F+-A=+—HBHENE
acquisition of property, plant and equipment of HK$30,633,000 (2020: ¥ £1530,633,000/8 L ( ZE =T 4F :
HK$18,420,000). 18,420,000 7T) RBEMHE - BE R
i -
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based on the B SN ERFIBRE R B AR ®RE M
invoice date at the end of the reporting period: HEREHZREATAT
2021 2020
—E-—fF ZETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
0-90 days 0%90H 950,860 855,324
91-180 days 91£&180H 30,691 73,474
Over 180 days 180B A 69,082 76,427
1,050,633 1,005,225

B —FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B RS AR M

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 26.
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES (continued)

Trade and other payables and bills payables (continued)

The average credit period on purchase of goods is 90 days (2020: 90
days). The Group has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit time frame.

Bills payables of the Group related to trade payables in which the
Group has issued bills to the relevant suppliers for future settlement of
trade payables, which are aged within 90 days (2020: 90 days) at the

end of the reporting period.

Included in trade and other payables and bills payables are the
following amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional

BEEZREMENRRAREMNRE
(&)

BEERNTHEEMAOA(ZFZ
T 90H) - ARBRITHHERE
BRERRAERMNERNEERALE

=E=
/8 °

AEBEEESENRERBENENR
B EhAKECRAREHERRAR
BUBERRGEEE ZENRE - Rk
BRHREMBERRNOR(ZT-F
F0R)ZA -

B NEMENRALENRBERET

FIASEEEREIBE I

BEEMIAINE

currency of the group entities to which they relate: HHE T ZEE
2021 2020
—E-—F TECTHE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FHT
Us$ ETT 755,680 951,133
HK$ BT 11,966 225,402
Japanese Yen (“JPY”) Hot 2,574 60,343
Contract liabilities e =L
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Sales of properties HEYE 2,524,350 404,720
Sales of glass epoxy laminates, paper laminates SHERAW B EERER
and upstream materials MBI E R & bt 249,105 212,584
2,773,455 617,304

The significant increase (2020: increase) in contract liabilities in the
current year was mainly due to the advances received from customers

before year end.

As at 1 January 2020, contract liabilities amounted to

HK$189,050,000.
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26.

B RS AR M

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities (continued)

Contract liabilities arising from sales of properties as at 31 December
2021 and 2020 are expected to be realised within one to two years
at the end of the reporting period. The entire amount of contract
liabilities arising from sales of glass epoxy laminates, paper laminates
and upstream materials as at 31 December 2021 and 2020, are
expected to be realised within one year at the end of the reporting
period.

The following table sets out the revenue recognised in the current year
relating to contract liabilities at 31 December 2020 and 31 December
2019.

26.

EEHEEBERERBRLF

855 AR R
BAERER -

EHERBw
BHEE®m)
R —FR_T_ZTF+_A

=t—H  HEVENAHABENR
THREF—EMFRER - R _F
TERZZEFY_A=1+—H8"
HERAWBAEBRNER - AERE
RE LG OB ERRRB/R
HERREF —FRER -

TR TAFER T _FTF+_A
=t—HER=FE-NF+-A=t—H
MAKNAERRNERE -

Sales of glass
epoxy laminates,
paper laminates

Sales of and upstream
properties materials
SHEREIWE
A R E AR
AAEREAR R
YIEHE Eiztst
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-Z-_—-F+=A
=t- Htﬁﬁ
Revenue recognised that was included in the FAZEZZTF+=A
contract liability balance at 31 December 2020 =t HAEHNEEREN
ORS¢ 227,730 212,584
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE-B-BF+=A
=t—-HLEHFE
Revenue recognised that was included in the FAZE-NEFE+ZA
contract liability balance at 31 December 2019 =+—BA X B EHEN
B L 11,078 71,598

—FF 7R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

BILLS PAYABLES AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Contract liabilities (continued)
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

Sales of properties

The Group typically receives a 30% to 50% of the contract
value as deposits from customers on entering of a sale
and purchase agreement of properties and will receive the
remaining contracted sum prior to customers obtaining
control of the respective properties. The deposits and
advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being
recognised throughout the property construction period until
the customer obtains control of the completed property.

In addition, the Group considers the advance payment
schemes contain significant financing component and
accordingly the amount of consideration is adjusted for the
effects of the time value of money taking into consideration
the credit characteristics of the relevant group entities. As
this accrual increases the amount of the contract liability
during the period of construction, it increases the amount of
revenue recognised when control of the completed property is
transferred to the customer.

Sales of glass epoxy laminates, paper laminates and upstream
materials

When the Group receives a deposit before the production
activity commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being when the goods
have been delivered. The Group typically receives a 30% to
50% deposit on acceptance of manufacturing orders.
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26.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

27. LEASE LIABILITIES

27. HEAE

2021 2020
—E-—F TECTE
HK$’°000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEEEE
Within one year —F R 570 553
Within a period of more than one year —F LA L ETBIBRE
but not more than two years 210 195
Within a period of more than two years RF A HBT BB F
but not more than five years 470 649
Within a period of more than five years BB AF 943 927
2,193 2,324
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months i : JRBh B &R 128 A N E
shown under current liabilities HEE NS (570) (553)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown JERBI & EFTR 1218 A 12 5 Ef
under non-current liabilities EERSEE 1,623 1,771

No extension options are included in any of the lease agreements
entered by the Group. The weighted average incremental borrowing
rates applied by the relevant group entities range from 1.11% to 4.75%
(2020: 2.33% to 4.75%). These lease liabilities were measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not yet paid.

Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies which are same

sty

5_0

as the functional currencies of the relevant group entities. R EEEDIE -

NEBRT WA R ES T T E
HimE2E AHEEEEERNTEY
MEFEEEFENT111EZ4.75E
(ZZE-ZF : 233EE4.758) - %5
HEsEEHAINEENFNRES

HMERTNREREEEREERA

B —FFR
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A I IRARMIEE

28. BANK BORROWINGS

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

28. SRITEE

2021 2020
—E-—F TECTE
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Unsecured EER
Bank loans SRITER 2,686,522 1,153,846
Trust receipt loans EFEUUEE R 28,380 -
2,714,902 1,153,846
Carrying amount repayable: AR TSI HAREE 2 BREE
Within one year —FR 1,814,902 923,077
Within a period of more than one year —F A BT BBMRE
but not more than two years 200,000 230,769
Within a period of more than two years RFA FBTBBRF
but not more than five years 700,000 -
2,714,902 1,153,846
Carrying amount repayable within one year RIERBARE TEZNS
based on repayment schedules dates set out FREHE A ER B RN —
in the loan agreements shown under FAEENIRAE
current liabilities 1,814,902 923,077
Add: Amounts shown under non-current liabilites i1 : FIAIERBIN & &2 218 900,000 230,769
2,714,902 1,153,846

As at 31 December 2021, bank borrowings amounted to
HK$2,592,483,000 (2020: HK$1,153,846,000) are variable-rate
borrowings which carry interest ranging from HIBOR + 1.02% to
HIBOR + 1.10% (2020: HIBOR + 1.02%) per annum. The remaining
bank borrowings amounted to HK$122,419,000 (2020: Nil) carry fixed
interest rates ranged from 3.30% to 3.35% (2020: Nil).

The range of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s bank borrowings is 1.33%
(2020: 1.25%) per annum.
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29.

30.

EEEERERERQT

The share option scheme of the Company (2017 KLHL Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders of the Company and the
shareholders of KHL on 29 May 2017, and the 2017 KLHL Scheme
took effect upon obtaining approval from the Listing Committee
of the Stock Exchange on 2 November 2017. The purpose of the
2017 KLHL Scheme is to provide incentive or reward to the eligible
participants of the 2017 KLHL Scheme (as listed below) for their
contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests of the
Group.

B SRR =t
SHARE CAPITAL Bg 2
Authorised Issued and fully paid
EE ERTREAR
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
ROEE ox-C] RHEEAR &8
’000 HK$’000 ’000 HK$’000
T FERT T FET
Ordinary shares of FRXEE0A0B T2
HK$0.10 each: TR
At 1 January 2020 RZZEZZTF—H—H 20,000,000 2,000,000 3,081,000 308,100
Exercise of share options TT{E B AR (MI7E30)
(Note 30) - - 39,000 3,900
At 31 December 2020 and RZBE_ZTF+_A
31 December 2021 =—+—BRZB-_—%F
+=—A=+—H 20,000,000 2,000,000 3,120,000 312,000
All shares issued rank pari passu with the then existing shares in issue BT E RN AES T EHHEE RT3
in all respects. TR ZE RS ER
SHARE OPTIONS 30. ElRRE

AATOBRESE ([ —F—LF2
BREERAEDER-_ZT—LFHA
“HNBAEARRBRREEEEERR
Bk - M —F—FREEERGER
ESBXMLETZEGHERK =
—tF+—AZREN - T FE
ETEERET BRI B RS 3t 82
BT tFREREERENAER
28E (T X)) RS AR EHF
SR ERRISES S -

B —FFR
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30.

B RS AR M

SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

The 2017 KLHL Scheme is valid for a period of ten years, which is
expiring in 2027 and with a remaining life of approximately 6 years.
The Board of the Company may, at its discretion, grant options to
subscribe for shares in the Company to (i) eligible participants who
contribute to the long-term growth and profitability of the Company
and include any employee or proposed employee (whether full-time
or part-time and including any executive director), consultants or
advisers of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested
Entity”) in which the Group holds an equity interest; (ii) any non-
executive directors (including independent non-executive directors)
of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; (i) any
supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (iv) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;
(v) any person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group or any Invested Entity; and (vi) any
shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity.

The exercise price of the Company’s share in respect of any option
granted under the 2017 KLHL Scheme was determined with
reference to the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option, which must be a business dayj; (i)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii)
the nominal value of the shares of the Company. For details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 3 April 2019.

The option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days from
the date of the offer for the grant of the option upon the payment of
a consideration of HK$1. An option may be exercised at any time
during a period to be determined and notified by the Directors to each
grantee, and in the absence of such determination, from the date
upon which the offer for the grant of the option is accepted but shall
end in any event not later than ten years from the date of grant of
the option subject to the provisions for early termination thereof. The
Directors may, at their absolute discretion, fix any minimum period
for which an option must be held, any performance targets that must
be achieved and any other conditions that must be fulfilled before the
options can be exercised upon the grant of an option to a participant.
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B RS AR M

SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

The total number of shares of the Company which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2017 KLHL
Scheme (excluding, for this purpose, options lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the 2017 KLHL Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company) must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the total number of shares of the Company in issue as at the date
of approval of the 2017 KLHL Scheme by the shareholders of the
Company and the shareholders of KHL (i.e. 308,100,000 shares of
the Company, representing 10.0% of the total issued share capital of
the Company as at the date these consolidated financial statements
are authorised for issue).

The maximum number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2017 KLHL Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company must not exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted (including both exercised and
outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the share capital of the Company then in
issue unless approved by the shareholders of the Company and
shareholders of KHL in general meetings.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, there was no option outstanding
under the 2017 KLHL Scheme. During the year, no option were
granted or has lapsed or has been exercised vested, or cancelled
under the 2017 KLHL Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

30. SHARE OPTIONS (ontinued) 30. BIRE
A summary of the movements of the number of share options under BHEr—_TZ-_ZTE+-_A=1+—HIEF
the scheme for the year ended 31 December 2020 was as follows: B ZETRBE T2 ERES B et
M
Balance at Exercised Balance at Exercise
1 January during the 31 December price
Date of grant 2020 year 2020 per share Exercisable period
R-Z=2F
R-B-2F RERTE +=H
—A—8 (Note ii) =+—H
BRHBAH HYERER (i) HERER BRITEE 1TEH
Granted to the Directors
RTEE
3 April 2019 26,200,000 (26,200,000) - HK$8.39 3 April 2019 to
“E-NFMA=H 8.3975 T 2 April 2029 (Note i)
“E-NFRA=HE
ZZZHhFEMAZA ()
Granted to employees
RTES
3 April 2019 12,800,000 (12,800,000) - HK$8.39 3 April 2019 to
“E-NFMA=H 8.3975 T 2 April 2029 (Note i)
“E-NFRA=HE
ZZZHhFMAZA ()
39,000,000 (39,000,000) -
Notes: MisE

(i) All share options were vested immediately on the date of grant, 3 April
2019.

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2020, all 39,000,000 options in the
Company at an exercise price of HK$8.39 per share were exercised. The
weighted average closing price of the Company’s share granted on the
Stock Exchange on the five trading days immediately before the exercise
date was HK$10.71. The amount of HK$96,609,000 was reclassified from
share-based payments reserve to share premium.

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

(i

FABREEREE RS — - &0
A=RBEE -

BE-_Z2-_FTFE+-_A=+—HItH
&+ IRARREIR2E39,000,0008% B4 15
FARITIFEES. 0B T B AR T T(E -
AR BB A2 P BB TME B EART RLEAR
5 BEFELBRG K INETHKRTER
10.717% 7T ° 4996,609,000/8 TTH & 58
HEREEEEEFDEERMDEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

31.

B RS AR M

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 31

On 1 September 2020, the Group disposed of its entire equity
interest in a subsidiary, JI[2EEE ¥ AR A, a subsidiary holding
the properties held for development in the PRC, to an independent
third party for a cash consideration of RMB199,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$223,870,000). The net assets of the subsidiary at the date of
disposal were as follow:

Consideration received:

Total cash consideration received BUIR e EREE

EEHEEBERERBRLF

. HE—BREBLF

R—ZZE_TFNA—H  AEBEE
£ KB AR 199,000,000 7T (18 &E %
223,870,000/ ) HEHF —RHFEF
BEFEREMENHB AR IREEEE
BRARNEIBRETBULE =T &
MBARREEE A2 EEFHENT

SWAE :

HK$'000
TAT

223,870

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:

BREEHENEEREBEND

01.09.2020

ZETF

hA—H

HK$'000

FAT

Properties held for development FERERYE 186,195
Other receivables HAb IR K 11,828
Shareholder’s loan -G (166,431)
Other payables HAb R FRIA (1,795)
Net assets disposed of HEZEEFHE 29,797
Assignment of shareholder’s loan R EFER 166,431
196,228

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE-EHBAT 2 -
Cash consideration received BYERENRE 223,870
Assets disposed of HECZEE (196,228)
Gain on disposal s 27,642
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEEZHESRANTFE:

2020

ZEITF

HK$'000

FAT

Cash consideration HeRE 223,870

B —FFR
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B RS AR M

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank borrowings
and lease liabilities, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital, other reserves and retained profits as disclosed in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. In the opinion of the
Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as
well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHwRRMEE
33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 33. #@TH
(@ Categories of financial instruments (@ £sITAEEH
THE GROUP
AEE
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ECEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Financial assets SMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost REER AT EN S RMEE 13,814,239 13,107,282
Equity instruments at FVTPL BRAFEFABRNER LA 1,619,523 865,487
Debt instruments at FVTOCI EATERFAEME2ERE
HEB LA 115,054 759,971
15,548,816 14,732,740
Financial liabilities sRIBE
Amortised cost 59N
— trade and other payables — 85 REMERRR 1,250,166 1,421,276
— bills payables —ERNERE 602,496 347,631
— dividends payable — FEAHREF 936,000 6,240,000
— amounts due to fellow subsidiaries —FENRREWEB AT ZIE 47,581 47,582
— bank borrowings —RITEE 2,714,902 1,153,846
5,551,145 9,210,335

B —FFR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

Details of the Group’s financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate
risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
sales and purchases, which exposes the Group to foreign
currency risk. Approximately 9% (2020: 9%) of the Group’s
sales are denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the relevant group entities making the sale, whilst
almost 27% (2020: 22%) of purchases are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entities.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and
monetary liabilities denominated in currencies other than the
respective group entities’ functional currencies at the end of
the reporting period are as follows:

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

2021

— g
Assets
EE
HK$’000
TERT
uss$ I 830,947
JPY =h -
HK$ BT 157,524
GBP e 9,612

(b)

B EREE B ERBIR

AREEH TR T AF BN
%E?&E’E cZEeRMITAMBE

@%ﬁmiﬁﬂﬁ (E%E R ‘7T'J
RLEMERER)  E8
RBERREMR - FIEZE

AAZﬁ ﬁﬁ”pu? ° E EE%
BREEZERE - AR
BB EREGE S 2 F i ©
TG E M
B

AR R THIEB A B LASNEE 1T
SHE RIREE - SAEEAEAZ I
R - AEELI%(ZTF
F 9% )RSHEWIELUEITIHE
KRR EBEREEKYIE -
ME27T%(ZZE=ZZF : 22%)H
AW IELUETIRIB RS E
EREMNNEEEIE -

SHR AEENREEE

Rk
B EE MM EBTHENE
BEENEBaENKREMED
-
2020
—ECETF
Liabilities Assets Liabilities
& BE BE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FET FET
(755,680) 1,502,852 (951,133)
(2,574) - (60,343)
(11,966) 425,918 (225,402)
- 2,831 -

The management continuously monitors the foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging foreign currency risk
should the need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation against foreign
currencies of US$, JPY, HK$ and GBP. The following
table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2020: 5%)
increase and decrease in functional currency of respective
group entities against the relevant foreign currencies,
excluding the exposures on balances denominated in US$
of respective group entities of which functional currencies
are HK$, since the Directors are of the opinion that such
exposures are not significant as HK$ is pegged to USS$. 5%
(2020: 5%) represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at
the end of reporting period for a 5% (2020: 5%) change in
foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes trade
and other receivables, bills receivables, bank balances, trade
and other payables, bills payables and debt instruments at
FVTOCI. A positive (negative) number below indicates an
increase (a decrease) in post-tax profit for the year where
functional currency of each group entity strengthen 5% (2020:
5%) against the relevant currency. For a 5% (2020: 5%)
weakening of functional currency of each group entity against
the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the post-tax profit for the year.

EEHEEBERERBRLF

il = = NP

(b)

BEERREEEERRE
(%)
TS ER(E)
B ()
BURRE DT
AEBEEmEFET - BE B
TTRAEGHINEFBIRR - TR
AR R EEEEDEE
B R INE TS % (T - F
F o 5%)NERE - TRIEDEE
EEABTHSEBEEINET
SHEMASONER - ARETE
EoLEM - EERAEHERRY
PERK 5% (ZZT=FF : 5%)
Bﬁﬁﬁﬁ% fERA IR
BERTE - BUREDITE
a%ﬁ*ﬂ%»%%ﬂﬁm 5
BH - YIRS %EZ%
EEE%(ZEFF : 5%) &
VERIRAEE - BURED ﬁ@%a
SR EM IR - U EE -
BITEREIRS EHREME
MER  BNZEEREAFE
AHMEmEE 2 EHEITA -
FEESEBERNNEER S
FARAINE FHES % ( — T T 4F ¢
5% )8 REZRTE RN AT
e BEREEERENINESE
B SRR INE B ES%( —E = F
5% AJREEIAFEER
BaANABREMROTE -

2021 2020

—E-—F ZTTF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAxT

Us$ T (3,088) (21,826)
JPY At 106 2,387
HK$ BT (5,971) (7,932)
GBP HgE (394) (112)

In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of inherent foreign exchange risk as the year
ended exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.

EERA  ARFERBRIAL R
REANRER - HHERRE ST E
BROSNE R = WERRME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to listed bond securities with fixed coupon interest, fixed-rate
lease liabilities and fixed-rate bank borrowings (see Note 18
for details of these listed bond securities, Note 27 for details
of lease liabilities and Note 28 for details of bank borrowings).
The Group manages its interest rate exposures by assessing
the potential impact arising from any interest rate movements
based on interest rate level and outlook.

The Group’s bank balances and variable-rate bank
borrowings have exposure to cash flow interest rate risk due
to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities
are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this
note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly related
to the fluctuation of HIBOR arising from the Group’s bank
borrowings.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks
is being undertaken globally, including the replacement of
some interbank offered rates with alternative nearly risk-free
rates. Details of the impacts on the Group’s risk management
strategy arising from the interest rate benchmark reform
and the progress towards implementation of alternative
benchmark interest rates are set out under “interest rate
benchmark reform” in this note.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Total interest revenue/income from financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI is as follows:

EEEERERERQT

33. €I A

(b)

MERAREREERREE
()

T A ()

FIE R ()
AR AR B IR D TE A
A2 ERENSREENET

BUA WALT -
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&T FET
Interest revenue FEUA
Financial assets at FVTOCI BAFEF AR MR E R E
HE AR 37,918 125,888
Other income EUgA
Financial assets at amortised cost IR R AT EN SR EE 22,388 34,420

Interest expense on financial liabilities not measured at FVTPL:

SR AT EFABENEREE
HFIBRIX :

2021 2020

—EB-—fF ZETF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FAET

Financial liabilities at amortised cost LEER AT ENSMAE 94,619 80,860
Sensitivity analysis BURE DT

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for bank borrowings at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
financial instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting
period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis
points (2020: 50 basis points) increase or 50 basis points
(2020: 50 basis points) decrease are used and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in interest rates. Bank balances are excluded from sensitivity
analysis as the Directors consider that the exposure of cash
flow interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank balances is
insignificant.

AT SR E 2 TR I w5 B 4
REARITEENFXE R E
F o mBIZONE - BRAHRE
HMARZARIBzSpMIA
REEFENAREE - 50 @2

ZTE T F - 501EFE2L) 50
SS0MRER (= =ZFF : 501@
EE)BL RBEIARSRE - T
EEEBHNEAEBEEHMN
Sl o RUE DT B IEIRTT
#Eeh - RERESRR AR
THEBEENHRSRENERRK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2020: 50 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December
2021 would decrease/increase by HK$10,705,000 (2020:
HK$4,817,000) as a result of the Group’s exposure to interest
rates on its variable-rate borrowings.

In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of inherent interest rate risk as the year
ended exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk and debt price risk
through its investments in equity instruments at FVTPL and
debt instruments at FVTOCI. For equity securities measured
at FVTPL quoted in the Stock Exchange, the management
manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risks. The Group has appointed
a special team to monitor the price risk and will consider
hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the
exposure to equity and debt price risk at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had
been 10% (2020: 10%) higher/lower, the post-tax profit
for the year ended 31 December 2021 would increase/
decrease by HK$135,230,000 (2020: increase/decrease by
HK$72,268,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
equity instruments at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Price risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

If the prices of the respective debt instruments had been 10%
(2020: 10%) higher/lower, the investment revaluation reserve
for the year ended 31 December 2021 would increase/
decrease by HK$11,505,000 (2020: increase/decrease by
HK$75,997,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
debt instruments at FVTOCI.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure to
perform their obligations at the end of the reporting period
in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the
carrying amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Directors has delegated
the management to be responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other for monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this
regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk
on trade receivables with exposure spread over a number
of counterparties and customers. However, the Group is
exposed to the concentration on geographic segment in the
PRC. At 31 December 2021, approximately 86% (2020: 84%)
of the Group’s trade receivables are arising from the PRC.

Except for credit-impaired trade receivables which are
assessed for impairment individually, the remaining trade
receivables are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to the Group’s internal credit
ratings. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out
below in this note.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Collective assessments

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
applies internal credit rating for its customers. The following
table provides information about the exposure to credit risk
for trade receivables which are assessed based on collective
assessments as at 31 December 2021 within lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired). Credit-impaired debtors with gross
carrying amounts of HK$54,962,000 (2020: HK$297,240,000)
were assessed individually. Credit-impaired debtors are fully
provided for ECL.

For the year ended 31 December 2021:

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

33. €@ T )

(b)

BERBREEREEREEK
(8&)

FEERB KRB (E)
BT
AEBHEFPEAANBEERT
B ERAEEEERBRER
B—&HD o TREHEBEERE=-Z
——F+-—A=Zt+—HEREHY
TEEMEE B 2 A 1S
HHE S REUERETEERRE R
(EEERE)  WREELER
54,962,000 L (ZE =T F :
297,240,000/ 7T ) M1z BB (E
EBA#ET T ERIFHE - (FER
BEEBALERERHEER

18-

HE_ZT—-—F+=-A=+—H
IEFE

Gross trade Range of Net trade

Internal credit rating receivables loss rates ECL receivables
B EK EHEE BEZEW

RS B TR BREE  BARHE o ] BT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

THERT FHET FET

Low risk KR 3,950,917 1% - 4% 108,823 3,842,094
Watch list BERAPE 1,909,099 5% - 25% 383,106 1,525,993
Doubtful *ER 328,690 30% - 35% 114,704 213,986
6,188,706 606,633 5,582,073

For the year ended 31 December 2020:

HE-ZT-_ZTF+-_A=+—H
IEEFE

Gross trade Range of Net trade

Internal credit rating receivables loss rates ECL receivables
BEH W BHEE B2 R

RS ERR BRAAE EBEEEE =] IRFUREE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000

THET FHET FHET

Low risk KR\ Fg 2,089,525 1% -2.5% 41,790 2,047,735
Watch list BERPE 2,080,287 5% - 15% 232,382 1,847,905
Doubtful RER 24,402 30% - 35% 8,338 16,064
4,194,214 282,510 3,911,704
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Collective assessments (continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

Internal

credit rating Description

REEEFTR it

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default

AV HFTELHRBE

Watch list Doubtful debtors frequently repay after
due dates but usually settle in full

ERAE BERNFRNEBALENRIHARZ
EEFE  BRFEA2EEE

Doubtful There have been significant increases in
credit risk since initial recognition
through information developed internally
or external resources

RER BRI I E RER S &R R
EERK B VA ERARAEZE L7

Loss There is evidence indicating the
asset is credit-impaired

&8 BRBETEELREERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the
debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery

WisH BREBREREBABARESR -
BN SR [B R A U B R IE

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by the management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

BEEE

=Rl
(b)

Trade receivables

B 5 EWR

Lifetime ECL

ERERERRZA

TE

i

MERREEBERBRE
(&)

FERBRRERNGE(E)
Brv (R)
AEEARREERBF AR EE
AT 8

Other financial
assets/other item

HitveMEE HRE

12m ECL

— not credit-impaired

EHEMEEER
—EBERRIE

Lifetime ECL

12{A A EHEEEE

12m ECL

— not credit-impaired

EHEMEEER
—BERRIE

Lifetime ECL

— not credit-impaired

EHEMEEER
—BERRE

Lifetime ECL

— credit-impaired

2EEHEERRE
_15, \/JFME

Amount is written off

SRR

12{A A EHEEEE

Lifetime ECL
— not credit-impaired

ZHITEREEE IR
—BEERE

Lifetime ECL
— credit-impaired
2 EFE A E BT
—EERE

Amount is written off

SRR
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

£ET A

(b)

i

MHEEABREEEREREE
(%)
FERRRBERE(E)

Collective assessments (continued) BEREHA ()
The following table sets out the movement in lifetime ECL that TREFIREBOEERRES
has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified FEWERF N BEEEEEEZ
approach. BE) o
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2 HATEH 2 HATEH
FEEE FEEE
(BEERE) (EERE) st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2020 R-ZE-ZTH—H—H 298,563 304,694 603,257
Changes relating to trade R-BE-_TF—F—HHE
receivables recognised as at 1 ?% RESEBEREA
January 2020 BE
— Transfer to credit-impaired _$—rﬁ§j:1|:| BRE (9,472) 9,472 -
- Net impairment losses reversal ~— — Z BB E1E/F 58 (252,155) (70,475) (322,630)
New financial assets originated REEEANTTREE
during the year 263,799 - 263,799
Transfer to credit-impaired during ~ Z<4F EE#E = ERIE
the year PE H (34,912) 34,912 -
Exchange adjustments bE AR 16,687 18,637 35,324
At 31 December 2020 PN -E-FF
+ H +—H 282,510 297,240 579,750
Changes relating to trade RZT-—F—H—HHA
receivables recognised as at 1 EHERE SRR AR
January 2021 RS
— Transfer to credit-impaired —EESEERE (15,596) 15,596 -
— Net impairment losses reversal ~— —#EIE(EE 18 /F5 (113,220) (265,376) (378,596)
New financial assets originated REEEENTSREE
during the year 442,405 - 442,405
Transfer to credit-impaired during ~ ZNE[EEE = {ZERIE
the year (2,593) 2,593 -
Exchange adjustments B 3 2L 13,127 4,909 18,036
At 31 December 2021 R4
+-HA=+—H 606,633 54,962 661,595

The reversal of lifetime ECL for trade receivables that are
credit-impaired is mainly due to the subsequent settlement
in full of trade debtors with a gross carrying amount of
HK$265,376,000 (2020: HK$70,475,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

Bills receivables

In determining the ECL for bills receivables, the Directors have
considered the bills received by the Group with a maturity
period of less than one year are assessed on 12m ECL by
reference to the external credit rating of relevant banks,
and concluded that the credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding bills receivables is insignificant as at 31 December
2021 and 2020.

Other receivables

In determining the ECL for other receivables, the Directors
have made periodic collective assessment as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables, based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and
also forward-looking information, as appropriate. For the
year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group has
considered the consistently low historical default rate of other
receivables in connection with payments, and concluded
the ECL of the Group’s outstanding other receivables is
insignificant.

Debt instruments at FVTOC/

The Group only invests in debt securities issued by investment
counterparties with high quality. The Directors focus on the
investments’ credit ratings changes. The Directors assess
ECL on the debt instruments at FVTOCI based on the default
rates published by major international credit rating agencies
that are applicable to the respective debts instruments credit
grades. As a result of this assessment, the Directors are of the
opinion that the ECL on these debt instruments at FVTOCI is
insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries

For amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, in order to minimise
the credit risk, Directors continuously monitor the settlement
status and the level of exposure to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In the opinion of
the Directors, the probability of default is negligible as these
fellow subsidiaries either have the financial capacity to meet
its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term or is
financially supported by the ultimate holding company, and
concluded that the credit risk is insignificant. Accordingly, the
ECL on amounts due from fellow subsidiaries is insignificant.

Bank balances

The Directors considers the bank balances that are deposited
with the financial institutions with good credit rating to be low
credit risk financial assets. The management considers the
bank balances are short-term in nature and the probability of
default is negligible on the basis of high-credit-rating issuers,
and accordingly, ECL was considered as insignificant.

Financial guarantee contracts

For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount that
the Group has guaranteed under the respective contracts
was HK$215,100,000 (2020: HK$153,374,000) as at 31
December 2021. At the end of the reporting period, the
Directors have performed impairment assessment, and
concluded that there has been no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition of the financial guarantee
contracts. Accordingly, the loss allowance for financial
guarantee contracts issued by the Group is measured at
an amount equal to 12m ECL. The management considers
the probability of default is low and accordingly, ECL was
considered as insignificant. Details of the financial guarantee
contracts are set out in Note 36.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The Directors monitor the utilisation of bank borrowings
and ensures compliance with loan covenants during the year.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source
of liquidity. At 31 December 2021, the Group has available
unutilised bank borrowing facilities of HK$6,818,749,000
(2020: HK$7,738,049,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank loans
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the banks
choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at the
end of the reporting period.
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBmRMETE
33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued) 33. €I A
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b) HXEREEEERKE
policies (continued) (%8)
Liquidity risk (continued) REESRAR(E)
Liquidity and interest risk tables TEENE 2 ]G R K & e 7
Over Over Over
Weighted 3 months 1year 2years
average  Ondemand but not but not but not Total
effective orlessthan  morethan  morethan  more than Over undiscounted  Carrying
interestrate 3 months 1 year 2years 5years Syears  cash flows amount
METHE  BEXS Z@EANE -ENE REME RBRES
EBfiz @Rk BTEB-F BTEERE ETERRE  EENL  GiEAE K
%  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS$'000
TR T T TERL TR T T
At 31 December 2021 RZE--%t-f=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabilties 3£+ 4RE(RE
Trade and other payables AREMERE - 1,250,166 - - - - 1250166 1,250,166
Bils payables ENEE - 602,496 - - - - 602,496 602,496
Dividends payeble A - 936000 - - - - 0%000 936000
Amounts due tofelow subsidaries R FZIBARSE -4 - - - - h 47,581
Bank borrowings S
- fixed rate -Eg 330 - 125,449 - - - 125449 122419
- variable rate -8 1.34 - 1709518 205,404 734,148 - 2649070 2,592,483
Lease liabiltes HERE 444 142 49 28 543 1,203 2558 2193
2,836,385 1,835,409 205,632 734,691 1,203 5613320  5553,338
Financial quaranteg contracts AERAN - 25100 - - - - 5000 215100
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

EEHEEBERERBRLF

33. £ I Hu

Financial risk management objectives and b) HXEREEEERKE
policies (continued) (%8)
Liquidity risk (continued) REESRR(E)
Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued) TRENE D IR E R ()
Qver QOver QOver
Weighted 3 months Tyear 2 years
average  On demand but not but not but not Total
effectie  orlessthen  morethan  morethan  more than Over  undiscounted Camjing
interestrate 3 months 1 year 2 years 5years Syears  cash flows amount
mERy gENE ZEANE -EIE BENME FiERS
EAHE  OREA ETEE-F BTEARE ETEERE  RENE  iEEE EEE
% HK$000  HKS000 HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000 HKS 000
Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn
At 31 December 2020 RZE-5E+-F=1-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities 3£+ 4RERE
Trade and other payables SR RAERER - 1421278 - - - - 148 1421276
Bils payables ENZE - 347,631 - - - - 347,631 347,631
Dividends payable ERRA - 6240000 - - - - 6240000 6,240,000
Amounts due tofelow subsidaries R FZIHBAREE - R - - - - R e
Bank borrowings St
- variable rate -8 12 231,491 698,797 236,575 - - 1166863 1,153,846
Lease abies HEQE 437 138 40 212 n 1,198 2,750 2304
8,088,118 699,07 236,787 mn 1198 926102 9212659
Financial quarantee contracts BB ERAL - 15331 - - - - 163,374 163,374
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, there are no bank RZEZ—FRZEZFF+Z
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause. A=+—0 \BAERZKEEK
REVERTTIE R ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform

As listed in Note 28, several of the Group’s HIBOR bank
loans may be subject to the interest rate benchmark reform.
The Group is closely monitoring the market and managing
the transition to new benchmark interest rates, including
announcements made by the relevant Interbank Offered Rate
regulators.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
(“HONIA”) has been identified as an alternative to HIBOR,
there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate
approach has been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby HIBOR
and HONIA will co-exist.

Progress towards implementation of alternative benchmark
interest rates

As part of the Group’s risk management for transition, new
contracts entered into by the Group are linked to the relevant
alternative benchmark rates or interest rates which are not
subject to reform to the extent feasible. Otherwise, the Group
ensured the relevant contracts include detailed fallback
clauses clearly referencing the alternative benchmark rate and
the specific triggering event on which the clause is activated.

In addition, for a floating rate loan that is linked to HIBOR, the
Group had confirmed with the relevant counterparty HIBOR
will continue to maturity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
Fair value of the group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following table
gives information about how the fair values of these financial
assets are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques
and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy
into which the fair value measurements are categorised (Levels
1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements is observable.

Fair value

Financial assets Fair value as at 31 December hierarchy

tREE RT=R=1-BNATE
2021 2020

“E--E —Z°%
HK$'000 HK$ 000
TR TEn

AYERRRA

(i) Listed securtties classified as 865487 1
equity instruments at FVTPL
0 ARRERLVEFABR

m%mIEZimﬁ%

1,619,523

(i) Listed bond securtties classified as 759971 2

debt instruments at FVTOCI

115,064

AERERTEALLEE

YanBRIA? FhEREs

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 during the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of other
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost approximate to their fair values.

EEHEEBERERBRLF

$RTH -

(c)

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

hERHREEBALE

Quoted bid prices in active
market.

WEBMAMERLEAR -

Quoted prices over-the-
counter markes.

BITEHE .

Significant
unobservable inputs

EXFURREALE

=

The lack of marketability

BTSRRI EER

ERTANQIVESE
REKEUHEERAVEFEZ
TEETRHEEZQATE
REERIETRMEENSTREH
BEREBRAFERE - TK
Fa &R S AR A B e F2 5 2 Al
BEZAVTE(CEEMRAMGE
R RBmABIR) - ARARF
B EBABBZTEREREERS
EMHNHEAEAAEDZA
FHERBER(E—E2F=M)

Relationship of
unobservable
inputs to fair value
TURZEAE
HAVENRE

NA NA

el AR

The higher the lack of
marketabilty discount,
the lower the fair value
ﬁ‘)&zm b it dii 23
4% DTERE

discount

REE i&_v_gﬁ
+_Hf+ HIEFER -
%&Eﬂ%%:;&:z%hﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%%°

AREBEEEHEERAVEHE
ZEREERHEEREBEZAF
&

BEX2R R HMIRBIHRATR

miﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂEEM$ﬁﬁ
EENFEEE
B —FFR



KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRARMIEE

34. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

34. ERR HMALE

2021 2020
—E-—F TECTE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Capital expenditure contracted for but not 2 5] 4B R Rir A BT iRREL G
provided in the consolidated financial ZERRL ¢
statements for:
- acquisition of property, plant and —EBEYE - BER&E
equipment 78,901 53,359
Other expenditure contracted for but not B 5] #MB R RERE BT S RhER (B L BiE
provided in the consolidated financial ZHAMRY
statements for:
- acquisition and other expenditures —BRAFEEME L WE
relating to properties held for N EALR
development 275,673 345,868
354,574 399,227
35. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 35. &K&HE <% HE
2021 2020
—E-— TECTE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAxT
The Group as lessor: AEEERHEA :
Rental income credited to the consolidated RERF AGZEIEBRER ZHES WA
statement of profit or loss during the year 70,838 65,789

AEBZREMEORIAFTEEZER
MeBTE=)  ESsEATLF -

The Group’s investment properties are rented to third parties for
periods up to 17 years at fixed predetermined amounts.
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EEHEEBERERBRLF

FEMBHwRRMEE
35. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 35. ®&HEZHw
(continued)
Lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: FAAEMEIKAESHRET -
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHIT
Within one year —F R 56,616 48,542
In the second year RE_F 49,073 42,088
In the third year RE=4F 41,054 40,123
In the fourth year REE 16,152 39,541
In the fifth year RERF 3,352 14,205
After five years hFE 54 2,400
166,301 186,899
36. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES 36. TRIEREHN

CONTRACTS

The Group provided guarantees with maximum exposure amounting
to HK$215,100,000 (2020: HK$153,374,000) as at 31 December
2021 in respect of bank mortgage loans granted to purchasers of
the Group’s properties. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values
of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant
at initial recognition and the Directors consider that the possibility of
default of the parties involved is remote, accordingly, no value has
been recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts and at
the end of the reporting period as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

Guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured by
the purchasers of the Group’s properties. Such guarantees will be
released by banks upon delivery of the properties to the purchasers
and completion of the registration of the relevant mortgaged
properties.

R_ZB-—F+-A=+—0 ' £&E
HETFAEEMEEROBTIZIBER
RE&ESERER4215,100,0007 7T
(ZZ =4 : 153,374,00087L) ° &
RE - REEREWBRERELHA
FERGERBETTELR  BEER
ALEEFEHNESHE - Bt - ®
ZE I FRIEZTEFF A=A
B RERE QIR R REHRAR
& B EEREE -

BERDAAKEMEBERAEERMEE
HFRTT - RFRFRERAERZIAY
ERERABRBMET LR ARITE
B o
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37.

B RS AR M

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On 3 August 2011, Annuity & Re Life Ltd (the “Petitioner”), the non-
controlling shareholder of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited
(“KBCF”), presented a petition in the Supreme Court of Bermuda
(the “Petition”) in respect of KBCF against its controlling shareholders
based on a complaint that the affairs of KBCF had been and/or
were being conducted in a manner which was oppressive or unfairly
prejudicial to the Petitioner.

The controlling shareholders of KBCF were eventually successful in
defending the case following a favourable judgement by the Bermuda
Court of Appeal dated 24 March 2017. Subsequently, the Petitioner
filed an appeal with the Privy Council. Such appeal was withdrawn
by the Petitioner following a settlement agreement reached by the
Petitioner and the respondents in the Petition.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the controlling
shareholders of KBCF had purchased all of the remaining issued and
outstanding ordinary shares in the capital of KBCF and KBCF has
become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

On 22 October 2018, the Petitioner commenced an action in the
Supreme Court of Bermuda under Civil Jurisdiction 2018: No.359
against the respondents in the Petition based on purported breach of
the settlement agreement (the “Settlement Action”).

On 22 October 2020, the Group filed in an application for striking out
part of the Petitioner’s claim under the Settlement Action (the “Strike-
Out Application”). The Strike Out Application was unsuccessful and
the substantive proceedings in the Settlement Action are continuing.

The trial of the Settlement Action is estimated to take place over 5
days sometime in quarter three or quarter four 2022 at the earliest.

Based on the advice of the Company’s Bermuda Counsel to date, the
management is of the opinion that the Settlement Action appears to
be intrinsically defective and that the Company should have a more
than reasonable chance to succeed. Accordingly, no provision for
liability has been made in connection with this claim.
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37.

HREE

W-Z——FENA=H EEEE
EARAR([ZEBERE]) IEEBRAE
Annuity & Re Life Ltd([ 258 A DRIE—
B IAE RO AR E#ITN A
N BRERTA B THN 23 AN
FoEEEREERERANERES

RERBERZ2FE([27E])

BEEERRREER T —EF=
AZTHOBREBRRELFERBETHHN
BORM AR TR - 2FARREA
BEmbiet L3 - BEBARZFNE
RENERMBEGHER  2FARDERE
e

BE-F-AFT-A=+—HILF
¥ RIS R B R
BT A TR BT RETE
R MREEERAAEEANB

NCI

R-ZE—NE+A-+=-8  2FAR
BREBRAEEFE2018 « 35958
HEFNERARNBRER S ERIR
RS - RORE R MR 2 ([ FIERER

) e

RZB-TE+A-+=-0  ~EEIRE
RE B2 EARBMERAIR LA
B BRR(TEEREL - BEHAFRE
B - FE SRR AR M BB IR 1)
TEfefE o
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38.

B RS AR M

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which was registered under the Occupational Retirement Schemes
Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme which was established under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance in December 2000 (the “MPF Scheme”). The
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group
and are invested in funds under the control of independent trustees.
Employees who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to the
establishment of the MPF Scheme are members of both the ORSO
Scheme and the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees joining
the Group on or after December 2000 are required to join the MPF
Scheme. The ORSO Scheme was funded by monthly contributions
from both employees and the Group at 10% of an employee’s
salary. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000 (2020: HK$30,000).

Employees of subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-
sponsored pension schemes operated by the PRC government.
The subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payrolls to the pension schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the pension schemes is to
make the required contributions.

Payments to the ORSO Scheme, the MPF Scheme and the
state-sponsored pension schemes of HK$30,175,000 (2020:
HK$28,728,000) had been charged to profit or loss. As at
31 December 2021, contributions of HK$2,480,000 (2020:
HK$2,611,000) due in respect of the reporting period had not been
paid over to the plans. The amounts were paid subsequently to the
end of the reporting period. There is no forfeited contributions that
may be used to reduce the existing level of contributions under the
Group’s MPF Scheme and state-sponsored pension schemes.

38.

EEEERERERQT

RIKEREE

AEE RN —IEIRER S RIRE
165)5E M 2 e BB BT 8 ([ B 3R KT
2l MRS AR EAN =T
TE+Z AR zaHIEATE ST E
([eaFESETE]) - RSB EERAK
SECEESHEE  WIRERBBL
A2 ES - MR BESHE
ZRIB2NBERKAZIZIES R
BARERKE RAEESE 2K
8 MAMERZZZZTF+_Azz’
MAKXE@EZ FEB VAL MATESET
gl-BERALEEHZBREEF S
10% & A BB R IRET BIEH R - 1R
BaEess  BEERERESAHER
EEMBURAS%MEELHR - &
AR A LR A30,0008 (==
T4F : 30,000587T) °

FEMBARZEEATEBMFEEZ
BRERNTEKE - ZEHMERA]
ARFHEXHZ K AN LR ARKE
g U BERERN - AEBE R
EEITZE—BEERINABHEN -

MR aESHERERE
BhIRIRET 8132 1+ 2 #3049 430,175,000
BT (T T4 : 28,728,000/8 7T )

DEBRETPHGR R —F+ =
B=+—8 Rp&EHREEE 2 H3%
2,480,000/ 7T ( =T = Z4 : 2,611,000
BI) WA FZERTE - ZERER
HEHMERECEIT - EXAEER
M BIRERERAREIT - I
BT QU HIRABRKIR B HFOKE -
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39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 9. MEFRBELEZERGZ
ARISING FROM FINANCING ¥ER
ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from TERANAEEREEDELE AEE
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. 8 BRRSIFRSES - BELD
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash EECZBERBEESREDH « IRKR
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s EREEVAEENGERENERD
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing BRRELBMERSRENAE -
activities.
Dividends
payable to
non-
controlling
Lease Interest Dividend interests
liabilities Borrowings payable payable of subsidiaries Total
ERAMBAR
ZFER
HeafE EE EfHE IR F BRRZRE st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TR TR TiEn FhR FhR TR
At 1 January 2020 RZZZ2F-F-H 1,450 2,945,264 2,646 - - 2,949,360
Financing cash flows BERSNE (606) (1,791,418) (87,457 (2,156,700) - (4,036,181)
New leases entered HAHE 1,311 - - - - 1,311
Interest expense capitalised AL FISFEY - - 8,232 - - 8,232
Interest expense recognised in A B KFEAL
the consolidated statement  F| 855
of profit or loss 55 - 76,579 - - 76,634
Dividends declared EEREKE - - - 8,396,700 - 8,396,700
Exchange adjustments PEH AR 114 - - - _ 114
At 31 December 2020 —E-%F
ﬂ‘_ﬂ_ﬂ‘ A 2,324 1,153,846 - 6,240,000 - 7,396,170
Financing cash flows HEREE (651) 1,561,056 (94,619 (7,800,000) (1,355)  (6,335,569)
New leases entered Mg 370 - - - - 370
Interest expense capitalised in & TI2EVE AL F| 85X
the construction in progress - - 14,049 - - 14,049
Interest expense recognised in FARA B R HEAH)
the consolidated statement  F| 8 H%
of profit or loss 95 - 80,570 - - 80,665
Dividends declared BERRE = = = 2,496,000 = 2,496,000
Dividends declared to EANBAG FE R
non-controling interests RRERZBE
of subsidiaries - - - - 1,355 1,355
Exchange adjustments [ 5 AR 55 - - - - 55
At 31 December 2021 WZEZ—F
+-A=t-H 2,193 2,714,902 - 936,000 - 3,653,095
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A I IRARMIEE

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40.

The Group entered into the following significant transactions with
related parties during the year:

EEHEEBERERBRLF

BEALRS

AEBEEATEFRNETIEAR
ST

2021 2020
—E-—F TECTE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
() Sales of goods provided to () MRARKBARHEEER
fellow subsidiaries 4,856,648 2,703,185
(i) Purchases of goods from fellow (i) MR REMBARREER
subsidiaries 1,072,241 647,199
(i) Sales of laminates and copper foil to a (i) [AHEIER AT AERFE S
shareholder with significant influence RIRR SR $H & B IR R M ERSE
over the ultimate holding company 600,440 315,451
(iv) Purchases of machineries from a (v) ML AT AERTES
shareholder with significant influence RORL R ERBE 123
over the ultimate holding company 535,763 213,809

The transactions above constituted continuing connected transactions
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of the Directors and other members of key
management during the year is as follows:

RIE EWRANE1ATE - LT HEK
RRARHFFERER S -

FEEEASHS
R EEREMEIEEEARS e
T

2021 2020

—E-—F TECTHE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHERT FHT

Short-term employee benefits 164,097 94,072
Post-employment benefits 879 903
164,976 94,975

The remuneration of the Directors and key executives is determined
with reference to the performance of individuals and market trends.

EERIBTRABZHEEZEES!
BTRBENTGBLRET -
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41.

B RS AR M

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2021

and 2020 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

WEARERE

Excel First Investments Limited

EEREBRAF

KBCF
BEESE

Hong Kong Copper Foil Limited
EBEBRAR

Kingboard (Fogang) Insulated
Material Company Limited

B () BEMBARDR

Kingboard (Fogang) Laminates
Co. Limited
BE (f) BERERAR

Kingboard (Fogang) Paper
Laminates Co. Ltd.
BE (GR) BEARER AR

Kingboard Electronic Raw
Material (Jiang Yin) Co., Ltd.
RERTHH (TR) HRAR

Jiangmen Kingboard Laminates
Co., Ltd.
TP BRERER AR

ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operation
EMR L BT
REXNH

British Virgin Islands*
RERUFS

Bermuda*
BRE

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong
RBRUBE/BE

PRC'
RE

PRC!

e

PRC'
RE

PRC'
RE

PRC'
RE

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered capital
BRTRBERA/
HmEE

US$1
iE

US$72,250,000
72,250,000% 7%

US$47,057,290
47,057,290% 7T

US$6,115,000
6,115,000% T

US$29,466,000

29,466,000 7T

US$17,936,576
17,936,576% 1

US$30,000,000
30,000,000% 7T

HK$242,800,000
242,800,000/ 7T

M. ZRRAETEMEATDZ
=15
RZEZ-—FR_ZFT_FTFE+_A
=+—R  AREFEMBRFZFS
mT -

Proportion of
the ownership
interest held
by the Group Principal activities
AEEHEN
FE#EBS FEER
2021 2020
—E--§ CZEBCER
% %
100 100 Investment holding
REZR
100 100 Investment holding
REZR
100 100 Investment holding and
trading of copper
REZERKIAZES
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of bleached
kraft paper
BUERHIHEH
REEA
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of laminates
SR EEAAR
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of laminates
g R EEAAR
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of laminates
SR EEAAR
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of laminates
SR EEAAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL M. ZRRAETEMEATDZ

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 15 )
(continued)
Place of Issued and Proportion of
incorporation/ fully paid the ownership
registration share capital/ interest held
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital by the Group Principal activities
EMRL BT BRARMERE/ AEEREN
WEARBE REXHH HEMER FERED TEXH
2021 2020
“E--F ZECEf
% %
Kingboard (Jiangsu) Chemical PRC US$32,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Co., Ltd. g 32,000,000% 7T distribution of chemicals
BB OI#) (L TRR AR SERAHEIER
Kingboard Laminates (Kunshan) PRC US$32,010,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Co., Ltd. g 32,010,000 7T distribution of laminates
BERER (BIL) BRAR SER D HERER
Kingboard (Guangdong) Electronic ~ PRC US$13,700,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Special Materials Co., Ltd. g 13,700,000 T distribution of glass fabric
BE (ER) EFERMKHERAR SUER D HRRH ST
Kingboard (Guangzhou) Advanced ~ PRC RMB250,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Material Company Limited FE AR #250,000,0007T distribution of chemicals
BB (BM) 2 HERAE SERAHEIER
Kingboard (Jiang Yin) Composite PRC US$85,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Material Co., Ltd. B 85,000,000 7T distribution of laminates
BE(IR) EatHAERRE SER D HERER
JiangMen Kingboard Electronics PRC! US$26,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Development Company Limited R 26,000,000 7T distribution of laminates
IFREEFERERAR SER D HERER
Kingboard (Qingyuan) Electronic PRC US$25,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Materials Co., Ltd. R 25,000,000 7T distribution of glass fabric
BE(FR) BFHHARRE SUER D HRR S
Qing Yuan Kai Rong De Electronic ~ PRC RMB130,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Special Materials Co., Ltd. R AR #130,000,0007T distribution of glass fabric
BRIEEETERMHNARRT SUER D HRR ST

B —FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL M. ZRTNEERBLARZ
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 1B ()
(continued)
Place of Issued and Proportion of
incorporation/ fully paid the ownership
registration share capital/ interest held
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital by the Group Principal activities
SR BT BRTRBERA/ AEEREN
WEARAE REXNH HEMER RS TEEH
2021 2020
“E--F ZECEf
% %
Qing Yuan Chung Shun Century PRC! US$72,319,600 100 100 Manufacture and
Electronic Materials Co., Ltd. R 72,319,600% 70 distribution of glass yamn
BERAGHLEETHHARAS SUER D HRR S
Chung Shun Century Electronic PRC RMB50,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Material (Shixing) Co., Ltd. F AR#50,000,0007T distribution of laminates
BEELETIE (BE) ERAF SER D HERER
Kingboard Laminates (ShaoGuan) ~ PRC HK$7,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Co., Ltd. R 7,000,000 7T distribution of laminates
BEREREBHERAR SER D HERER
Guangzhou Chung Shun Century PRC! US$44,595,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Electronic Materials Manufacturing Bl 44,595,000 7T distribution of glass yamn
Co., Ltd. SER D ERIREIA
BINBEELESFHREE
BRAT
# These are investment holding companies which have no specific principal # WEREER AR UWESEZEE
place of operations. LR B o
1 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of wholly 1 WERBTIINEBE D EF NTERE
foreign-owned enterprises. The English names of these companies are for B3 o ZE R RIM R B BE MR

identification purpose only.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the ERMINAESRATEVEARERZE
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets of BREEZANTRBA T BEERA
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion HHEAMM B AT FIEE RN TR

of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of A B AR L BT E
the year. K o
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A I IRARMIEE

EHEERERBRLAA

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL M. ZATATEMBATZ
KXY
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 18 )
(continued)
General information of principal subsidiaries TEMBATZ—RER
At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other principal RNEEEERRE - AR FFEHAER
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority of these M TEEANHEMTIBHMBAT © 3%
subsidiaries operate in the PRC. The principal activities of these SMB R BRI EE o 25
subsidiaries are summarised as follows: BARZEEHEBHMNAT
Principal place Number of subsidiaries
Principal activities FEEK of business FTEEEMB HEAREE
2021 2020
—E-—F ZIZI-THF
Manufacture and sale of SEERSHEEEIR PRC s 29 28
laminates Thailand EE] 1 1
Macau JEBPY 1 1
31 30
Properties LES Hong Kong ak 2 2
PRC i 8 8
United Kingdom [ 1 1
11 11
Others Efth Hong Kong BB 37 37
PRC i 6 6
43 43

B —FFR
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

42. KR\ 2 B ik B Ak
E 6

2021 2020
—E-—F TECTE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Non-current assets SEREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—ENB AR ZZE 5,900,751 5,711,740
Equity instruments at FVTPL BAFEFABENER TR 313,071 33,216
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUHI B A BIFIE 495,488 320,296
6,709,310 6,065,252
Current assets MENEE
Other receivables and prepayments E R BR FAAST 5B 44,136 15,664
Equity instruments at FVTPL BAFEFABENER TR 713 113,330
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU I A BI5RIE 18,031,803 20,220,600
Bank balances and cash IRITEHB MRS 32,859 761,596
18,109,511 21,111,190
Current liabilities nEBE
Other payables E e 5118 136,351 128,564
Dividends payable FEAST BRI 936,000 6,240,000
Amounts due to subsidiaries ERTHE AR FIE 12,557,330 10,202,022
Bank borrowings — amount due RITEBE——FRBZFIE
within one year 1,564,103 923,077
15,193,784 17,488,663
Net current assets MEEEFE 2,915,727 3,622,527
Total assets less current liabilities BEREBERRDAERE 9,625,037 9,687,779
Non-current liabilities EmBAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERIHT B A R FIA 1,021,341 891,676
Bank borrowings — amount due BITIEE ——FR 2 FE
after one year - 230,769
1,021,341 1,122,445
Net assets BEFE 8,603,696 8,565,334
Capital and reserves AR A R
Share capital [N 312,000 312,000
Reserves (Note) fik s (5D 8,291,696 8,253,334
Total equity EARLBRE 8,603,696 8,565,334
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A I IRARMIEE

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 42, &xRQA T Z B4R B
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY R EE)

(continued)

Note: s :
Share-based
Share Translation payments Special Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
BDEE EXREE ROMANTGRE BhlRE REEH &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FhL FhL FEL FEL FEL FHL
(Note a)
(Mizta)
At 1 January 2020 RZZ-%5-F—H 1,711,849 - 96,609 5,427,130 391,492 7,627,080
Profit for the year and total comprehensive ~ AEERFIRAEE2ERALE
income for the year - - - - 8,699,644 8,699,644
Issue of new shares from exercise of share  E{TEERIEMZ TR
options 419,919 - (96,609) - - 323,310
Final dividend paid for the year ended 31~ EfEIL=F-NFT=A
December 2019 =t—-HzRERE - - - - (924,300) 924,300)
Special final dividend paid for the year ended EfE F=F—-NE+=A
31 December 2019 SH-RZERFERS - - - - 1,232,400) (1,232,400)
Interim dividend payable for the year ended ~ EfHZ-Z-FF+=A
31 December 2020 =t- E ﬁr ZRERS - - - - (312,000) (312,000)
Special interim dividend payable for the year EfEHZ-T-TF+=A
ended 31 December 2020 =+-BIEFRZERTERE - - - - (5,928,000) (6,928,000)
419919 - (96,609) - (8,396,700) (8,073,390)
At 31 December 2020 2,131,768 - - 5,427,130 694,436 8,263,334
Profit for the year and total comprehensive SFIRAFE %EW\.
income for the year - - - - 2,345,351 2,345,351
Exchange difference arising on translation B EZ2HEUMEL
to presentation currency JERES - 189,011 - - - 189,011
Total comprehensive income for the year KEEREWEEE - 189,011 - - 2,345,351 2,534,362
Final dividend paid for the year ended
31 December 2020 S+omzRERE - - - - (1,092,000) (1,092,000)
Special final dividend paid for the year ended 2 & IF =B -FF+- A
31 December 2020 SH-RZERFERS - - - - (468,000) (468,000)
Interim dividend payable for the year ended ~ EffHZ-T-—F+=A
31 December 2021 =+-HIEEE 7R RS - - - - (936,000) (936,000)
- 189,011 - - (150,649) 38,362
At 31 December 2021 R-E--F+-A=1+-H 2,131,768 189,011 - 5,427,130 543,787 8,291,696
Note a: Special reserve of the Company represent the differences between the Mitka : ARRZERIFBERKENRBARZ
net asset value of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of the BEFEER TS FETEESE
Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the Group’s FAKEBMEBEITZARRRGEERE
reorganisation in 2006. 2B ZEEE o



KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES

The following table sets out the Group's material properties held for

investment:

Location

1o

88 to 93 Fenchurch Street, 5 and
7 Carlisle Avenue and Part of
Saracens Head Yard, London,
EC3M 4ST, United Kingdom

Building 14, Kingboard Yueking
Garden, Kunshan Development District,
Kunshan, Jiangsu Province, the PRC*
RIS RILTHERRBRRE14552

No. 130 Lingang Xinchengpu Road,
No. 220 Lingang Xinchengjin Road,
Shops of Jiangyin Kingboard Garden Phase |
at No. 225 Lingang Xincheng Zhujiang Road,
Jiangyin, Jiangsu Province, the PRC*

RENI#E TRRMEREF IR 1305 - e E
TR BT

822057 » FRBRTIRIT B82265% -
B —Hs

Unit Nos.2301-2303, 26F, 27F, and Car
Parking Space No. 9, 10 on 2nd Floor,
Overseas Trust Bank Building,
No. 160 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong

BB ETITE1605/8IMEFERITAE2301-2303
= 2612 - 27 R2IEEIRI0RKENL

Vanka Plaza, Level 2 of South Tower
No. 17-25 Shui Cheng Nan Road
Changning District,
Shanghai, the PRC*

FE DETRERKREE17-25 RERES
FRE2

Commercial shops
No. 8 Beijiang 1st Road
Qingyuan City, the PRC*
R BRI T —#58 4

Existing use

REAR

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[GES

Tenure

HH

Freehold
KAERE

Medium term lease

TR

Medium term lease

TR

Medium term lease

TR

Medium term lease

TR

Medium term lease

TR

Gross floor
area (m?)
BEEEE
(EAK)

8,000

13,000

11,000

1,800

1,300

11,442

AEEEZHEREMEIINTE

Group’s interest

rEESERER
2021 2020
—E--F CZZCEF
% %
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
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INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES

The following table sets out the Group’s material properties held for
development:

Expected use

Location BIEEEE
b B astAR
Huagiao Kingboard Garden Phase V, Guixi Road, Residential

Huagiao District, Kunshan, Jiangsu Province, the PRC* *=
FR BT #5 8 B LU TIERB AR PU RS 2 A4S 2 B M T B L R

EEEERERERQT

AEEET2HERRMEIINTE

Gross floor
area (m?)
AREEE
(FFHXK)

180,000

Group’s interest

rEBEEER
2021 2020
—E-—F —EZTF
100% 100%

*  Denotes English translation of Chinese addresses in the PRC for identification purposes
only

* REMEZISUELAEER HREEIRR

e

FER



KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBME

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HEZ =T = —F+-A=+—HILFE

RESULTS ¥EiE

Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=t—HILEE
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
—2—tF —E-\F EB-EF ZT-TF ZB=-—-F
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000

FET FHET FAT FAET FH&xT
(Restated)
(g&&Eq)
Revenue S 18,337,952 20,645,776 18,383,952 17,301,186 28,799,810
Profit before taxation MR TR AT A 4,642,579 4,475,835 3,317,220 3,662,665 8,386,915
Income tax expense FriSHifsE (870,328)  (1,217,844) (908,490) (854,685)  (1,603,436)
Profit for the year IR [ m A 3,772,251 3,257,991 2,408,730 2,807,980 6,783,479
Attributable to: AR ATEIEDEE
Owners of the Company FiN/NCIESYEUN 3,764,540 3,250,381 2,402,247 2,802,885 6,781,656
Non-controlling interests FEFERRE A 7,711 7,610 6,483 5,095 1,823
3,772,251 3,257,991 2,408,730 2,807,980 6,783,479
b ==
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
At 31 December
R+=A=+—H
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
—T—+F )\ ZT-hF ZZT=F —T_——F
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT FAT FAT FET
Total assets BEBTE 28,551,223 28,721,741 25,803,171 26,375,915 29,821,785
Total liabilities BEEsE (10,564,289) (10,878,739) (7,054,092) (11,987,904) (10,756,661)
Net assets BEFE 17,986,934 17,843,002 18,749,079 14,388,011 19,065,124
Equity attributable to ViN/NEIE= =N
owners of the Company FE(b MR 17,469,959 17,499,572 18,701,422 14,333,065 19,038,483
Non-controlling interests FEE A RE RS 516,975 343,430 47,657 54,946 26,641
Total equity BRGREE 17,986,934 17,843,002 18,749,079 14,388,011 19,065,124
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I<BE5§EE*&?’£H§’EF§’AEI
KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

23/F, Delta House, 3 On Yiu Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, N.T., Hong Kong
BERMALHAMTRE=NEERE_+=&

Tel 5% © (852) 2605 6493  Fax H : (852) 2691 5245

E-mail £ : enquiry@kingboard.com Web site #831t : http://www.kblaminates.com
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